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Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to present the 41st Annual Report of Alliance Air Aviation Limited (AAAL) for the financial 
year 2023-24. As one of India’s leading regional airlines, we are committed to enhancing connectivity 
between Tier 2 and Tier 3 cities, operating under the ‘Alliance Air’ brand.

Alliance Air is a wholly owned entity under AI Assets Holding Limited (AIAHL). Our fleet consists of 21 
aircraft-18 ATR 72-600, 2 ATR 42-600, and 1 Dornier Do-228. During the financial year 2023-24, we 
achieved over 100 daily departures across 56 destinations, reinforcing our role in promoting last-mile 
connectivity.

OVERVIEW-CIVIL AVIATION INDUSTRY

India’s aviation sector continues to thrive, driven by a growing middle class and rising air travel demand. 
In the financial year 2023-24, domestic passenger traffic grew by 12.97%, reaching 153.7 Million, 
while total passenger volume rose to 376 Million, reaffirming India’s position as the world’s third-largest 
aviation market.

Key highlights:

•	 47% growth in domestic air traffic compared to pre-pandemic levels (DGCA).

•	 Expansion of Tier 2 & Tier 3 connectivity, driven by increased demand and government support.

•	 ATF prices remained a concern, constituting nearly 40% of operating costs, with airlines 
demanding inclusion under GST.

CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE
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•	 Entry of new regional carriers and expansion of existing players helped widen access to 
underserved markets.

AIR TRAVEL GROWTH AND FUTURE PROSPECTS

The sector’s growth continues, with total passenger handling capacity increasing from 460 Million to 
over 530 Million. We anticipate massive transformations in Indian aviation due to strong economic 
growth, favourable demographics, and infrastructure investment.

PERFORMANCE OF THE COMPANY DURING THE YEAR

The Company registered a net loss (EBIT) of Rs. 246.43 Crore during the financial year 2023-24 as 
compared to a net loss of Rs. 73.50 Crore in the financial year 2022-23 The Net Loss after tax of the 
Company during the financial year was Rs. 619.56 Crore as compared to the Net Loss after tax of Rs. 
565.77 Crore in the financial year 2022-23. 

REGIONAL CONNECTIVITY SCHEME (RCS) AND NEW VGF ROUTES

The Regional Connectivity Scheme (RCS-UDAN) continues to play a transformative role in improving 
air services to India’s underserved and remote regions. In the financial year 2023–24, the scheme 
reached significant milestones with the operationalization of over 1,000 UDAN routes, increased 
passenger uptake on regional sectors, and the development of more than 100 unserved and 
underserved airports—bringing air travel closer to the common citizen.

Alliance Air has been a committed partner of the UDAN-RCS mission since its inception. We have 
successfully operated 139 out of the 165 awarded routes, reaffirming our leadership in regional 
aviation. In the financial year 2023-24 alone, we launched new RCS sectors such as Amritsar-Kullu-
Amritsar, Delhi-Bathinda-Delhi, Bengaluru-Salem-Bengaluru, Salem-Kochi-Salem, and Amritsar-
Shimla-Amritsar. As India’s first UDAN launch carrier (Shimla–Delhi, 27th April 2017), we remain deeply 
engaged in strengthening last-mile connectivity especially in geographically difficult and strategically 
important areas like the North-East.

Further, under the Viability Gap Funding (VGF) support extended by the State Governments of 
Chhattisgarh and Uttarakhand, Alliance Air commenced flights on routes suggested by these State 
Government’s. The suggested routes not only bridge distances but also bring essential connectivity to 
regions with limited access.

We remain committed to aggressively participating in future rounds of UDAN bidding to expand our 
regional reach.

AWARDS

Alliance Air won Wings India 2024 Award for best airline under Regional Connectivity.

FUTURE PLANS

Moving forward, we aim to further expand our fleet and RCS routes in the financial year 2024-25. Our 
focus will include growing services in the challenging north eastern region and exploring both domestic 
and international opportunities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Alliance Air Aviation Limited was in compliance with the guidelines on Corporate Governance issued 
by the Department of Public Enterprises (DPE), wherever applicable during the year. The quarterly 
returns/annual returns on Corporate Governance were filed with the authorities concerned within the 
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stipulated time. The Company, based on self-evaluation, falls under ‘Excellent’ grade for the compliance 
of DPE Corporate Governace Guidelines for the financial year 2023-2024. 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I extend my sincere gratitude to the Ministry of Civil Aviation, for their constant support and guidance. I 
also express my heartfelt thanks to DGCA, BCAS, AAI and other Airport Operators, Financial Partners, 
and Regulatory Authorities for their steadfast support. I also thank my fellow Board members for their 
guidance. My gratitude and deep appreciation to our employees for their dedication and hard work 
without whom we would not have achieved what we have so far.

On behalf of the Board, I thank you for your continued trust and support as we chart the course toward 
a stronger, more connected Alliance Air.

Sd/-
Amit Kumar

Chairman
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Dear Members,

The Directors of your Company present the 41st (Forty First) Annual Report together with Audited 
Financial Statements, Auditor’s Report and Comments of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India 
for the financial year ended 31st March, 2024.

1.	 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE COMPANY

	 The financial performance for the financial year 2023-24 under review vis-a-vis the previous year 
was as under:

(Rs. in Crore)
Particulars  2023-24 2022-23
Operating Revenue
Schedule Revenue 603.77 654.14
Non-Schedule Revenue 333.16 375.91
Other Operating Revenue 17.84 68.37
Other Income 7.79 6.54
Total Revenue 962.55 1,104.96
Total Expenses 1583.57 1,671.53
Tax Expense - -
Other Comprehensive Income 1.46 0.80
Net Profit/(Loss) for the year before tax (621.02) (566.57)
Net Profit/(Loss) for the year after tax & comprehensive 
income

(619.56) (565.77)

Share Capital 1,002.25 402.25

	 The total revenue during the financial year 2023-24 was Rs.962.55 Crore compared to Rs. 
1,104.96 Crore in the financial year 2022-23. The total expenditure during the financial year 
2023-24 was Rs. 1,583.57 Crore compared to Rs. 1,671.53 Crore in the financial year 2022-23. 
The net loss after tax & comprehensive income for the financial year 2023-24 was Rs. 619.56 
Crore as against the net loss of Rs.565.77 Crore in the financial year 2022-23. 

2.	 INFORMATION ON STATE OF AFFAIRS OF THE COMPANY

	 Alliance Air Aviation Limited (AAAL) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of AI Assets Holding Limited 
(AIAHL). The Company is in the business of air transportation which includes mainly passenger 
and cargo services and other related services in India. 

	 For more detailed information on State of Affairs of the Company, please refer Management 
Discussion and Analysis Report forming part of the report.

3.	 SHARE CAPITAL

	 Authorized Share Capital

	 As on 31st March, 2024, the Authorized Share Capital of the Company was Rs.2,000 Crore divided 
into Twenty Crore Equity Shares of Rs.100 each.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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	 Issued, Subscribed and Paid up Share Capital

	 As on 31st March, 2024, the Issued, Subscribed and Paid-Up Share capital of the Company was 
Rs.1,002.25 Crore divided into Ten Crore Two Lakh Twenty Five Thousand Equity Shares of 
Rs.100 each.

4.	 CHANGES IN THE SHARE CAPITAL, IF ANY

	 The Ministry of Finance, Department of Expenditure vide its OM No.27(01)/PFC-I/2023 dated 
20th April, 2023 had conveyed the approval for financial support of Rs. 600 Crore (in two equal 
installments of Rs. 300 Crore) to Alliance Air Aviation Limited in the form of equity infusion to 
the Holding Company, AI Assets Holding Limited for onward investment in Alliance Air Aviation 
Limited subject to the certain conditions as stipulated in the aforesaid OM.

	 During the financial year 2023-24, the Company has issued & allotted 6,00,00,000 (Six Crore) 
Equity Shares of Rs.100/-each aggregating to 600,00,00,000 (Six Hundred Crore to AI Assets 
Holding Limited on rights basis. The equity shares so allotted rank pari-passu with the existing 
shares of the Company.

	 Details of allotment of equity shares made during the financial year under review on right basis 
to AI Assets Holding Limited, Holding Company is as under:

S. No. Date of allotment No. of equity shares of face 
value Rs. 100 each allotted

Total Consideration

1. 27-06-2023 3,00,00,000 300,00,00,000
2. 17-02-2024 3,00,00,000 300,00,00,000

	 Consequently, the issued, subscribed and paid-up share capital of the Company increased to 
Rs.1002.25 Crore divided into 100,225,000 equity shares of Rs.100/-each as on March 31, 2024.

5.	 DETAILS OF REVISION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OR BOARD’S REPORT 

	 The Company has not revised its Financial Statements or Board’s Report in respect of any of the 
three preceding financial years as mentioned in Section 131(1) of the Companies Act, 2013.

6.	 CHANGE IN NATURE OF BUSINESS

	 During the year, there was no change in the nature of business of the Company.

7.	 DIVIDEND

	 In terms of Section 123 of the Companies Act, 2013, the dividend could not be considered due to 
accumulated losses. 

8.	 TRANSFER OF UNCLAIMED DIVIDEND TO INVESTOR EDUCATION AND PROTECTION 
FUND

	 Since there was no unpaid/unclaimed dividend for the past years, the provision of Section 125 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 did not apply.

9.	 AMOUNTS TRANSFERRED TO RESERVES

	 In view of the accumulated losses, the Board of Directors has decided not to transfer any amount 
to reserves during the year.
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10.	 HUMAN RESOURCES

	 The staff strength of the Company at the end of the financial year was 882 (952) contractual 
employees excluding 4 on deputation from AIESL and 05 employees on deputation from Indian 
Air Force. All the employees of the Company are on the Fixed Term Employment Agreement 
basis. Out of the 882 contractual employees, 260(29.48 %) were female employees. 

	 Category wise, as on 31st March, 2024, there were 131 employees belonging to SC, 55 employees 
belonging to ST and 157 employees belonging to OBC categories.

	 Region wise, as on 31st March, 2024, there were 531 employees from Northern Region, 76 
employees from Western Region, 143 employees from Eastern Region, 131 employees from 
Southern Region and 1 from International Region.

11.	 IMPLEMENTATION OF RESERVATION POLICY

	 The Reservation Policy has been implemented as per the Presidential Directives issued in the 
year 1975 along with the revised Directives effective 1991 and 1996. 

	 SC/ST/OBC– Number of employees as on 31st March, 2024
Total No. of 
employees

Total No. 
of SC 

employees 

% of SC 
employees

Total No. 
of ST 

employees

% of ST 
employees

Total No. 
of OBC 

employees

% of OBC 
employees

882 131 14.85 55 6.24 157 17.80

12.	 IMPLEMENTATION OF OFFICIAL LANGUAGE - USE OF HINDI

	 To fulfill the objectives of the Official Language Policy of the Government, the Company played 
meaningful role in promoting the usage of Hindi at all levels. Officers/ Staff were encouraged to 
work more and more in Hindi. Hindi Pakhwara was conducted, wherein Officers/ Staff participated 
with enthusiasm. Prizes and awards were distributed to winners and participants during the 
function.

13.	 CONTRIBUTION TO EXCHEQUER

	 The Company has contributed Rs. 14.19 Crore (Rs.19.25 Crore) to Government exchequer by 
way of Sales Tax and other levies on Aviation Turbine Fuel.

14.	 COMPLIANCE WITH RTI ACT, 2005 

	 The Company being a Public Sector Enterprise has successfully ensured compliance with the 
provisions of Right to Information Act for providing information to the citizens.

	 The Company has a CPIO (Central Public Information Officer) and Appellate Authority for timely 
disposal of applications and appeals.

	 During the financial year 2023-24, 5 Requests/Appeals were received and all RTI requests/
appeals related to Alliance Air have been disposed off during the financial year 2023-24.

15.	 INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARY/JV/ASSOCIATE COMPANY

	 The Company does not have any Subsidiary, Joint Venture or Associate Company.

16.	 MATERIAL CHANGES AND COMMITMENTS

	 In terms of the provisions of Section 134(3)(l), the following material changes have occurred 
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which have affected the financial position of the Company between 31st March, 2024 and the date 
of Board’s Report:

	 a)	 A fire took place in CAMO office of AAAL on 23rd April 2024 due to short circuit. The premises 
was on lease and temporary structure in form of work station had been inherited from Air 
India. The assets consisting of Computer System were destroyed in fire with book value 
of approx. Rs. 0.07 Million. The necessary accounting for the same will be affected in FY 
2024-25.

	 b)	 Whistleblower Complaint and Pending Investigation: In June 2024, a whistleblower 
complaint was filed with the Chairman regarding certain allegations against the erstwhile 
Chief Financial Officer (CFO). Based on the same allegations, an internal committee was 
constituted vide Office Order No. dated 10.06.2024 to investigate the matter. The committee 
submitted its report to the CEO and subsequently to the Chairman on 15th July 2024.

		  The matter is currently under investigation by the Vigilance Department, and the final report 
is awaited. No conclusions can be drawn until the Vigilance Department submits its findings.

	 c)	 A provision has been created for the potential recovery of the salary paid to the erstwhile 
CFO without Board approval, amounting to Rs. 0.21 Million. 

	 d)	 A provision for potential recovery, amounting to Rs. 4.85 Million has been created under the 
category “Outstanding recoveries” in relation to the alleged payment to M/s Ally wired Soft 
Solutions Private Limited based on forged invoices.

	 Both provisions under clause c) and d) have been classified as other current assets. The event 
qualifies as an  adjusting event  under  IND AS 10  (Events after the Reporting Period). The 
provisions will be adjusted, and appropriate actions will be taken based on the final findings of 
the Vigilance Department’s investigation report.

17.	 MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS REPORT 

	 A detailed Management Discussion and Analysis Report is given separately.

18.	 MEETINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

	 During the financial year 2023-24, the Company held nine meetings (including adjourned & re-
adjourned meetings) of the Board of Directors as per Section 173 of Companies Act, 2013 which 
is summarized below:

Sr. No. Date of Meeting Board Strength No. of Directors Present
1. 14.06.2023 4 4
2. 20.06.2023 4 3
3. 27.06.2023 4 4
4. 23.08.2023 4 4
5. 22.09.2023 4 4
6. 15.01.2024 3 3
7. 12.02.2024 4 3
8. 17.02.2024 4 4
9. 22.03.2024 4 4
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19.	 DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

	 The Board of Directors of the Company confirm: -

	 (a)	 That in the preparation of the Annual Accounts, the applicable Accounting Standards have 
been followed along with proper explanation relating to material departures;

	 (b)	 The Directors have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and 
made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of the Company at the end of the Financial Year and of the profit 
and loss of the Company for that period;

	 (c)	 The Directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets 
of the Company and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;

	 (d)	 The Directors have prepared the Annual Accounts on a going concern basis;

	 (e)	 The Company being unlisted sub clause (e) of section 134(3) is not applicable.

	 (f)	 The Directors have devised proper systems to ensure compliance with the provisions of all 
applicable laws and that such systems are adequate and operating effectively.

20.	 AUDIT COMMITTEE

	 The Audit Committee comprised of 4 Directors. In the absence of Independent Directors on the 
Board of the Company, the Audit Committee is chaired by the Government Director.

	 As on 31st March, 2024, the following were the members of the Audit Committee: 

Name of the Director Position held in the 
Committee

Category of the Director

Shri Pranjol Chandra Chairman Government Nominee Director
Shri Asangba Chuba Ao Member Chairman

(Government Nominee Director)
Shri Brajesh Kumar Srivastava Member Government Nominee Director
Smt. Nayonika Dutta Member Government Nominee Director

	 The Board has accepted the recommendations of the Audit Committee.

21.	 NOMINATION & REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 

	 The constitution of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee under Section 178 of Companies 
Act, 2013 has been exempted for the unlisted wholly-owned subsidiary companies vide notification 
no. GSR 880(E), dated 13-07-2017. Alliance Air Aviation Limited, being an unlisted wholly owned 
subsidiary Company of AI Assets Holding Limited thus got exempted from these provisions. 

22.	 AUDITORS

	 The Comptroller & Auditor General of India (C&AG) has appointed M/s Batliboi & Purohit., 
Chartered Accountants, Delhi as Statutory Auditors of the Company for the FY 2023-24. 
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	 Qualifications or adverse remarks in the Auditors’ Report which require any clarification/ 
explanation along with reply of management thereto are attached herewith in the Report.

	 The Notes on financial statements are self-explanatory and needs no further explanation.

23.	 COMMENTS OF COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL

	 The Comptroller & Auditor General of India (C & AG) in its Supplementary Audit under Section 
143(6) read with Section 129(4) of the Companies Act, 2013, has issued “Nil” comments on 
the Financial Statements for the year ended 31st March, 2024. The comments of Comptroller & 
Auditor General of India (C & AG) form part of this Report.

24.	 SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

	 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013, the Board has appointed 
M/s T. Chatterjee & Associates, Company Secretaries, New Delhi, to conduct Secretarial Audit 
for the financial year 2023-24. 

	 The Secretarial Audit Report for the financial year ended 31st March, 2024 is annexed to this 
Report.

	 Management’s Reply on the observation contained in the Secretarial Audit Report are as 
under:

	 Auditors Observations

	 “Second Proviso of Section 149(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 3 of Companies 
(Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014 in respect of appointment of woman 
director from 01-04-2023 to 11-02-2024. However, w.e.f. 12-02-2024, Ms.Nayonika Dutta was 
appointed on the Board of Directors of the Company.”

	 Management’s Comments

	 This is a statement of fact.

	 As per the provisions of Article 117 of its Articles of Association of the Company, AI Assets Holding 
Limited in consultation with the Government of India shall control the composition of the Board of 
Directors of the Company.

	 There is no woman director appointed on the Board from 01-04-2023 to 11-02-2024. The matter 
was taken up with the Ministry of Civil Aviation through AI Assets Holding Limited.

	 Since, the appointment was awaited during the aforementioned period, therefore, the provisions 
of Section 149 could not be complied with.

25.	 LOANS, GUARANTEES AND INVESTMENTS

	 There were no loans, guarantees or investments made by the Company under Section 186 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 during the year under review and hence the provisions of Section 186 are 
not applicable to the Company.



ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION LIMITED

16

26.	 CONSERVATION OF ENERGY, TECHNOLOGY ABSORPTION, FOREIGN EXCHANGE 
EARNING AND OUTGO

	 The particulars as required under the provisions of Section 134(3) (m) of the Companies Act, 
2013 in respect of conservation of energy and technology absorption are given below:

	 (A)	 Conservation of energy-

		  The management is highly conscious of the criticality of the conservation of energy at all 
operational levels particularly of aviation turbine fuel which is leading source of energy for 
aviation activity. Adequate measures are taken to reduce energy consumption whenever 
possible by using energy efficient equipment and technology infusion. These measures 
among other includes maintenance of engine and airframe, flight planning, training to 
operational staff, regular analysis etc.

	 (B)	 Technology absorption-

		  (i)	 the efforts made towards technology absorption. -No new IT project has been 
implemented during the FY 2023-24. However, in house Employees Portal was created 
for employee data, Form 16 and Salary slip disbursal. Breath Analyser Software 
developed and handed over to Medical for selection of random employee for tests as 
per DGCA regulation.

		  (ii)	 the benefits derived like product improvement, cost reduction, product 
development or import substitution. -SAP infrastructure was created for Green 
Field implementation for year 2023 onwards as S4H and old legacy SAP infrastructure 
was created to populate old data sliced from Air India SAP system. The same was 
integrated with AAAL IT Network infrastructure through secure VPN tunnels for access. 
Remotely 49+ airports are managed from Alliance Bhawan without any IT engineer at 
site at these airports. This results in saving of approx 01 Crore annually.

		  (iii)	 in case of imported technology (imported during the last three years reckoned 
from the beginning of the financial year)-

			   (a)	 the details of technology imported: Aircraft Communication Addressing and 
Reporting System (ACARS).

			   (b)	 the year of import: 2021-2022

			   (c)	 whether the technology been fully absorbed:  the technology is partially 
implemented and expected to be implemented by 2025-26 fully. Its operational 
and flight tracking is carried out as per DGCA CAR. However, there are further 
28 VHF (very high frequency) stations in India in the pipeline for deployment for 
the remaining of 2025-26.

			   (d)	 if not fully absorbed, areas where absorption has not taken place, and the 
reasons thereof; and:  It’s as per Project Delivery timelines and some part of 
implementation is pending due to regulatory approvals that have been applied 
for.

		  (iv)	 the expenditure incurred on Research and Development.: None
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	 (C)	 Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo

Particulars
Current Year  

2023-24
Previous Year 

2022-23
(Rs. in Crore) (Rs. in Crore)

A. Expenditure on Imports (CIF) during the 
year ended 31st March, 2024
-	 Aircraft Spares Parts & Tools 35.75 33.39
-	 Capital Items-Ground Support Equipment 

Airframe Rotables and Aero Engg. 
Rotables

Nil 18.18

B. Expenditure on Consumption during the 
year ended 31st March, 2024
-	 Imported Spares & Components 28.30 21.15
-	 Indigenous Spares Nil Nil

C. Earnings in Foreign Currency
-	 Interline Revenue 12.43 2.51

D. Expenditure in Foreign Currency
-	 Aircraft Lease & Maintenance Charges 502.89 394.63
-	 Purchase of Stores & Equipment 35.75 51.57
-	 Technical Literature 3.80 3.10
-	 Training & travelling 0.19 0.11
-	 Legal charges Nil 0.25
-	 Fuel & Landing/Parking 4.38 4.23
-	 PSS related 1.46 1.37

27.	 DEPOSITS

	 The Company has not accepted any deposits during the year.

28.	 MSE COMPLIANCE 

	 It always has been the endeavor of AAAL to support Micro and Small Enterprises (MSEs) 
and local suppliers. AAAL has taken a number of steps including implementing the Public 
Procurement Policy of the Government of India to procure the items specified from MSEs. The 
actual procurement from MSEs during the financial year 2023-24 was Rs.12.29 Crore.

29.	 SIGNIFICANT & MATERIAL ORDERS

	 During the financial year 2023-24, no significant and material orders were passed by the regulators 
or courts or tribunals impacting the going concern status and Company’s operations in future.

30.	 CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CSR)

	 The provisions of Section 135 of Companies Act, 2013 relating to Corporate Social Responsibility 
is not applicable to the Company as the Company has not earned any profits during the financial 
year 2023-24.



ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION LIMITED

18

31.	 COMPLIANCE WITH THE SEXUAL HARASSMENT OF WOMEN AT WORKPLACE 
(PREVENTION, PROHIBITION & REDRESSAL) ACT, 2013

	 The details of Sexual Harassment cases reported in the Company during the financial year 2023-
2024, are as under: -

	 i.	 Complaints of Sexual Harassment received during the relevant year -Nil.   

	 ii.	 Number of cases pending for more than ninety days- Nil. 

	 iii.	 Number of workshops or awareness programmes carried out in connection with sexual 
harassment: 01

		  General awareness programmes are normally conducted periodically. Besides this, Do’s 
and Don’ts prohibit of Sexual Harassment Posters were also displayed at all work places.

	 iv.	 Remedial measures taken by the Company:

		  In line with the requirements of the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, 
Prohibition & Redressal) Act, 2013, an Internal Complaints Committee (ICC) has been set 
up to deal with the complaints and also spread awareness in the organization.

32.	 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

	 The Company has complied with the requirements of Corporate Governance with the exception 
of appointment of Independent Directors on the Board. 

	 The report on Corporate Governance in compliance of the provisions of Companies Act, 2013 
and DPE guidelines on Corporate Governance issued by the Department of Public Enterprises, 
Government of India is annexed at Annexure A.

33.	 RISK MANAGEMENT 

	 The Company is in the process of formulating the Risk Management Policy with the following 
objectives:

	 	 Provide an overview of the principles of Risk Management

	 	 Explain the approach adopted by the Company for Risk Management

	 	 Define the Organizational Structure for effective Risk Management

	 	 Develop a “risk” culture that encourages all employees to identify risks and associated 
opportunities and to respond to them with effective actions

	 	 Identify, assess and manage existing and new risks in a planned and coordinated manner 
with minimum disruption and cost, to protect and preserve Company’s human, physical and 
financial assets.

34.	 ANNUAL RETURN

	 In compliance with Section 92(3) and Section 134(3)(a) of the Act of the Companies Act, 2013, a 
copy of your Annual Return for the year ended 31st March, 2024 will be hosted on the website of 
the Company at https://allianceair.in/financials.
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35.	 DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE

	 AAAL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of AI Assets Holding Limited. As per the provisions of Article 
117 of the Articles of Association of the Company, the number of Directors of the Company shall 
not be less than three and not more than twelve all of whom shall be appointed by AI Assets 
Holding Limited, who in turn can do so subject to the directions of the Government of India.

36.	 MANAGEMENT

	 DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL (KMP)

	 (i)	 The following changes have occurred in the constitution of Directors and KMP of the 
Company during the financial year 2023-24:-

Sr. 
No.

Name Designation Date of 
Appointment

Date of 
Cessation

Mode of 
Cessation

1. Shri Satyendra Kumar 
Mishra

Chairman 
& Nominee 

Director

01-03-2023 31-12-2023 Ceased to 
Chairman & 

Director
2. Shri Asangba Chuba Ao Chairman 29-02-2024 11-03-2025 Ceased to 

Chairman
3. Smt. Nayonika Dutta Nominee 

Director
12-02-2024 - -

	 (ii)	 The following changes have occurred in the constitution of Directors and KMP of the 
Company after the end of the financial year 2023-24 and up to the date of the Report:

Sr. 
No

Name Designation Date of 
Appointment

Date of 
Cessation

Mode of 
Cessation

1. Shri Pranjol 
Chandra

Nominee 
Director

11-02-2022 13-12-2024 Ceased to 
Director

2. Shri Brajesh 
Kumar Srivastava

Nominee 
Director

18-01-2023 28-03-2025 Ceased to 
Director

3. Shri Amit Kumar* Nominee 
Director & 
Chairman

13-03-2025 - -

4. Shri Rohit Raj** Nominee 
Director

18-03-2025 - -

5. Shri Vineet Sood Chief Executive 
Officer

31-07-2021 21-09-2024 Ceased to 
Chief Executive 

Officer
6. Shri Rambabu Ch. Chief Executive 

Officer
(Addl. Charge)

21-09-2024 07-05-2025 Ceased to 
Chief Executive 

Officer
7. Shri Rajarshi Sen Chief Executive 

Officer
07-05-2025 -

8. Shri Ambar Kumar 
Mondal

Chief Financial 
Officer

26-07-2019 31 -07-2024 Ceased to 
Chief Financial 

Officer
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Sr. 
No

Name Designation Date of 
Appointment

Date of 
Cessation

Mode of 
Cessation

9. Shri Amit Mishra Chief Financial 
Officer

31-01-2025 - -

10. Smt. Shilpa Bhatia Company 
Secretary

14-01-2022 - -

		  *In terms of the Order issued by the Ministry of Civil Aviation (MoCA) vide File No. 
A.V.17015/02/2015-AI dated 11-03-2025, Shri Amit Kumar was appointed as Chairman 
and Managing Director (CMD) of AI Assets Holding Limited (AIAHL)w.e.f the date of his 
assumption of charge of the post till the date of his superannuation i.e. 30-06-2027, or 
until further order, whichever is earlier. However, his appointment on the Board of Alliance 
Air Aviation Limited as Nominee Director became effective from the date of obtaining his 
Director Identification Number (DIN) i.e.13-03-2025.

		  **In terms of the Office Memorandum issued by the Ministry of Civil Aviation (MoCA) vide File 
No. A.V.17046/56/2019 -AI dated 13-12-2024, Shri Rohit Raj was nominated on the Board 
of Alliance Air Aviation Limited w.e.f 13-12-2024. However, his appointment as Nominee 
Director became effective from the date of obtaining his Director Identification Number i.e. 
18-03-2025.

37.	 PERFORMANCE EVALUATION OF BOARD, ITS COMMITTEES AND INDIVIDUALS

	 As per the Notification dated 5th June, 2015 of the Ministry of Corporate Affairs, the provisions of 
Section 134(3) (p) of the Companies Act, 2013 shall not apply in case the Directors are evaluated 
by the Ministry, which is administratively in charge of the Company as per its own evaluation 
methodology. Alliance Air Aviation Limited, being a Government Company, the performance 
evaluation is carried by the MOCA, Government of India, as per the applicable Government 
guidelines.

38.	 POLICY FOR SELECTION AND APPOINTMENT OF DIRECTORS AND THEIR REMUNERATION

	 Alliance Air Aviation Limited, being a Government Company, is exempted to furnish information 
under Section 134 (3) (e) of the Companies Act, 2013 as per the Notification dated 5th June, 2015 
of the Ministry of Corporate Affairs.

39.	 PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES

	 Alliance Air Aviation Limited, being a Government Company, its Directors are appointed / 
nominated by the Government of India as per the Government / DPE Guidelines which also 
include fixation of pay criteria, determining qualifications and other matters.

	 As per the Ministry of Corporate Affairs exemption Notification dated 5th June, 2015, the provisions 
of Section 134(3)(e) are not applicable to a Government Company. Consequently, the details on 
Company’s policy on Directors’ appointment as specified in Section 178 (3) are not provided.

	 Similarly, disclosure of the ratio of the remuneration of each Director to the median employee’s 
remuneration and other such details including the statement showing the names and other 
particulars of every employee of the Company, who, was in receipt of remuneration in excess of 
the limits set out in the rules, are not provided.
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40.	 PARTICULARS OF CONTRACTS OR ARRANGEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

	 All related party transactions that were entered into during the Financial Year were on an arm’s 
length basis and were in the ordinary course of business. There are no materially significant 
related party transactions made by the Company with Promoters, Directors, Key Managerial 
Personnel or other designated persons which may have a potential conflict with the interest of 
the Company at large.

	 Exemption from the first and second proviso to sub-Section (1) of Section 188 with regard to 
obtaining approval of the Company in General Meeting, has been provided to a Government 
Company in respect of contracts or arrangements entered into by it with any other Government 
Company.

	 All Related Party Transactions are placed before the Audit Committee and also the Board for 
approval.

	 Particulars of contracts or arrangements or transactions in Form AOC-2 are attached as Annexure 
B.

41.	 REPORTING OF FRAUDS BY AUDITORS

	 There was no instance of fraud during the year under review, which required the Statutory Auditors 
to report to the Audit Committee and / or Board under Section 143(12) of Act and Rules framed 
thereunder. However, the Company has received whistle blower complaint in June 2024 which 
highlighted several instances of breaches of internal controls and override of the internal control 
by officers of the Company, which are under investigation by the vigilance department.

42.	 INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

	 The Company internal control systems are designed to ensure operational efficiency, accuracy 
and promptness in financial reporting and compliance with laws and regulations. The internal 
control system is supported by an internal audit process for reviewing the adequacy and efficiency 
of the internal controls, including its systems and processes and compliance with regulations and 
procedures. Internal Audit Reports are discussed with the management and are reviewed by the 
Audit Committee of the Board, which also reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal 
controls. 

43.	 DETAILS OF APPLICATION MADE OR ANY PROCEEDING PENDING UNDER THE 
INSOLVENCY AND BANKRUPTCY CODE, 2016 

	 During the year under review, there were no applications made or proceedings pending in the 
name of the Company under the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016.

44.	 DETAILS OF DIFFERENCE BETWEEN AMOUNT OF THE VALUATION DONE AT THE TIME 
OF ONE-TIME SETTLEMENT AND THE VALUATION DONE WHILE TAKING LOAN FROM 
THE BANKS OR FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

	 During the year under review, there has been no one time settlement of Loans taken from Banks 
and Financial Institutions.

45.	 MAINTENANCE OF COST RECORDS 

	 During the period under review, the provision of section 148 of the Companies Act, 2013 relating 
to maintenance of cost records does not applicable to the Company.
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ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue

The total revenue during the financial year 2023-24 was Rs. 962.55 Crore compared to Rs. 1,104.96 
Crore in the financial year 2022-23.

Expenditure

The total expenditure during the financial year 2023-24 was Rs 1,582.11 Crore compared to Rs. 
1,670.73 Crore in the financial year 2022-23.

HUMAN RESOURCES

Staff Strength

As on 31st March, 2024, AAAL had 882 employees on Fixed Term Employment Agreement basis. In 
addition, there were 04 employees on deputation from AIESL and 05 employees on deputation from 
Indian Air Force. The Industrial Relation scene remained peaceful during the period 1st April, 2023 to 
31st March, 2024.

FLEET POSITION

As on 31st March, 2024, aircraft available in AAAL fleet are as under:

AIRCRAFT MSN TYPE
VT-AII 1197 ATR 72-212A
VT-AIT 1226 ATR 72-212A
VT-AIU 1246 ATR 72-212A
VT-AIV 1252 ATR 72-212A
VT-AIW 1272 ATR 72-212A
VT-AIX 1268 ATR 72-212A
VT-AIY 1273 ATR 72-212A
VT-AIZ 1279 ATR 72-212A
VT-RKC 1381 ATR 72-212A
VT-RKD 1383 ATR 72-212A
VT-RKE 1421 ATR 72-212A
VT-RKF 1423 ATR 72-212A
VT-RKG 1427 ATR 72-212A
VT-RKH 1434 ATR 72-212A
VT-RKJ 1439 ATR 72-212A
VT-RKK 1445 ATR 72-212A
VT-RKL 1456 ATR 72-212A
VT-RKM 1463 ATR 72-212A
VT-UDA 1608 ATR 42-500(600 version)
VT-UDB 1609 ATR 42-500(600 version)
VT-KNP 4130 Do 228-4130

Management Discussion & Analysis Report
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ON TIME PERFORMANCE AND Technical DISPATCH RELIABILITY

i)	 Aircraft on time performance during the financial year 2023-24 was as under:

On Time performance (OTP)
Period OTP
FY 2023-24 70.00 %

ii)	 Aircraft technical dispatch reliability during the financial year 2023-24 as compared to previous 
year was as under:

Aircraft Type Period Technical Dispatch Reliability
ATR 72-600 FY 2022-23 99.06%
ATR 42-500 99.38%
Do-228 99.13%
ATR 72-600 FY 2023-24 98.70%
ATR 42-500 99.57%
Do-228 99.30 %

AIRCRAFT UTILIZATION

Aircraft utilization during the financial year 2023-24 was as under:

Financial Year Flying Hrs. Utilization Block Hrs. Utilization
2023-24 39451:57 49523:49

MARKETING INITIATIVES

Performance during the financial year 2023-24 was as under:

No. of Stations: 59

Average Departures per day: 101

Revenue Performance
(Rs. in Million)

Month Revenue 
Passengers

Passenger 
Revenue, 
EBT, Mail, 

Cargo

RCS + VGF 
(Revenue)

Charter 
Revenue

Other 
Revenue

Total 
Operating 
Revenue

April-2023 136655 476.08 281.35 2.70 27.42 787.56
May-2023 178649 649.38 282.59 6.17 37.73 975.87
June-2023 139527 508.66 272.69 0.83 37.11 819.29
July-2023 121786 393.27 275.78 9.95 35.39 714.40
August-2023 124445 406.95 288.20 1.18 29.92 726.25
September-2023 119010 426.73 259.11 2.57 31.95 720.36
October-2023 128249 484.21 249.44 5.81 36.68 776.12
November-2023 120840 458.00 248.37 24.60 30.66 761.63
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(Rs. in Million)
Month Revenue 

Passengers
Passenger 
Revenue, 
EBT, Mail, 

Cargo

RCS + VGF 
(Revenue)

Charter 
Revenue

Other 
Revenue

Total 
Operating 
Revenue

December-2023 129460 528.33 254.96 17.34 41.00 841.63
January-2024 132585 477.28 262.96 5.29 34.20 779.72
February-2024 129636 478.17 264.79 4.73 35.20 782.89
March-2024 142074 444.39 297.13 13.04 107.38 861.93
Total 1602916 5,731.44 3,237.36 94.21 484.64 9,547.66

Physical Statistics

Month Estimated Seat 
Capacity

% Seat Factor OTP Total Number of 
Departures

April-2023 196966 69.38% 79% 3447
May-2023 223013 80.19% 69% 3778
June-2023 190507 73.24% 61% 3233
July-2023 178310 68.30% 77% 3043
August-2023 178672 69.65% 73% 2997
September-2023 173991 68.40% 72% 2980
October-2023 179774 71.17% 74% 3061
November-2023 166286 72.67% 68% 2833
December-2023 168480 76.84% 58% 2888
January-2024 165545 80.09% 72% 2815
February-2024 164492 78.81% 71% 2764
March-2024 181750 78.17% 77% 3076
Total 2168579 73.91% 70% 36915

New Routes introduced in FY 2023-24

Route Flight Type Frequency
Bhubaneswar/ Rourkela RCS 1,2,3,4,5,6,7
Rourkela/ Bhubaneswar RCS 1,2,3,4,5,6,7
Kullu / Amritsar RCS 1,3,5,7
Amritsar / Kullu RCS 1,3,5,7
Bengaluru / Salem RCS 1,2,3,4,5,6,7
Salem/ Kochi RCS 1,3,4,5,6,7
Kochi/ Salem RCS 1,3,4,5,6,7
Salem / Bengaluru RCS 1,2,3,4,5,6,7
Dehradun/ Ayodhya VGF 1,3,5
Ayodhya/ Dehradun VGF 1,3,5
Dehradun/ Pant Nagar VGF 2,4,6
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Route Flight Type Frequency
Pant Nagar / Varanasi VGF 2,4,6
Varanasi/ Pant Nagar VGF 2,4,6
Pant Nagar/ Dehradun VGF 2,4,6
Amritsar / Dehradun VGF 2,4,6
Dehradun / Amritsar VGF 2,4,6
Delhi/ Bilaspur VGF 3,6
 Bilaspur / Delhi VGF 1,5,6
Kolkata / Bilaspur VGF 2,4
Bilaspur / Kolkata VGF 2,4
Jabalpur / Jagdalpur VGF 1,5
Jagdalpur / Jabalpur  VGF 3
Bhubaneswar/ Rourkela RCS 1,2,3,4,5,6,7
Rourkela/ Bhubaneswar RCS 1,2,3,4,5,6,7
Kullu / Amritsar RCS 1,3,5,7
Amritsar / Kullu RCS 1,3,5,7
Bengaluru / Salem RCS 1,2,3,4,5,6,7
Salem/ Kochi RCS 1,3,4,5,6,7
Kochi/ Salem RCS 1,3,4,5,6,7
Salem / Bengaluru RCS 1,2,3,4,5,6,7
Dehradun/ Ayodhya VGF 1,3,5

ACHIEVEMENTS

•	 As of 31st March 2024, Alliance Air has now 819 agents onboard for direct sales across our 
network following the disinvestment from Air India in Year 2022.

•	 RK Swamy has been hired as our social media service provider post-disinvestment to establish 
airline presence in the social media world.

•	 Alliance Air operated a flight with an all-women crew to celebrate International Women’s Day.

•	 Agents have been regionally distributed and allocated to the Sales Team to cover airline entire 
network across India and Sri Lanka.

•	 Alliance Air was the official flying partner for the MTB cycle race in Shimla, held from 21st April to 
23rd April 2023.

•	 Regular promotional sales have been organized across the entire Alliance Air network.

•	 A Productivity Linked Bonus (PLB) was introduced from 8th July 2023 to 7th October 2023 to 
enhance agents’ productivity.

•	 Various schemes have been launched to promote the North East sectors.

•	 State Tourism Boards have been approached to promote Alliance Air.

•	 An additional backend incentive was provided to the top 15 agents on selected flights and sectors 
from 1st August 2023 to 10th August 2023 to increase flight loads.
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•	 A special initiative was launched in the North East sector to promote the Ziro Festival.

•	 Alliance Air celebrated Swachata Abhiyaan and Gandhi Jayanti on 2nd October 2023.

•	 A Cut and Pay incentive was introduced on tickets sold across the network for sale and travel up 
to 28th October 2023.

•	 The airline successfully completed 200 flights from Chennai to Jaffna.

•	 The Safety Department celebrated its 10th anniversary of excellence.

•	 Alliance Air proudly partnered with the MICE event in Sri Lanka from 30th November to 3rd 
December 2023.

•	 Marketing efforts to promote the North East sectors included placing standees at all seven North 
East Bhawans in Delhi for increased visibility.

•	 We participated in Wings India and showcased our airline’s strengths.

•	 The airline signed a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with Pawan Hans for interline 
connectivity.

•	 Alliance Air signed an MoU with the Haryana government to launch new routes from Hisar.

•	 Alliance Air participated in Wings India 2024, organized by FICCI in Hyderabad from 18th January 
to 21st January 2024.

•	 The airline offered PLB scheme to the top 15 agents and three agents from each region (Delhi, 
Hyderabad, Chennai, Bengaluru, Kolkata, and Mumbai) from 15th January 2024 to 30th April 
2024 to boost sales during the lean season.

•	 Alliance Air participated in SATTE 2024 with State Tourism Boards and Travel agents.

•	 The airline participated in the TAFI meet 2024 at Park Hotel, New Delhi.

•	 The Kolkata team participated in the TAAI meet held in Kolkata.

•	 The airline participated in the Yatra Big Travel Fest from 7th March to 18th March 2024.

•	 Alliance Air took part in the Cleartrip Mega Sale event from 13th March to 22nd March 2024.

•	 Specially priced fares have been offered on specific routes, making travel more affordable for 
passengers looking to fly to these destinations. 

AWARDS 

Alliance Air won Wings India 2024 award for best airline under Regional Connectivity.

FARES DURING FY 2023-24

The airline offered reasonable market prices throughout the period of 2023-2024, considering various 
factors including:

Seasonal Variations: Prices were adjusted based on the time of year to reflect demand fluctuations. 
Peak travel seasons such as holidays and summer vacations typically saw higher prices, while off-
peak seasons offered more competitive rates.

Flight Frequency: Ticket prices were influenced by the frequency of flights on particular routes. 
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Direct / Indirect Routes: Pricing was also dependent on whether the route was direct or required 
layovers.

Competitor Fares: The airline continuously monitored competitor pricing to ensure their fares remained 
attractive to customers. 

Viability Gap Funding (VGF) / Regional Connectivity Scheme (RCS) Sectors: Special pricing 
strategies were implemented for routes subsidized under the VGF and RCS initiatives to enhance 
connectivity and make air travel more affordable in underserved regions.

PROMOTIONAL SCHEMES

•	 Regular promotional sales were offered – Start of Summer Sale, Summer Sale, Monsoon Sale, 
End of Season Sale, Independence Day Sale, Pre festive Sale, End of Month Sale, Festive Sale, 
Winter Sale, End of Year Sale, Republic Day Sale, February Sale, Summer Vacation Sale and 
Holi Sale

•	 Attractive cut and pay incentives, along with a PLB scheme, were offered. These incentives 
aimed to motivate travel agents to increase their sales and performance.

•	 Group Fares were offered in the market. This strategy aimed to increase the customer base and 
fill more seats on flights, benefiting both Alliance Air and the travellers

PASSENGER COMPLAINTS RESOLUTION

Proactive complaints resolution was undertaken during the financial year 2023-24:

Quarter Complaints Received Complaints Closed
Q1 141 141
Q2 103 103
Q3 137 137
Q4 175 175
FY 2023-2024 556 556

ENGINEERING INITIATIVES

Various economy measures adopted and achievements made thereon highlighting the specific 
items / areas, quantifying the amounts so saved.

•	 GMSA reconciliation carried out with M/s ATR and we received a credit note of approx. 2.1 Million 
USD (INR 17.5 Cr.) of total billing.

•	 Optimized Aircraft maintenance programme.

•	 Alliance Air STAC policy inclusion in AIESL MOE.

•	 Approval for ATR 42- A Check upto 5000 FH/15000 FC/2 Years including out of phase tasks, 
modifications, Structural Inspection at Delhi Base.

•	 Approval of ATR 72 – C Check at Delhi Base.

•	 Reduced TAT on scheduled maintenance to get more availability of the fleet.

•	 Streamlined the technical procurement & logistics section, to ensure right material, right place at 
right time.
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A brief note on Engineering and Maintenance including Bases, new shops, major works, 
outstations;

•	 No. of Night Halt Bases–06 (Delhi, Hyderabad, Kolkata, Mumbai, Bangalore, Guwahati).

•	 Rotable spares (Fire extinguishers, Oxygen bottles, Batteries, SSCVR, SSFDR, ELT, wheels 
assy, brakes etc.) of AAAL are being serviced at AIESL and other approved shops across Delhi, 
Hyderabad, Kolkata and Mumbai.

Details of Engineering Services provided to other Airlines/Organization and Engineer’s Training 
Programme:

As per the signed Master Service Agreement between AIESL and AAAL, AIESL will provide regular 
engineering training to the AAAL staff and AIESL Staff deputed to AAAL.

Plan for 2024-25 with special reference to aircraft utilisation, availability of Engineers, new 
routes/services, utilisation of facilities etc. and also plan for fleet expansion.

•	 In Dornier project, another aircraft VT-KNQ induction is awaited due for captain issue.

•	 We are in process to expend our aircraft utilization.

FLIGHT SAFETY 

The Company has independent Flight Safety department, which functions as per the DGCA requirements 
in proactive manner. Under proactive function, the Flight Safety Department does FDMA (Flight Data 
Monitoring and Analysis) which require continuous monitoring of flight data i.e., of SSFDR & CVR and 
internal Safety audit of the base station as well as safety inspection of line stations, airfield inspection, 
spot checks and ramp inspection. 

Total 89 incidents were reported in the FY 2023-2024, out of which 48 cases were investigated by 
the Permanent Investigation Board (PIB) of the company with DGCA. Left 37 occurrences were not 
considered significant for PIB by O/o DAS (NR), but internal investigation conducted by Flight Safety, 
Alliance Air. All PIB cases addressed and closed. Rest 04 cases are under investigation by DGCA is 
as following:-

i.	 01 case of VT-AIY related to TA/RA dated 17.05.2023 is under investigation by DGCA. 

ii.	 01 case of VT-RKM at Mumbai dated 03.07.2023 is under investigation by DGCA. 

iii.	 01 case of Runway Incursion at Delhi airport on 23.11.2023 is under investigation by DGCA. 

iv.	 01 case open due to strip report of Engine 2 Oil low pressure dated 18.03.2024 is under 
investigation by DGCA. 

Total 13 Bird hit/strike occurrences were reported in the financial year 2023-2024 & NIL damage was 
observed on the aircraft. The respective aerodrome authorities as well as DGCA were informed about 
these occurrences for corrective measures. 

To ensure safety of aircraft following measures are taken up by Flight Safety Department: - 

i.	 Internal audit of base station (Delhi) & Safety audit of 23 Line station were carried out as per 
approved audit plan 2023-2024. 

ii.	 FDMA trends on quarterly basis are being shared with Training Department for Amber & Red 
values to emphasise during Training session. 
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iii.	 As per FDAP program crew were timely cautioned, advised and counselled for Red exceedances. 

iv.	 SAG (Safety action group) meeting is being conducted every month & employees are encouraged 
to submit Voluntary report. Total 63 voluntary reports were received and closed during 2023-
2024. 

v.	 Load and trim sheet of respective fleets are being monitored on monthly basis and spot checks 
of the Line stations are being performed as per CAR. 

vi.	 The recommendations by Permanent Investigation Board are circulated to the concerned 
departments for necessary action & compliance. 

vii.	 In house SRM/SRBM are conducted (quarterly) in the month of July (2023), October (2023), 
March (2024) & May (2024). 

viii.	 In financial year 2023-2024, Flight Safety department has organised the following IATA trainings. 

	 •	 IOSA Auditor training conducted from 22nd to 25th May 2023. 

	 •	 Safety Risk Management training conducted from 29th to 31st May 2023. 

	 •	 IATA Train the Trainer training conducted from 25th to 27th Oct 2023. 

	 •	 IATA Ops Risk Management training conducted from 20th to 24th Nov 2023. 

	 •	 IATA Aviation Lead Auditor Training conducted from 11th to 13th March 2024. 

ix.	 In financial year 2023-2024, Flight Safety department has organised the IOSA familiarization 
Training from 14th to 15th March 2024 for Alliance Air employees as nominated by respective 
department

OPERATIONS

A brief note on the steps taken to reduce the expenditure on Aviation Fuel. Measures taken for 
shortening of flights routes, optimization of flights, improving flight technique/ maintenance 
and savings affected may also be indicated.

Measures taken for Fuel Saving by the Operations Department:

1.	 Computerized Flight Plan (CFP) is being issued for all Alliance Air flights. CFP optimizes the 
Flight Level enabling flying to destinations based on the actual wind, trip distance and actual 
weight of the aircraft, as a result the overall fuel consumption is reduced. 

2.	 CFP also avoids carriage of extra fuel and gives higher payload especially on RTOW restricted 
runways. This is due to the prediction made on the exact fuel required.

3.	 Descent speed for all Alliance Air flights (ATR 72-600 aircraft) has been revised resulting in fuel 
saving and cost saving. This change also helps flight crew to have stabilized approaches over 
airfields.

4.	 Alternates are selected in such a way that they are at minimum distance from destination station. 
Therefore the block fuel requirement decreases, which enables carrying of higher pay load.

5.	 Concept of Fuel Tankering is being utilized and fuel tankering circular is being issued monthly 
by Operations Department. Close coordination is being done between Operations and Finance 
Department to ensure accurate, updated and revised fuel prices at every station depending on 
whether the sector is being operated as a commercial flight or RCS flight.
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6.	 Ground cooling unit is being used at selected metro stations wherever available instead of Hotel 
Mode thereby reducing fuel consumption.

7.	 Pilots are encouraged to conduct straight in approach/ visual approach as much possible which 
reduce the track miles travelled by the aircraft.

8.	 Single Engine Taxi post landing is being followed by Alliance Air cockpit crew.

9.	 Continuous Descent Technique from top of descent is encouraged to cockpit crew instead of 
level of segments which aids in fuel saving. It also helps in noise abatement regulations.

10.	 Alliance Air has received RNP approach approval from DGCA to operate to airfields with lower 
minima. This assists the pilots to fly on efficient trajectories on final approach/accurate lateral 
guidance in approach/vertical guidance in final approach. This approach also enhances safety 
levels of Alliance Air flights.

Aircraft type-wise number of Pilots trained as Commander and Co-Pilots with training flying 
hours and change in training pattern, if any.

No. of Pilots trained as Commanders & Co Pilots (2023-2024)
No. of Pilots Trained/Upgraded (ATR 72-600)

P1 (Including 
Transition Captains 
and PIC Upgrade)

P2 DEs TRIs SFIs LTCs

Total Pilots 23 13 02 02 0 05

No. of Pilots trained as Commanders & Co Pilots (2023-2024) 
No. of Pilots Trained/Upgraded (Do-228)

P1 (Including 
Transition Captains)

P2 DEs TRIs SFIs LTCs

Total Pilots 3 - - - 0

Number of performance/ technical/endorsement refresher courses/ training conducted along 
with the number of participants-Pilots/Cabin Crew etc. 
S. No. Type of Training Number of P1 Number of P2

1 Extended Refresher Training 5 2
2 Joint CRM Training 54 45
3 Online Recurrent Ground Training 74 72
4 Fire Smoke Door Drill Training 29 52
5 Recurrent LTC Ground Training 4
6 Recurrent DGR Training 30 53
7 Corrective CRM Training 3 5
8 Initial DGR Training 12 25
9 Refresher Ground Training - 2

10 Recurrent TRI Ground Training 1 -
11 OCC With Extended Refresher Training 8 10
12 PIC Upgrade Ground Training 9
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S. No. Type of Training Number of P1 Number of P2
13 Corrective Ground Training 4 4
14 Initial LTC Upgrade Ground Training 2 -
15 SFI Ground Training 1 -
16 TRI Upgrade Ground Training 2 -
17 DO-228 PIC Upgrade Ground Training - 1
18 OCC With ATR 72-500 To ATR 72-600 - 5
19 Initial CRM Training 6 12
20 Do-228 Recurrent Extended Refresher Training 2 4
21 Offline Recurrent Ground Training 3 5

Details of Simulator Training imparted (2023-24)

Simulator Training Details

S. No. Simulator Training Details Consolidated details No. of hours for P1 and P2
1 April, 2023 203:00
2 May, 2023 335:45
3 June, 2023 191:00
4 July, 2023 222:30
5 August, 2023 104:15
6 September, 2023 183:15
7 October, 2023 215:00
8 November ,2023 224:15
9 December, 2023 131:30

10 January, 2024 229:15
11 February, 2024 248:15
12 March, 2024 241:00

FUEL TANKERING

Aircraft fuel cost at each station differs due to variation of local taxes at the station. In order to reduce 
expenditure on fuel- upliftment, it is healthier practice to uplift extra fuel from the station where the 
cost of ATF is lower. This depends on the payload factor (Under load condition) & Regulated Landing 
Weight (RLW) / Regulated Take-Off Weight (RTOW) limits. Weather & payload are other variables that 
lead to extra consumption of fuel on a particular flight.

Presently, Alliance Air is carrying out fuel tankering on monthly basis on an average on 60 
AAAL sectors. Based on the fuel price difference, sectors for fuel tankering are finalized by the 
Operations Department. 

VARIOUS ECONOMY MEASURES ADOPTED AND ACHIEVEMENTS MADE THEREON 
HIGHLIGHTING THE SPECIFIC ITEMS/AREAS, QUANTIFYING THE AMOUNT SO SAVED

The key economic measures adopted by the Operation Department are as below:-

	 Fuel/Energy conservation related measure: Fuel Tankering is being closely monitored and fuel 
tankering circulars are issued periodically.
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	 Crew availability/utilization is planned and monitored in an optimal manner.

	 Trainings for cockpit crew and cabin crew are conducted in a way such that minimum crew 
movement is involved.

	 Pilot support is extended to client airlines on a contracted amount as a revenue generating 
initiative.

	 All Expat pilots are joining AAAL on FTEA on terms and conditions same as Indian Contract. 

	 Crew transport is being clubbed on all routes reducing the vehicle usage; this has considerably 
lowered the transport cost to the company.

	 Optimum utilization of cockpit crew across bases for smooth transition of flight operations.

	 Monitoring of SOD movement for flight operations and training purposes. SOD /ACM are planned 
on 9I flights to the extent possible as a cost saving measure.

	 Permanent posting of cockpit and cabin crew to make bases independent and avoid extra 
expenditure on hotel and SOD.

	 Meetings/counseling/briefing/interviews are being conducted through WebEx/video conferences 
to reduce the cost incurred on SOD/Transport/Hotac/meals. This is also a time saving measure.

	 Full support is extended to the Marketing/Network Planning and other related departments 
for charter operations at all times. Any revenue generating opportunity by the organization is 
encouraged.

	 AAAL utilizes its in-house L&T instructors for imparting Trainings. Load and Trim Trainings, both 
Basic and Recurrent Trainings are conducted for ground handling agencies on a fixed amount 
per candidate. Such training are billed to the vendor which either get revenue or are adjusted in 
reducing the outstanding dues of the company as per the terms of MoU. 

	 AVSEC trainings are conducted at respective bases to avoid crew movement, hotac and the time 
involved in travelling. 

	 AirlineType Rating Programme (ATRP): Alliance Air introduced ATRP in June 2019. On an 
average around 25 co-pilots out of 70 will be trained under this programme. 25 pilots @ 25 lakh 
per candidate will generate approx Rs.6.25 Crore through the programe.

	 Online Trainings for cockpit crew/cabin crew/despatchers are planned in terms of Reccurent/
Refresher as per approval recieved from DGCA. 

	 Trainings are being counducted for other airline pilots and cabin crew, this is helping Alliance 
Air in generating additional revenue. AAAL trainers are being used for simulator training of other 
organizations which is generating additional revenue. 

	 A Bond is being taken from pilots undergoing command upgrade to ensure their continuous 
services to the airline post upgradation.

	 Post Resignation, Exit Formalities are followed-up stringently for recovery of LD/UPGRADE/LTC 
bond amount. Departmental clearance is given on recovery of recoverable amount and return of 
Company property.
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GOING CONCERN

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of AI Assets Holding Ltd. (AIAHL) and has full support from 
the Government of India to make the company fully operational.

The Company has taken various measures to improve its operational efficiencies and cost control 
measures. 

The total fleet of Company stands at 21 aircraft as on 31st March 2024. All the aircraft are suitable for 
serving smaller / unserved / underserved airports in the country.

Alliance Air is entrusted to operate the routes allotted by Ministry of Civil Aviation under RCS & VGF 
scheme, especially in the remote areas for successfully implementing of UDAN scheme and always 
taking the challenge to fly to critical airfields, fulfilling the aspiration of Government of India to achieve 
the desired goal of UDAN scheme to connect the tier II & tier III cities and to discharge the social 
obligation as directed by Government of India. 

Alliance Air has also entered the agreement with different State Governments to operate the aircraft 
to connect the states with major cities under VGF scheme namely Uttrakhand, Odisha, Lakshadweep, 
Daman & Diu, Himachal & Chhattisgarh.

The Company has emerged as one of the major player in the Government of India’s premier scheme 
UDAN and the performance of the airline under UDAN has been excellent. The total UDAN route won 
by the Company now stands at 165. Out of allotted routes, the Company operated 115 routes as on 
31st March 2024 (previous year 101 routes). 

Further, Ministry of Civil Aviation vide their letter DO. No. AV.17046/72/2019-AI dated 6th April 2023, 
categorically stated that Alliance Air is a going concern and has assured that Government will make all 
endeavor to clear the dues towards ATF supply to Alliance Air. 

Alliance Air received in principal approval from Ministry of Finance dated 20th April 2023 towards 
financial support of Rs. 600 Crore. As per approval, both the tranches of Rs. 600 Crore have been 
released to Alliance Air, Rs. 300 Crore on 26th June 2023 and Rs. 300 Crore on 16th February 2024 as 
equity infusion from AIAHL.

Alliance Air is on the threshold of turnaround and poised to lead the regional connectivity in India in the 
next decade and be a leading regional carrier in Asia. Alliance Air is heading its way to reversing the 
trend of adverse financial parameters in this financial year 2024-25 and thereafter further consolidating 
the gains.

Since the Company expects improvement in Operational and Financial Performances and the 
company has support from the government of India to make the company fully operational, hence the 
financial statements of the company have been prepared on the “Going Concern” basis despite having 
accumulated losses and net-worth being eroded.

RISK MITIGATION STRATEGIES

The Company continuously monitors the risk perceptions and takes preventive action for mitigation of 
risks on various fronts.

INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Company had appointed M/s Thakur Vaidyanath Aiyar & Co., Chartered Accountants, New Delhi 
as Internal Auditors for the financial year 2023-24 to carry out various internal audit assignments such 
as Tax compliance, risk assessment & mitigation, strengthening internal control process etc.
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FORM MR-3
SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT

(For the Financial Year ended 31stMarch, 2024) 
[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Rule No. 9 of the Companies 

(Appointment and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]

To,
The Members, 
Alliance Air Aviation Limited
CIN: U51101DL1983GOI016518
Alliance Bhawan Domestic Terminal-1,
IGI Airport, New Delhi-110037

We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance of applicable statutory provisions and 
the adherence to good corporate practices byAlliance Air Aviation Limited(hereinafter called “the 
Company”). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that provided us a reasonable basis for 
evaluating the corporate conducts/statutory compliances and expressing our opinion thereon.

Based on verification of the Company’s books, papers, minute books, forms, returns filed and other 
records maintained by the company, information provided by the Company, its officers (including RTA), 
agents and authorized representatives, electronic records available in the official portal of the Ministry 
of Corporate Affairs www.mca.gov.in, representation made by the Management, we hereby report that 
in our opinion, the company has, during the audit period covering financial year ended on 31st March 
2024, complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and also that the Company has proper 
Board-processes and compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner and subject to the 
reporting made hereinafter:

We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms and returns filed, the official portal of the 
ministry of corporate affairs (MCA) etc. and other records maintained by the company for the financial 
year ended on 31st March 2024, according to the applicable provisions of:

i)	 The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made thereunder;

ii)	 The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) and the rules made thereunder; (the 
Company being unlisted Company, the Provisions is not applicable) 

iii)	 The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-laws framed thereunder;

iv)	 Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules and regulations made thereunder to 
the extent of Foreign Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and External Commercial 
Borrowings (not applicable to the Company during the audit period) 

v)	 The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed under the Securities and Exchange Board 
of India Act, 1992, (the Company being an unlisted Company, the following regulations are 
not applicable)

	 a.	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares and 
Takeovers) Regulations, 2011;

	 b.	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 
2015;
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	 c.	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2018;

	 d.	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue and Listing of Non-Convertible Securities) 
Regulations, 2021;

	 e.	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars to an Issue and Share Transfer 
Agents) Regulations, 1993;

	 f.	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share Based Employee Benefits and Sweat 
Equity) Regulation, 2021.

	 g.	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting of Equity Shares) Regulations, 2021;

	 h.	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buy-back of Securities) Regulations 2018;

	 i.	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations & Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015;

	 j.	 The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories and Participants) Regulations, 
2018. 

vi)	 The Management has confirmed that the following laws specifically applicable to the Company 
are duly complied. 

	 a.	 Aircraft Act, 1934 and the Rules made thereunder

	 b.	 Carriage by Act 1972 and the Rules made thereunder

	 c.	 Airport Authority of India Act, 1994

	 d.	 The Aircraft (Carriage of Dangerous Goods) Rules, 2003 and the Rules made thereunder

	 e.	 The Civil Aviation Requirements issued by Directorate General of Civil Aviation

	 f.	 The Aircraft (Security) Rules, 2011

	 g.	 International Conventions

	 h.	 Tokyo Convention Act, 1975

	 i.	 Anti-Hijacking Act 1982/1994

	 j.	 Suppression of Unlawful acts against Safety of Civil Aviation Act, 1982/1994

	 k.	 Airports Economic Regulatory Authority of India Act, 2008

We have also examined compliance of the applicable clauses of the Secretarial Standards with 
respect to Meetings of Board of Directors (SS-1) and General Meetings (SS-2) issued by the Institute 
of Company Secretaries of India;

We report that during the period under review, the Company has complied with the provisions of the 
Act, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, Standards etc. mentioned above, except the following:

Second Proviso of Section 149(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 3 of Companies 
(Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014 in respect of appointment of woman director 
from 01-04-2023 to 11-02-2024. However, w.e.f. 12-02-2024, Ms. Nayonika Dutta was appointed on 
the Board of Directors of the Company.
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We also report that during the Financial Year 2023-24, the Company made a right issue in compliance 
with Section 62 of the Companies Act, 2013 read with the Companies (Share Capital and Debenture) 
Rules, 2014 and issued 6,00,00,000 equity shares of Rs.100/- each. Subsequently, the paid-up share 
capital of the Company increased to Rs.1002.25 Crore.

We further report that:

(i)	 The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted with proper balance of Executive 
Directors, Non-Executive Directors, and Independent Directors including Women Independent 
Directors. Changes in the composition of the Board of Directors that took place during the year 
under review, were carried out in compliance with the provisions of the Act;

(ii) 	 Adequate notice is given to all Directors to convene the Board Meetings; agenda and detailed 
notes on agenda were sent at least seven days in advance and a system exists for seeking and 
obtaining further information and clarifications on the agenda items before the meeting and for 
meaningful participation at the meeting;

(iii) 	 All the decisions of the Board and Committees thereof were carried through with requisite majority.

We further report that based on review of the compliance mechanism established by the Company, 
we are of the opinion that there are adequate systems and processes in place in the Company which 
are commensurate with its size and operations, to monitor and ensure compliance with the applicable 
Laws, Rules, Regulations and Guidelines.

We further report that during the financial year under review; no event has occurred having a major 
bearing on the Company’s affairs in pursuance of the above referred Laws, Rules, Regulations, 
Guidelines, Standards, etc.,

For T. Chatterjee & Associates 
Practising Company Secretaries 

FRN No. - P2007WB067100

Sd/-
Sumana Subhash Mitra

Partner
ACS:43291

COP: 22915
UDIN:A043291G0008262505

Peer Review No.908/2020
Place: New Delhi
Date: 25-07-2025

This report is to be read with our letter of even date which is annexed as Annexure A and forms 
an integral part of this report.
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‘Annexure A’

To 
The Members,
Alliance Air Aviation Limited

Our report of even date is to be read along with this letter.

1.	 Maintenance of secretarial record is the responsibility of the management of the Company. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these secretarial records based on our audit.

2.	 We have followed the Guidance Notes on ICSI Auditing Standard, audit practices and processes 
as were appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance about the correctness of the contents of 
the Secretarial records. The verification was done on test basis to ensure that correct facts are 
reflected in secretarial records. We believe that the processes and practices, we followed provide 
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3.	 Where ever required, we have obtained the Management representation about the compliance 
of laws, rules and regulations and happening of events etc.

4.	 The compliance of the provisions of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, 
standards is the responsibility of management. Our examination was limited to the verification of 
procedures on test basis.

5.	 The Secretarial Audit is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company nor of the 
efficacy or effectiveness with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

Sd/-
Sumana Subhash Mitra

Partner
ACS:43291

COP: 22915
UDIN: A043291G0008262505

Peer Review No.908/2020
Place: New Delhi
Date: 25-07-2025
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The Report on the Corporate Governance for the financial year 2023-24 in compliance of provisions 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and DPE Guidelines issued by the Department of Public Enterprises, 
Government of India is given as below:

1.	 COMPANY’S PHILOSOPHY ON CODE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

	 The Company firmly believes in and has consistently practiced good Corporate Governance. 
The Company’s essential character is shaped by the values of transparency, professionalism 
and accountability. The Company is committed to attain the highest standard of Corporate 
Governance. The philosophy of the Company in relation to Corporate Governance is to ensure 
transparency in all its operations, make disclosures and enhance all stakeholders’ value within 
the framework of laws and regulations.

2.	 BOARD OF DIRECTORS

	 Alliance Air Aviation Limited (AAAL) is a Public Sector Undertaking and a wholly-owned subsidiary 
of AI Assets Holding Limited (AIAHL). Its Directors are appointed by the Holding Company in 
consultation with the Government of India. As per the Articles of Association of the Company, the 
number of Directors shall not be less than three and not more than twelve.

	 Composition of Board as on 31st March, 2024:
S. No. Name of Director Designation

1. Shri Asangba Chuba Ao (Refer Note 1)

Joint Secretary, DT Division, Ministry of Civil Aviation 
Chairman & Nominee Director

2. Shri Pranjol Chandra	
Director, Ministry of Civil Aviation

Nominee Director

3. Shri Brajesh Kumar Srivastava	
Deputy Secretary, Ministry of Civil Aviation

Nominee Director

4. Smt. Nayonika Dutta (Refer Note 2)

Joint Director, Ministry of Civil Aviation
Nominee Director

	 Note:

	 1.	 The Ministry of Civil Aviation, vide Order No. 17046/56/2019-AI dated 26-02-2024, assigned 
the additional charge of Chairman and Managing Director (CMD), AI Assets Holding Limited 
(AIAHL), to Shri Asangba Chuba Ao, Joint Secretary, MoCA, for a period of three months 
with effect from 01-01-2024, or until the appointment of a regular CMD, AIAHL, whichever 
is earlier, vice Shri Satyendra Kumar Mishra. Accordingly, Shri Satyendra Kumar Mishra 
ceased to be the Nominee Director and Chairman of the Board of AAAL with effect from 31-
12-2023.

		  The Board placed on record its appreciation of the valuable services rendered by Shri 
Satyendra Kumar Mishra during his tenure as Chairman of the Company.

		  The Board, vide Circular Resolution No. APP. 26 dated 29-02-2024, nominated and elected 
Shri Asangba Chuba Ao, as the Chairman on the Board of AAAL w.e.f. 29-02-2024 and till 
any further instruction from the MoCA/Holding Company.

Annexure A

Report on Corporate Governance
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	 2.	 Considering the requirement for a woman Director on the Boards of AIAHL subsidiaries, 
interalia AAAL, and to ensure that quorum is available for the functioning of the Board, 
the Ministry of Civil Aviation (MoCA), vide its Office Memorandum dated 08-02-2024, 
reconstituted the Board of AAAL. Accordingly, Smt. Nayonika Dutta, Joint Director, Ministry 
of Civil Aviation, was nominated on the Board of AAAL with effect from 08-02-2024. 
However, her appointment as Nominee Director became effective from the date of obtaining 
her Director Identification Number, i.e. 12-02-2024.

	 During the year, all meetings of the Board were chaired by the Chairman. 

3.	 BOARD PROCEDURE 

	 The meetings of the Board of Directors were generally held at the registered office of the 
Company, New Delhi via Video Conferencing (VC)/ physical mode or at the Corporate office 
of the Holding Company. The meetings are scheduled well in advance. In case of exigencies 
or urgency, resolutions are passed by circulation. The Board meets at least once a quarter to 
review the operating performance of the Company. The agenda for the meetings is prepared by 
the officials of the concerned departments and approved by the CEO & the Chairman. The Board 
papers are circulated to the Directors in advance. The members of the Board have access to 
all information and are free to recommend inclusion of any matter in the agenda for discussion. 
Senior executives are invited to attend the Board meetings and provide clarification as and 
when required. Action Taken Reports are put up to the Board periodically. To enable better and 
more focused attention on the affairs of the Company, the Board delegates certain matters to 
Committees of the Board set up for the purpose. 

	 Details regarding the Board Meetings, Annual General Meeting, Directors’ attendance thereat, 
Directorships and Committee positions held by the Directors are as under:

	 Board Meetings:

	 Nine Board Meetings were held during the financial year 2023-24 on the following dates:-

	 14th June, 2023 (181st Meeting)

	 20th June, 2023 (182nd Meeting)

	 27th June, 2023 (183rd Meeting)

	 23rd August, 2023 (184th Meeting)

	 22nd September, 2023 (185thMeeting)

	 15th January, 2024 (186th Meeting)

	 12th February 2024 (187th Meeting)

	 17th February 2024 (188th Meeting)

	 22nd March 2024 (189th Meeting)
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	 Particulars of Directors including their attendance at the Board/Shareholders’ meetings 
during the financial year 2023-24:

Name of the Director Academic 
Qualifications

Attendance Particulars
No. of Board Meetings Last AGM 

AttendedHeld Attended
Shri S. K. Mishra
Chairman & Managing Director, 
AI Assets Holding Limited

Chairman
(From 01-03-2023 to 31-12-2023)

M. Tech (Applied 
Geology)

M.A. (Public 
Policy), IRS 

(IT:1990)

9
(Eligible to 
attend 5 
Meetings 

Only)

5 Yes

Shri Asangba Chuba Ao
Joint Secretary, DT Division, 
Ministry of Civil Aviation

Director & Chairman 
(Director w.e.f 18-01-2023 till date 
& Chairman w.e.f 29-02-2024 to 
11-03-2025)

MA (Eng Litt.) 
& MA (Public 

Administration)

9 9 Yes

Shri Pranjol Chandra
Director, Ministry of Civil Aviation

Director
(from 11-02-2022 to 13-12-2024) 

B.E. Mechanical 9 7 Yes

Shri Brajesh Kumar Srivastava
Deputy Secretary, Ministry of Civil 
Aviation

Director
(from 18-01-2023 to 28-03-2025)

Post Graduate 9 9 Yes

Smt. Nayonika Dutta
Joint Director, Ministry of Civil 
Aviation

Director
(from 12-02-2024 to till date)

Masters Degree in 
Economics

9
(Eligible to 
attend 3 
Meetings 

Only)

3 No



ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION LIMITED

42

	 Directorships and Memberships of Board Committees

	 Details of Directorships and memberships in the various committees as held by the Directors of 
the Company are as under:

Name of the Director Details of Directorships 
held in other Companies 

excluding AAAL

Memberships held in Committees 
as on 31st March, 2024

Shri S. K. Mishra
Chairman & Managing 
Director, AI Assets 
Holding Limited

Chairman
(From 01-03-2023 to  
31-12-2023)

Chairman & Managing 
Director
AI Assets Holding Limited 
w.e.f 01-03-2023 

Chairman
AI Airport Services Limited 
w.e.f 01-03-2023
AI Engineering Services 
Limited w.e.f 01-03-2023
Hotel Corporation of India 
Limited w.e.f 01-03-2023

Director
AI Airport Services Limited 
w.e.f. 02-02-2017
AI Engineering Services 
Limited w.e.f. 02-02-2017
AI Assets Holding Limited 
w.e.f 22-01-2018

Alliance Air Aviation Limited
Chairman
HR Committee 
Flight Safety Committee 

Member
Audit Committee 

AI Airport Services Limited
Chairman
Corporate Social Responsibility 
Committee 

Member
Audit Committee 

AI Engineering Services Limited
Chairman
Corporate Social Responsibility 
Committee 

Member
Audit Committee

AI Assets Holding Limited
Chairman
Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee

Member
Audit Committee
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Name of the Director Details of Directorships 
held in other Companies 

excluding AAAL

Memberships held in Committees 
as on 31st March, 2024

Shri Asangba Chuba Ao
Joint Secretary, DT 
Division, Ministry of Civil 
Aviation

Director & Chairman 
(Director w.e.f  
18-01-2023 till date & 
Chairman w.e.f  
29-02-2024 to  
11-03-2025)

Chairman & Managing 
Director
AI Assets Holding Limited 
w.e.f 01-01-2024

Chairman
AI Airport Services Limited 
w.e.f 01-01-2024
AI Engineering Services 
Limited w.e.f 01-01-2024
Hotel Corporation of India 
Limited w.e.f 05-03-2024

Director
Rohini Heliport Limited
Pawan Hans Limited
AI Assets Holding Limited 
AI Airport Services Limited
AI Engineering Services 
Limited

Alliance Air Aviation Limited
Chairman
Audit Committee till 28.02.2024
HR Committee w.e.f. 29.02.2024
Flight Safety Committee w.e.f. 
29.02.2024

Member
Audit Committee w.e.f. 29.02.2024
HR Committee till 28.02.2024
Flight Safety Committee till 
28.02.2024

AI Airport Services Limited
Chairman
Corporate Social Responsibility 
Committee 

Member
Audit Committee

AI Engineering Services Limited
Chairman
Corporate Social Responsibility 
Committee 

Member
Audit Committee

AI Assets Holding Limited
Member
Stakeholder Relationship Committee 
& Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee

Pawan Hans Ltd
Member
Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee 
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Name of the Director Details of Directorships 
held in other Companies 

excluding AAAL

Memberships held in Committees 
as on 31st March, 2024

Shri Pranjol Chandra
Director, Ministry of Civil 
Aviation

Director
(Appointed as Director 
w.e.f 11-02-2022)

Director
Hotel Corporation of India Ltd.
(HCI)

Alliance Air Aviation Limited
Chairman
Audit Committee w.e.f 29.02.2024

Member
Audit Committee till 29.02.2024
HR Committee
Flight Safety Committee

Hotel Corporation of India Ltd
Member
Audit Committee

Shri Brajesh Kumar 
Srivastava
Deputy Secretary, 
Ministry of Civil Aviation

Director
(from 18-01-2023 to  
28-03-2025)

Director
Hotel Corporation of India 
Limited (HCI) 

Alliance Air Aviation Limited
Member
Audit Committee 
HR Committee 
Flight Safety Committee 

Hotel Corporation of India Ltd
Member
Audit Committee 

Smt. Nayonika Dutta
Joint Director, Ministry 
of Civil Aviation

Director
(from 12-02-2024 to  
till date)

Director
AI Engineering Services 
Limited
AI Airport Services Limited

Alliance Air Aviation Limited
Member
Audit Committee 
HR Committee 
Flight Safety Committee

4.	 CODE OF CONDUCT

	 In terms of requirements of DPE guidelines on Corporate Governance for CPSEs, the Board 
has adopted Code of Conduct for the Directors and Senior Management. There is a system of 
affirming compliance with the Code by the Board Members and Senior Management Personnel of 
the Company. A declaration of compliance signed by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company 
is enclosed with the Report.

5.	 AUDIT COMMITTEE

	 As part of the Corporate Governance process and in compliance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and DPE Guidelines, the Audit Committee of the Board has been constituted.
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	 As on 31st March, 2024, the following were the members of the Audit Committee:	

	 Shri Pranjol Chandra	 Chairman

	 Shri Asangba Chuba Ao 	 Member

	 Shri Brajesh Kumar Srivastava 	 Member

	 Smt. Nayonika Dutta 	 Member

	 The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are:

	 •	 To recommend for appointment, remuneration and terms of appointment of auditors of the 
Company;

	 •	 To review and monitor the auditor’s independence and performance and effectiveness of 
audit process;

	 •	 To review the Internal Audit program & ensure co-ordination between the Internal & External 
Auditors as well as determine whether the Internal Audit function is commensurate with the 
size and nature of the Company’s Business;

	 •	 To discuss with the Auditor before the audit commences the nature & scope of the audit;

	 •	 To examine the Financial Statements and the Auditors’ Report thereon;

	 •	 To review the Statutory Auditor’s Report, Management’s response thereto and to take steps 
to ensure implementation of the recommendations of the Statutory Auditors;

	 •	 Approval or any subsequent modification of transactions of the Company with related 
parties;

	 •	 Scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments;

	 •	 Valuation of undertakings or assets of the Company, wherever it is necessary;

	 •	 Evaluation of internal financial controls and risk management systems;

	 •	 Monitoring the end use of funds raised through public offers and related matters;

	 •	 To consider any other matter as desired by the Board.

	 The Audit Committee met five times during the year to review various issues including inter- alia 
Annual Accounts of the Company for the year before submission to the Board, on the following 
dates:

	 14th June, 2023 (31st Meeting)

	 23rd August, 2023 (32nd Meeting)

	 22nd September, 2023 (33rd Meeting)

	 15th January, 2024 (34th Meeting)

	 22nd March, 2024 (35th Meeting)
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	 Attendance at the Audit Committee Meetings:

Name of the Member No. of meetings attended
Shri Satyendra Kumar Mishra 3*
Shri Asangba Chuba Ao 5
Shri Pranjol Chandra 5
Shri Brajesh Kumar Srivastava 5
Smt. Nayonika Dutta 1**

	 *Eligible for attending three meetings only.

	 **Eligible for attending one meeting only.

6.	 GENERAL MEETINGS DURING THE LAST THREE YEARS

	 The details of General Meetings of the Company, held during the last three financial years are 
given below:

AGM/EGM Date and time of the Meeting Venue
38th Annual General 

Meeting
12th November, 2021 

At 1130 Hours
Alliance Bhawan,  

Domestic Terminal-I, IGI Airport, 
New Delhi-110037

Extra Ordinary General 
Meeting

27thJanuary, 2022
At 12 Noon

Alliance Bhawan,  
Domestic Terminal-I, IGI Airport, 

New Delhi-110037
39th Annual General 

Meeting
30th December, 2022

At 1100 Hours
Alliance Bhawan,  

Domestic Terminal-I, IGI Airport, 
New Delhi-110037

40th Annual General 
Meeting

22nd September, 2023
At 1315 Hours

Alliance Bhawan,  
Domestic Terminal-I, IGI Airport, 

New Delhi-110037

	 M/s Link Intime India Pvt Ltd having its address at C 101, 247 Park, L B S Marg, Vikhroli West, 
Mumbai 400083, is the Registrar and Transfer Agent (RTA) of the Company.

7.	 DISCLOSURES AND STATUTORY COMPLIANCES 

	 Adequate Disclosures pertaining to Director’s interest, related party transactions, maintenance 
of statutory registers have been taken and placed periodically before the Board of Directors 
to take informed decisions, with the Board following a clear policy of specific delegation and 
authorization of designated officers to handle the business matters. MCA Filings with respect to 
disclosures, intimations, allotments and appointments have been made in a time bound manner 
with no pending matters. The Company, based on self-evaluation, falls under ‘Excellent’ grade for 
the compliance of DPE Corporate Governance Guidelines for proceeding three financial years 
2021-22, 2022-23 and 2023-24.

8.	 CEO/CFO DECLARATION

	 The Chief Executive Officer, Dy. Chief Financial Officer(o)* and Manager Finance* have certified 
in writing with respect to the truth and fairness of the financial statements, due compliances, and 
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financial reporting which was placed before the Board and Audit Committee and forms part of this 
report.

	 *(in the absence of CFO).

9.	 CERTIFICATE FOR COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES 

	 This Report duly complies with the legal requirements in respect of data that should be disclosed 
in a Corporate Governance Report for FY 2023–24. 

	 The Certificate obtained from a Practising Company Secretary regarding the compliance of the 
conditions on Corporate Governance forms part of this report.

For and on behalf of the Board

Sd/-
Amit Kumar

Chairman
Place: New Delhi
Date : 25-07-2025
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DECLARATION

I hereby declare that all the Board Members & Senior Management Personnel have affirmed compliance 
with the Code of Conduct as adopted by the Board of Directors for the year ended 31st March, 2024.

Sd/-
Rajarshi Sen

Chief Executive Officer
Alliance Air Aviation Limited

Place: New Delhi
Date : 25-07-2025

CODE OF CONDUCT
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To,
The Board of Directors,
Alliance Air Aviation Limited,

We, Rambabu Ch., Chief Executive Officer, Nitish Bhardwaj, Deputy CFO(o)* and Gurvinder Singh, 
Manager Finance* of Alliance Air Aviation Limited (hereinafter “the Company”), do hereby certify that:

1.	 We have reviewed the financial statements for the year and that to the best of our knowledge and 
belief:

	 a)	 these statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact 
or contain statements that might be misleading;

	 b)	 these statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of 
the results of operations and cash flows. The financial statements have been prepared 
in conformity, in all material respects, with the existing generally accepted accounting 
principles including Accounting Standards, applicable laws and regulations.

2.	 There are, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company 
during the year which are fraudulent, illegal or violative of the Company’s code of conduct.

3.	 We accept overall responsibility for the Company’s internal control system for financial reporting. 
This is monitored by the internal audit function, which encompasses the examination and 
evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness. Internal audit works with all levels of management 
and statutory auditors, and reports significant issues to the Audit Committee of the Board of 
Directors. 

	 The Auditors and Audit Committee are apprised of any corrective action taken with regard to 
significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

4.	 We indicate to the Auditors and to the Audit Committee:

	 a)	 Significant changes in internal control over financial reporting during the year;

	 b)	 Significant changes in accounting policies during the year;

5.	 We further declare that all Board Members and Senior Managerial Personnel have affirmed 
compliance with the code of conduct during the year ended 31st March 2024.

	 *(in the absence of CFO).

For Alliance Air Aviation Limited

	 Sd/-	 Sd/-	 Sd/-
	 Rambabu Ch.	 Nitish Bhardwaj	 Gurvinder Singh
	 Chief Executive Officer	 Deputy CFO(o)	 Manager Finance
	 PAN: AGVPC9371P	 PAN: AVVPB 1799H	 PAN: BCZPS0947L
Place: New Delhi
Date: 16-01-2025

DECLARATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  
& CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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CERTIFICATE ON COMPLIANCE OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AS PER CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCGUIDELINES ISSUED BY DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC ENTERPRISES FOR THE 
YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2024	

To
The Members
Alliance Air Aviation Limited
CIN: U51101DL1983GOI016518
Alliance Bhawan Domestic Terminal-1,
IGI Airport, New Delhi-110037

We have examined the relevant books, records and statements in connection to the compliance 
with the conditions of Corporate Governance of Alliance Air Aviation Limited, (hereinafter referred 
as the ‘Company’), for the year ended on 31st March, 2024 as stipulated in “Guidelines on Corporate 
Governance Norms for Central Public Sector Enterprises, as enunciated by the Department of Public 
Enterprises (DPE).

The compliance of the conditions of the Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the Management. 
Our examination was limited to procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for 
ensuring the complianceof the conditions of Corporate Governance as laid down in the guidelines. Our 
report/certification is neither an audit nor an expression of the opinion on the financial statements of 
the Company.

On the basis of our examination of the records produced, explanation and information furnished by the 
management of the Company, we certify that the Company has complied with the mandatory conditions 
of the Guidelines on Corporate Governance for Central Public Sector Enterprises (CPSEs),2010 
except that during the period 01-04-2023 to 11-02-2024, the company did not have a women director 
as required under the second proviso of Section 149(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 3 
of Companies (Appointment and Qualification of Directors) Rules, 2014. However, w.e.f. 12-02-2024, 
Ms.Nayonika Dutta was appointed on the Board of Directors of the Company.

We further state that such compliance is neither an assurance as to the future viability of the Company 
nor the efficiency of the effectiveness with the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

For T. Chatterjee & Associates 
Company Secretaries 

FRN No.- P2007WB067100

Sd/-
CS Sumana Subhash Mitra

Partner
ACS:43291

COP: 22915
UDIN:A043291G000862474
Peer Review No. 908/2020

Place: New Delhi
Date: 25-07-2025
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Form No. AOC-2(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 
8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the Company 
with related parties referred to in sub-section (1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 
including certain arm’s length transactions under third proviso thereto

1.	 Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis:

	 There were no contracts or arrangements or transactions entered during the year ended 31st 
March 2024, which were not at arm’s length basis.

2.	 Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm’s length basis.

	 All contracts /arrangements/transactions entered by the Company with related parties under 
Section 188(1) of the Act during the financial year 2023-24 were on an arm’s length basis, in the 
ordinary course of business which were duly approved in the 181st Board Meeting held on 14th 

June, 2023. The details of contacts or arrangements or transactions at arm’s length basis are as 
follows

Name of Related 
Party and Nature of 

Relation

Nature of 
Transaction

Duration of 
transaction

Salient 
Terms of 

Transaction

(Amount in 
Rs. Crore)

AI Assets Holding 
Limited (AIAHL)
(Holding Company)

Expenditure 1st April 2023 - 
31st March 2024

Expenditure
 Space Charges 0.28
 Interest 241.21
Total 241.49

AI Engineering 
Services Ltd (AIESL)

(Subsidiary of AI 
Assets Holding 
Limited)

Expenditure 1st April 2023 - 
31st March 2024

Expenditure
Repair Other 56.65
Manpower 1.08
Interest 21.08
Total 78.81

AI Airport Services Ltd.
(AIASL) 

(Subsidiary of AI 
Assets Holding 
Limited)

Expenditure 1st April 2023 - 
31st March 2024

Expenditure
Handling Charges 31.27
Interest 11.50
Total 42.77
Income Income

SOD, Logo & Penalty 
raised by AAAL

0.44

Total 0.44

Annexure B to Directors’ Report for the year 2023-24
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Hotel Corporation of 
India Limited 
(Subsidiary of AI 
Assets Holding 
Limited)

Expenditure 1st April 2023-
31st March 2024

Expenditure
Hotel Accommodation 0.35

Total 0.35
Income Income
Logo Usage 0.007
Total 0.007

For and on behalf of the Board

Sd/-
Amit Kumar

Chairman
Place: New Delhi
Date: 25-07-2025
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COMMENTS OF THE COMPTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL OF INDIA UNDER SECTION 
143(6)(b) OF THE COMPANIES ACT, 2013 ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF ALLIANCE AIR 
AVIATION LIMITED(AAAL) FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

The preparation of Financial Statements of Alliance Air Aviation Limited(AAAL) for the year ended 
31 March 2024 in accordance with the financial reporting framework prescribed under the Companies 
Act, 2013 (Act) is the responsibility of the management of the company. The statutory auditor appointed 
by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India under section 139(5) of the Act is responsible for 
expressing opinion on the financial statement under section 143 of the Act based on independent 
audit in accordance with the standards on auditing prescribed under section 143(10) of the Act. This is 
stated to have been done by them vide their Audit Report dated 16 January 2025.

I, on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General of India, have conducted a supplementary audit 
of the financial statement of Alliance Air Aviation Limited (AAAL) for the year ended 31 March 
2024 under section 143(6)(a) of the Act. This supplementary audit has been carried out independently 
without access to the working papers of the statutory auditor and is limited primarily to inquiries of 
the Statutory Auditor and Company personnel and a selective examination of some of the accounting 
records. 

On the basis of my supplementary audit, nothing significant has come to my knowledge which would 
give rise to my comment upon or supplement to statutory auditor’s report under section 143(6)(b) of 
the Act.

For and on behalf of the 
Comptroller and Auditor General of India

Sd/-
(Pramod Kumar)

Addl. Dy. CAG (infrastructure)
Place: New Delhi
Date: 02 April 2025
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To the Members of ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION LIMITED

Report on the Audit of IND AS Financial Statements

Qualified Opinion:

We have audited the accompanying Ind AS financial statements of ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION 
LIMITED (“the Company” or “AAAL”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31 2024, and 
the statement of Profit and Loss, (Including other comprehensive income) for the year ended March 
31 2024, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31 
2024, and notes to the Ind AS financial statements, including material accounting policies and other 
explanatory information (“the financial statements”).

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, subject 
to the basis of our qualified opinion mentioned below, the aforesaid financial statements give the 
information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true 
and fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) specified under section 133 
of the Act read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rule, 2015, and other accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2024, and 
its Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, Changes in Equity and its Cash Flows for the year ended 
on that date.

Basis for Qualified Opinion:

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit carried out on test 
check basis, we are of the opinion that the Company has failed to establish proper internal controls over 
financial reporting on criteria based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established 
by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note 
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. Consequently, this indicates a deficiency in the overall effectiveness of the internal 
financial controls implemented by the Company during the year. The opinion has been qualified based 
on the following findings: 

a)	 In June 2024, a whistleblower complaint was filed with the Chairman regarding certain allegations 
against the erstwhile Chief Financial Officer (CFO). The whistleblower complaint revealed 
a fraudulent payment of ₹4.85 Million to an SAP vendor based on forged documents. The 
same was confirmed by the internal auditor’s verification report dated 11.07.2024. An internal 
committee was constituted vide Office Order No. dated 10.06.2024 to investigate the matter. The 
committee submitted its report to the CEO and subsequently to the Chairman on 15th July 2024 
as well as to the vigilance department. This indicates deficiencies in the Company’s controls 
over vendor payment authenticity and procurement processes. Additionally Whistleblower has 
also complained that Company has paid higher remuneration amounting to Rs.0.2 Millions to the 
erstwhile CFO of the Company for a period of 3 months effective from the month of January 2024 
to March 2024. This excess remuneration was later on not approved by the Board of Directors. 
Accordingly, the amount has been shown as recoverable from the CFO in the books of accounts. 
We have been informed by the Company that an internal committee investigated the matter 
and submitted their report to the Vigilance department which is further investigating this matter. 
This indicates a material weakness in the Company’s HR controls and approval processes for 
remuneration. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
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b)	 Internal control weaknesses regarding the maintenance and recording of the inventory:

	 i.	 AAAL used Air India’s MMD module (RAMCO) for inventory management until the 
disinvestment of Air India. Post disinvestment from Air India Ltd, AAAL migrated to own 
inventory system Laminar from 18th May 2022 onwards. Inventory balances from RAMCO 
as of March 31 2022 were transferred to Laminar. Purchases and consumption entries from 
2022-23 (up to September 2022) were interfaced to AAAL’s SAP system since there was 
direct interface between RAMCO and SAP.

	 ii.	 Inventory was previously managed based on weighted average but switched to FIFO from 
2023-24 onwards, subject to approval by competent authority on post-facto basis. Pursuant 
to a technical glitch in the MMD System (LAMINAAR) the system could not correlate ROE 
(Rate of Exchange) of USD value of the spare, due to which the actual INR figure could 
not be portrayed in the LAMINAAR system. Adjustments have been made in SAP to reflect 
accurate INR figures, impacting financial statements by Rs 10.00 million in 2023-24.

	 iii.	 AAAL conducted physical verification of inventory as on March 31 2024, using Laminaar 
system records. Discrepancies in physical stock led to a provision of Rs 170.07 million in 
the financial statements for FY 2023-24. A shortage of Rs 170.07 million was identified, 
prompting the formation of a committee to investigate causes. Company has planned to 
appoint an independent auditor to review the committee’s findings, and necessary accounting 
actions will be taken in FY 2024-25 based on the report after arriving at final conclusion. 
There was an existing provision for shortage in inventory created during the year 2021-22 
which was made subject to assessment of actual loss by the company. 

		  There is no progress in assessment of actual loss by the Company incurred on account 
of shortages observed during the year 2021-22. Hence the provision for expected losses 
on account of shortages reported in physical verification is still existing in the Financial 
Statements in absence of approval of actual loss from the competent authority. 

	 iv.	 AAAL has plotted all the inventory purchased since inception in Laminaar and after 
considering the actual ROE, the month wise purchase and consumption has been arrived at, 
the net effect of which is Rs. 10.00 million pertaining to FY 22-23 which has been accounted 
as purchase in the FY 23-24. Since the amount is within the threshold limits of materiality as 
per the accounting policy of the company, hence the previous year accounts have not been 
restated. During the FY 23-24 there was No interface between SAP and LAMINAAR which 
is still pending to be implemented. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (“SAs”) specified under 
section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the audit of the standalone financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of 
the standalone financial statements under the provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code 
of Ethics. However, as per the audit evidence obtained and by us and based on the test checks 
performed, the possible effects on the financial statements of undetected misstatements, if any could 
be material but not pervasive. 

Emphasis of Matter:

1.	 We invite attention to Note No. 41 to the financial statements, wherein the Company addresses its 
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use of the going concern basis for the preparation of its financial statements. The Company has 
incurred net loss of Rs. 5,665.73 million in the previous financial year and has continued incurring 
losses amounting to Rs. 6,210.20 million in the current financial year ended March 31, 2024, and 
that the net worth of the company being fully eroded as of the year-end date, thereby giving rise 
to significant uncertainty regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

	 However, the Company has received financial support from its holding company, AI Assets Holding 
Limited, in the form of an equity infusion of Rs. 6000 million during the current financial year. This 
assistance, combined with other factors detailed in the note, mitigates the uncertainty regarding 
the going concern assumption. Therefore, the financial statements have been prepared on the 
going concern basis as determined by management.

2.	 We invite attention to note 33(a) wherein the company has stated that “A fire took place in 
CAMO office of AAAL on date 23rd April 2024 due to short circuit. The premises were on lease 
and temporary structure in form of work station had been inherited from Air India. The assets 
consisting of Computer System were destroyed in fire with book value of approx. Rs. 0.07 million. 
The necessary accounting for the same will be affected in FY 2024-25.”

Our Opinion on the financial statements is not modified with respect of the above matters.

Information other than the Ind AS Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report thereon:

The Company’s management and Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, but does not include the Ind 
AS financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. The company’s annual report is expected to 
be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report. 

Our opinion on the Ind AS financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Ind AS financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the Ind AS financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are 
required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate action as 
applicable under the relevant laws and regulations. We have not been provided annual report as on 
the date of signing the audit report.

When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we will 
communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Management and Board of Director’s Responsibilities for the Ind AS Financial Statements:

The Company’s Board of Directors are responsible for the matters stated in section 134(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these Ind AS financial statements 
that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, statement of changes in 
equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted 
in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under Section 133 of the Act.

This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and 
detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; 
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making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of 
the financial statement that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the Ind AS financial statements, the Management is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless Management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Ind AS Financial Statements:

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Ind AS financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

1.	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.

2.	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)(i) of the Companies Act, 2013, we 
are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the company has adequate internal 
financial controls system in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

3.	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by Management.

4.	 Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the Ind AS financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

5.	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the Ind AS financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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	 Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the standalone financial statements that, 
individually or in aggregate, make it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably 
knowledgeable user of the standalone financial statements may be influenced. We consider 
quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in:

	 (i)	 planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and

	 (ii)	 to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the standalone financial statements.

	 We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

	 We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 

Other Matters:

The financial statements of the Company for the previous period from 1st April, 2022 to 31st March, 
2023 were audited by the erstwhile statutory auditors and they have issued their audit report with 
unmodified opinion dated 14th June 2023. Accordingly, the figures and disclosures pertaining to the 
period from 1st April, 2022 to 31st March, 2023 included in these financial statements are based on the 
audited financial results and disclosures as certified by the erstwhile statutory auditors in their audit 
report dated14th June 2023.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements:

1.	 As required by the Companies (Auditors’ Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central 
Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the Companies Act, 2013, 
we give in the “Annexure A” a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the 
Order, to the extent applicable. 

2.	 We are enclosing our report in terms of Section 143(5) of the Act, on the basis of such checks 
of the books and records of the Company as we considered appropriate and according to 
the information and explanations given to us, in the “Annexure B”, on the directions and sub 
directions issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General of India.

3.	 A.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that: 
		  1.	 We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best 

of our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 
		  2.	 In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept by the 

Company so far as it appears from our examination of those books and the company 
has maintained daily backup of such books in electronic mode, in a server physically 
located in India except for the matters stated in the paragraph 3B(f) below on reporting 
under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

		  3.	 The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit and Loss (Including Other Comprehensive 
Income), Statement of changes in equity and the Cash Flow Statement dealt with by 
this Report are in agreement with the books of accounts.

		  4.	 In our opinion, the aforesaid Ind AS financial statements comply with the Indian 
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Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under Section 133 of the Act, read with Rule 
7 of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014. 

		  5.	 On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 
2024 taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as 
on March 31, 2024 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of 
the Act. 

		  6.	 The modifications relating to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected 
therewith are as stated in the paragraph 3A(2) above on reporting under Section 
143(3)(b) of the Act and paragraph 2B(f) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

		  7.	 The provisions of Section 197 read with Schedule V of Companies Act 2013 relating 
to Managerial Remuneration are not applicable to the Company, being a Government 
Company in terms of MCA Notification no. G.S.R. 463(E) dated 5th June, 2015.

		  8.	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls over financial reporting 
of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our separate 
Report in “Annexure C”.

	 B	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditors’ Report in accordance with 
Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best 
of our information and according to the explanations given to us: 

		  a.	 The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position in 
its Ind AS financial statements – Refer Note 29 on contingent liabilities to the financial 
statements.

		  b.	 The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts for 
which there were any material foreseeable losses.

		  c.	 There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor Education 
and Protection Fund by the Company.

		  d.	 (i)	 The Management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as 
disclosed in the notes to the accounts, no funds have been advanced or loaned 
or invested (either from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources 
or kind of funds) by the Company to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), 
including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether 
recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall,

	 	 	 	 •	 Directly or indirectly lend or invest in other persons or entities identified 
in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company (“Ultimate 
Beneficiaries”) or 

	 	 	 	 •	 Provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate 
Beneficiaries.

			   (ii)	 The Management has represented, that, to the best of it’s knowledge and belief, 
as disclosed in the notes to accounts, no funds have been received by the 
Company from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Funding 
Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, 
that the Company shall, directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons or 
entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding Party 
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(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf 
of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

			   (iii)	 Based on the audit procedures that has been considered reasonable and 
appropriate in the circumstances, nothing has come to our notice that has caused 
us to believe that the representations under sub clause (i) and (ii) of Rule 11(e), 
as provided under d (i) and (ii) above, contain any material misstatement. 

		  e.	 The Company has not declared any dividend during the current financial year ended 
March 31, 2024.

		  f.	 Proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014 for maintaining books 
of account using accounting software which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit 
log) facility is applicable to the Company with effect from April 1, 2023. Based on our 
examination which included test checks and in accordance with requirements of the 
Implementation Guide on Reporting on Audit Trail under Rule 11(g) of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, except for the instances mentioned below, the 
Company has used accounting softwares for maintaining its books of account, which 
have a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the respective softwares:

			   (i)	 The feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility was not enabled at the 
database layer to log any direct data changes for the accounting software used 
by the company.

			   (ii)	 We are unable to comment if the audit trail (edit log) facility was enabled at the 
database layer to log any direct data changes for those softwares operated by a 
third party service provider and used for maintaining purchase orders in absence 
of independent auditor’s report in relation to controls at the third party service 
provider.

			   (iii)	 Further, where audit trail (edit log) facility was enabled and operated throughout 
the year, we did not come across any instance of audit trail feature being tampered 
with during the course of our audit.

			   (iv)	 The company uses software called Laminaar (MMD Software) in which data 
is extracted and uploaded in the SAP Accounting software for recording the 
consumption in books of accounts. The same is being done manually and that 
there is no direct interface between these two softwares. Hence the audit trail is 
limited to the extent the data is uploaded in SAP Software

For Batliboi & Purohit,
Chartered Accountants
Firm Reg. No.:101048W

Sd/-
CA RAMAN HANGEKAR
Partner
Membership No. 30615
UDIN: 25030615BMOCNZ3297 

Place: Mumbai	
Date: 16-01-2025
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The Annexure A referred to in Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of the Company on 
the Ind AS financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024, we report that:

Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on other legal and regulatory requirements’ section of our 
report of even date to the members of ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION LIMITED.

To the best of our information and according to the explanations provided to us by the Company and 
the books of accounts and the records examined by us in the normal course of audit, we state that: 

(i)	 a)	 A)	 The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars, including 
quantitative details and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment and relevant details 
of right-of use assets. 

		  B)	 The Company has maintained proper records showing full particulars of intangible 
assets.

	 b)	 The Company conducts physical verification of the Property, Plant and Equipment on 
biennial basis. The physical verification of the property, plant and equipment was conducted 
in FY 2021-22. The company has conducted physical verification of the property, plant and 
equipment for the FY 2023-24 subsequent to the Financial Year but before the audit report 
is finalised.

	 c)	 According to the information and explanation given to us and on the basis of our examination 
of the records of the company, the company does not hold any immovable property. Hence 
the provisions of clause 3 (i) (c) of the order is not applicable to the company. 

	 d)	 No proceedings have been initiated or are pending against the Company as at March 31, 
2024 for holding any benami property under the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 
1988 (45 of1988) (as amended in 2016) and rules made thereunder.

(ii)	 a)	 The physical verification of inventories is done on biennial basis. During the FY 2023-24, 
inventories at Delhi, Kolkata and Hyderabad were verified by the management along with 
the Internal auditors of the company.

	 b)	 The total discrepancies observed were more than 10 percent in value, however the same 
have been properly dealt with in books of accounts. The shortages in inventory have been 
booked under consumption and Provision to that extent is created in the books of account. 
The same has been created based on the initial findings and pending investigation to be 
conducted by the management. Pending approval from the Competent Authority, a net 
provision amounting to Rs. 170.07 million, over and above the existing provision of Rs. 
46.99 million (For FY 21-22) has been created in the current financial year for the shortages 
and that the same have been dealt properly. There is no progress in assessment of actual 
loss by the Company incurred on account of shortages observed during FY 2021-22. Hence 
the provision for expected losses on account of shortages reported in physical verification 
is still existing in the Financial Statements in absence of approval of actual loss from the 
competent authority. We state that we have not received any report for assessment of actual 
loss from the company for the shortages identified in the previous verifications. (Refer note 
no. 30 (b) forming part of Financial Statements).

Annexure “A” to the Independent Auditors’ Report
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	 c)	 The Company has not been sanctioned any working capital limits, from any banks or 
financial institutions on the basis of security of current assets. Accordingly, the provisions of 
clause 3(ii)(b) of the order is not applicable to the Company.

(iii)	 The Company has not made any investments, provided guarantee or security or granted any 
advances in the nature of loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, limited liability 
partnerships or any other parties during the year. Accordingly, the provisions of clause 3 (iii) (a) 
to (f) of the order are not applicable to the Company. 

(iv)	 There are no loans, investments and guarantees and security in respect of which provisions of 
sec 185 and 186 of the Companies Act,2013 are applicable and accordingly, the requirement to 
report on clause 3 (iv) of the order is not applicable to the company. 

(v)	 The Company has neither accepted any deposits from the public nor accepted any amounts 
which are deemed to be deposits within the meaning of sections 73 to 76 of the Companies Act 
and the rules made thereunder, to the extent applicable. Accordingly, the requirement to report 
on clause 3(v) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(vi)	 The Central Government has not prescribed the maintenance of cost records under section 
148(1) of the Companies Act, 2013, for the services rendered by the Company. 

(vii)	 a)	 The Company is generally regular in depositing the undisputed statutory dues, including 
Goods and Service Tax, Employees’ State Insurance, Income Tax, Duty of Customs, Cess 
and other statutory dues with appropriate authorities except TDS under Income Tax Act and 
TDS under GST Act.

		  Tax deducted at source (Under Income Tax Act and Goods and Service Tax Act) has not 
been deposited regularly. Under the Income Tax Act, An amount of Rs. 225.56 million for 
the months of July to November 2022 and Rs.168.82 for the month of April -23 to July 23 is 
outstanding for more than 6 months as on March 31, 2024, Whereas in case of Goods and 
Service Tax Act, Rs 2.39 million is outstanding for more than 6 months.

	 b)	 The details of statutory dues referred to in sub clause (a) above which have not been 
deposited as at March 31, 2024 on account of any dispute, are as follows: 

Name of the Statute Nature of 
the dues

Amount (Rs. 
In Million)

Period Forum where dispute 
is pending

Income Tax Act, 1961 Income Tax 22.57 AY 2000-01 ITAT, New Delhi
Income Tax Act, 1961 Income Tax 28.04 AY 2004-05 ITAT, New Delhi
Income Tax Act, 1961 Income Tax 766.86 AY 2022-23 CIT-Appeal (National 

Face less Assessment)

(viii)	 The Company has not surrendered or disclosed any transactions, previously unrecorded as 
income in the books of account, in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 1961 as 
income during the year.

(ix)	 a)	 The company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the payment 
of interest thereon to any lender. However, with respect to total loans amounting to Rs. 
26,753.98 million availed from holding company AI Assets Holding Ltd., the terms and 
conditions and schedule of repayment thereon have not been stipulated and accordingly 
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we are unable to comment on the default in repayment of such loans. Pending terms and 
conditions of repayment, this advance has been accounted as short-term borrowing.

	 b)	 The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial institution or 
other lender.

	 c)	 No term loans have been taken by the Company. Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(ix)
(c) of the order is not applicable to the Company.

	 d)	 The company have not utilized funds raised on short term basis for long term purpose. 
Therefore, provisions of the clause 3 (ix) (d) are not applicable to the company.

	 e)	 The Company has not taken any funds from any entity or person on account of or to meet 
the obligations of its subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures. Therefore, the provisions of 
clause 3 (ix) (e) are not applicable to the company.

	 f)	 The Company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of securities held in its 
subsidiaries, joint ventures or associate companies. 

(x)	 a)	 No moneys have been raised by way of initial public offer during the year by the Company. 
During the Year company has made right Issue of Equity Shares of 6,00,00,000 number 
of equity shares @100 having face value of Rs. 100/- each under the right issue scheme. 
Consequently, the issued & paid-up share capital of the Company stands increased to Rs. 
10,022.50 million and the proceeds of Right issue has been used for the purpose for which 
they have been raised.

	 b)	 The Company has not made any preferential allotment or private placement of shares or 
convertible debentures (fully, partially or optionally convertible) during the year. 

(xi)	 a)	 During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company, carried 
out in accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India and according 
to the information and explanation given to us and based on the complaint made by the 
whistleblower we would like to state that there might be instances of material fraud on the 
Company by its officers or employees noticed or reported during the year. Since the matters 
highlighted by the whistleblower are subjudice and under investigation, hence the actual 
fraud and its impact on the financial statements would be known upon conclusion of the 
investigation by the vigilance department.

	 b)	 During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company, carried out 
in accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India and according to the 
information and explanation given to us, a report under section 143(12) of the Act, in Form 
ADT-4 as prescribed under rule 13 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 was 
not required to be filed with the Central Government.

	 c)	 No whistleblower complaints were received by the Company during the year, but there was 
a complaint received post balance sheet date which highlighted several material instances 
of breaches of internal controls and override of the internal controls by officers of the 
Company, which are under investigation by the vigilance department. 

(xii)	 The Company is not a Nidhi company. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable 
to the company.
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(xiii)	 All the transactions with the related parties are in compliance with sections 177 and 188 of the Act, 
where applicable and details of such transactions have been disclosed in the financial statements 
as required under accounting standards as prescribed under section 133 of the Companies Act, 
2013.

(xiv)	 (a)	 The Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size and nature of its 
business, but the same needs to be strengthened due to the various lapses highlighted by 
the whistleblower

	 (b)	 We have considered the internal audit reports of the Company issued till date for the period 
under audit.

(xv)	 The Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with directors or persons connected 
with director. Accordingly, paragraph 3(xv) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

(xvi)	 a)	 The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of 
India Act, 1934. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(a) and (b) of the Order is not applicable.

	 b)	 The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations made 
by the Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(c) of the Order is not applicable.

	 c)	 The Group does not have any CIC. Accordingly, the requirements of clause 3(xvi)(d) are not 
applicable.

(xvii)	The Company has incurred cash losses in the current Financial Year as well as in the immediately 
preceding Financial Year which are specified as below:	

Particulars (In millions) Current Year Previous Year
Net Profit after Tax and before Other Comprehensive 
Income

(6210.20) (5665.73)

Add: Non-cash expenses:
a)	 Depreciation and amortization 2729.07 2617.77
b)	 Unrealized gain/ loss on foreign exchange (138.42) (285.88)
Cash Loss during the year (3619.55) (3333.84)

(xviii)	There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year and accordingly clause 
3(xviii) of the order is not applicable. 

(xix)	 On the basis of financial ratios, ageing and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and 
payment of financial liabilities, other information accompanying the financial statements, and 
our knowledge of the Board of Directors and management plans supported by the Government 
of India, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to believe that material uncertainty 
exists as on the date of the audit report indicating that the company is not capable of meeting 
its liabilities existing at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of 
one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to the 
future viability of the Company. We further state that our reporting is based on the facts up to the 
date of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities 
falling due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date, will get discharged by the 
Company as and when they fall due.
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(xx)	 a)	 In view of continuous losses incurred by the Company, the provisions of Section 135 are 
not applicable to the Company, accordingly the provisions of clause 3 (xx)(a) and (b) of the 
order are also not applicable to the Company. 

(xxi) The company is not required to prepare consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the 
provisions of clause 3 (xxi) of the order are not applicable to the company. 

For Batliboi & Purohit,
Chartered Accountants
Firm Reg. No.:101048W

Sd/-
CA RAMAN HANGEKAR
Partner
Membership No. 30615
UDIN: 25030615BMOCNZ3297 

Place: Mumbai	
Date: 16-01-2025
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Referred to in paragraph 2 under “Report on other legal and Regulatory requirement section of 
our report of even date to the members of Alliance Air Aviation Ltd on the Financial Statements 
for the year ended March 31 2024:

Sr. 
No

Direction u/s 143(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013

Auditor’s Reply on Action taken on 
the directions

Impact on 
Financials

1 Whether the company has system in 
place to process all the accounting 
transactions through IT system? If 
yes, the implications of processing 
of accounting transactions outside IT 
system on the integrity of the accounts 
along with the financial implications, if 
any, may be stated.

The Company has system in place to 
process all accounting transactions 
through IT System i.e., SAP (Systems 
Applications and Products in data 
processing).

1.	 As per note no.30(b) read with 32 of 
the notes to accounts, the system is 
having a technical glitch which has 
eventually resulted into shortage in 
inventory being booked. The matter 
is subject to investigation. However, 
till then the provision to that extent 
is being created in the books for the 
current year since actual reason 
for shortage is pending to be 
investigated. Upon the conclusion 
of the investigation, there might be 
additional provision or write back of 
provision in the consumption.

2.	 We invite attention to note no.33 (b) 
of the financial statements where 
the Company has stated that there 
has been payment made to SAP 
vendor and excess remuneration 
paid to CFO respectively pursuant 
to complaint raised by the 
whistleblower. Both the matters 
are under investigation by the 
vigilance department. The excess 
remuneration paid to the CFO has 
been shown as recoverable from 
him.

NIL

Annexure - B to the Independent Auditors’ Report
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Sr. 
No

Direction u/s 143(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013

Auditor’s Reply on Action taken on 
the directions

Impact on 
Financials

2 Whether there is any restructuring of 
an existing loan or cases of waiver/
write off of debts/loans/interest etc. 
made by a lender to the company due 
to the company’s inability to repay 
the loan? If yes, the financial impact 
may be stated. Whether such cases 
are properly accounted for? (In case, 
lender is a Government company, 
then this direction is also applicable for 
statutory auditor of lender company).

The Company is not availing any loan 
from any bank, financial institutions or 
any other lender except the financial 
support from the Parent Company. As far 
as loan taken from the parent company is 
concerned, there is no restructuring of an 
existing loan or there is no waiver/write 
off of debts/loans/interest caused due to 
company’s inability to continue as a going 
concern.

NIL

3 Whether funds (grants/subsidy etc.) 
received /receivable for specific 
schemes from Central/State 
Government or its agencies were 
properly accounted for/utilized as per 
its term and conditions? List the cases 
of deviation.

No fund received / receivable for specific 
schemes from central / state agency 
during the year except amount received 
/ receivable under Regional Connectivity 
Schemes (RCS) and Viability Gap 
Funding (VGF) which has been properly 
accounted/ utilized for in the books of 
accounts.

NIL

For Batliboi & Purohit,
Chartered Accountants
Firm Reg. No.:101048W

Sd/-
CA RAMAN HANGEKAR
Partner
Membership No. 30615
UDIN: 25030615BMOCNZ3297 

Place: Mumbai	
Date: 16-01-2025



ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION LIMITED

68

Compliance Certificate
We have conducted the audit of accounts of Alliance Air Aviation Limited for the year ended 31st 
March, 2024 in accordance with the directions / sub-directions issued by the Comptroller & Auditor 
General of India under section 143 (5) of the Companies Act, 2013 and certify that we have complied 
with all the Directions / Sub-directions issued to us.

For Batliboi & Purohit,
Chartered Accountants
FRN: 101048W

Sd/-
CA Raman Hangekar
Partner
Membership No.: 030615
UDIN: 25030615BMOCNZ3297

Place: Mumbai
Date : 16-01-2025
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Report on the Internal Financial Controls under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)

We have audited the Internal Financial Controls over financial reporting of ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION 
LIMITED (“the Company”) as of March 31 2024, in conjunction with our audit of the Ind AS financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended on that date. 

Managements and Board of Directors Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

The Company’s Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal financial controls 
based on the internal financial controls with reference to Ind AS financial statements criteria established 
by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance 
Note. These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient conduct of its 
business, including adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention 
and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, and the 
timely preparation of reliable financial information, as required under the Act 

Auditors’ Responsibility:

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls over financial 
reporting based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note on Audit 
of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and the Standards on 
Auditing, issued by ICAI and deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 
2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both applicable to an audit of 
Internal Financial Controls and, both issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Those 
Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal financial controls 
over financial reporting was established and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all 
material respects. 

Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls system over financial reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal 
financial controls over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal financial 
controls over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and 
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system over financial reporting with 
reference to financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting:

A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of Ind AS 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company’s internal financial control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that: 

Annexure - C to the Independent Auditors’ Report
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(1)	 Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; 

(2)	 Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of Ind AS financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, 
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of Management and directors of the company; and 

(3)	 Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting:

Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls over financial reporting, including the 
possibility of collusion or improper Management override of controls, material misstatements due 
to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal 
financial control over financial reporting may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion:

According to the information and explanations given to us and based on our audit carried out on test 
check basis, we are of the opinion that the Company has failed to establish proper internal controls over 
financial reporting on criteria based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established 
by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note 
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. Consequently, a material weakness has been identified which indicates a 
deficiency in the overall effectiveness of the internal financial controls implemented by the Company 
during the year: 

a)	 The audit of internal financial controls over financial reporting and review of the whistleblowers 
complaint have identified material weaknesses in the Company’s procure-to-pay and HR 
processes. A whistleblower complaint revealed that a fraudulent payment was made to an SAP 
vendor based on forged documents, as confirmed by the internal auditor’s verification report 
dated 11.07.2024. The internal committee formed by Company to investigate the matter has 
submitted its report to CEO and the vigilance department. Also, higher remuneration amounting 
to ₹ 0.21 Million was paid to the CFO for three months (January to March 2024) without Board 
approval, with the excess amount recorded as recoverable, pending investigation by the 
vigilance department. Furthermore, the compliant also revealed that contracts were awarded by 
the CFO to certain parties on a nomination basis, deviating from Central Vigilance Commission 
guidelines. These issues highlight significant control deficiencies in the Company’s procurement 
and remuneration processes

b)	 The audit of the Company’s internal financial controls over financial reporting identified material 
weaknesses in inventory management processes, including the lack of integration between the 
LAMINAAR inventory system and the SAP accounting system, which necessitates manual data 
uploads, increasing the risk of errors. A technical glitch in LAMINAAR caused incomplete recording 
of inventory transactions in the prior year, with corrections made in the current year without 
comprehensive reconciliation. Additionally, the transition from the previous RAMCO system to 
LAMINAAR in FY 2022-23 was inadequately monitored, with delays in physical verification and 
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reconciliation of inventory. Further, significant inventory shortages amounting to ₹46.99 million 
from prior periods and an additional ₹170.07 million recorded in FY 2023-24 remain unexplained, 
with the investigation into their root causes still pending. These weaknesses reflect deficiencies 
in the Company’s controls over inventory accuracy and reconciliation processes.

The Company’s internal financial control with regard to the whistleblower complaint and inventories 
as fully explained in the ‘Basis for qualified opinion’ of our main report, were not operating effectively, 
which could result in the Company not providing for adjustments, if any, that may be required to be 
made and its consequential impact on the financial statements.

A ‘material weakness’ is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal financial control 
over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the 
company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

Qualified Opinion:

In our opinion, and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, except 
for the matters stated in the basis for qualified opinion, the Company , in all material respects, needs to 
strengthen it’s internal financial controls with reference to Ind AS financial statements and pending the 
investigation by the vigilance department we are not able to state that whether such internal financial 
controls were operating effectively as at 31 March 2024, , based on the internal financial controls with 
reference to Ind AS financial statements criteria established by the Company considering the essential 
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over 
Financial Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (the “Guidance Note”).

We have considered the material weakness identified and reported above in determining the nature, 
timing, and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the financial statements of the Company as 
at and for the year ended 31 March 2024, and the material weakness has affected our opinion on 
the financial statements of the Company and we have issued a Qualified opinion on the financial 
statements.

For Batliboi & Purohit,
Chartered Accountants
Firm Reg. No.:101048W

Sd/-
CA RAMAN HANGEKAR
Partner
Membership No. 30615
UDIN: 25030615BMOCNZ3297 

Place: Mumbai	
Date: 16-01-2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
To the Members of ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION LIMITED
Report on the Audit of IND AS Financial Statements

REPLIES to Auditor’s Report

Qualified Opinion:
We have audited the accompanying Ind AS financial statements 
of ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION LIMITED (“the Company” or 
“AAAL”), which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31 
2024, and the statement of Profit and Loss, (Including other 
comprehensive income) for the year ended March 31 2024, 
Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended March 31 2024, and notes to the Ind AS 
financial statements, including material accounting policies 
and other explanatory information (“the financial statements”).
In our opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us, subject to the basis of our 
qualified opinion mentioned below, the aforesaid financial 
statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 
2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and 
fair view in conformity with the Indian Accounting Standards 
(“Ind AS”) specified under section 133 of the Act read with the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rule, 2015, and 
other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the 
state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2024, and its 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, Changes in Equity 
and its Cash Flows for the year ended on that date.
Basis for Qualified Opinion:
According to the information and explanations given to us and 
based on our audit carried out on test check basis, we are of 
the opinion that the Company has failed to establish proper 
internal controls over financial reporting on criteria based on 
the internal control over financial reporting criteria established 
by the Company considering the essential components 
of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of 
Internal Financial Controls over Financial Reporting issued by 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. Consequently, 
this indicates a deficiency in the overall effectiveness of the 
internal financial controls implemented by the Company during 
the year. The opinion has been qualified based on the following 
findings: 
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a)	 In June 2024, a whistleblower complaint was filed with 
the Chairman regarding certain allegations against the 
erstwhile Chief Financial Officer (CFO). The whistleblower 
complaint revealed a fraudulent payment of ₹4.85 Million 
to an SAP vendor based on forged documents. The same 
was confirmed by the internal auditor’s verification report 
dated 11.07.2024. An internal committee was constituted 
vide Office Order No. dated 10.06.2024 to investigate the 
matter. The committee submitted its report to the CEO 
and subsequently to the Chairman on  15th  July 2024 
as well as to the vigilance department. This indicates 
deficiencies in the Company’s controls over vendor 
payment authenticity and procurement processes. 
Additionally Whistleblower has also complained that 
Company has paid higher remuneration amounting to 
Rs.0.2 Millions to the erstwhile CFO of the Company for 
a period of 3 months effective from the month of January 
2024 to March 2024. This excess remuneration was later 
on not approved by the Board of Directors. Accordingly, 
the amount has been shown as recoverable from the 
CFO in the books of accounts. We have been informed 
by the Company that an internal committee investigated 
the matter and submitted their report to the Vigilance 
department which is further investigating this matter. 
This indicates a material weakness in the Company’s HR 
controls and approval processes for remuneration. 

Suitable disclosure has been made 
in Note No. 33 (b)

b)	 Internal control weaknesses regarding the maintenance 
and recording of the inventory:

	 i.	 AAAL used Air India’s MMD module (RAMCO) for 
inventory management until the disinvestment of Air 
India. Post disinvestment from Air India Ltd, AAAL 
migrated to own inventory system Laminar from 
18th May 2022 onwards. Inventory balances from 
RAMCO as of March 31 2022 were transferred to 
Laminar. Purchases and consumption entries from 
2022-23 (up to September 2022) were interfaced to 
AAAL’s SAP system since there was direct interface 
between RAMCO and SAP.

Suitable disclosure has been made 
in Note No. 30 (b)
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	 ii.	 Inventory was previously managed based on 
weighted average but switched to FIFO from 2023-
24 onwards, subject to approval by competent 
authority on post-facto basis. Pursuant to a technical 
glitch in the MMD System (LAMINAAR) the system 
could not correlate ROE (Rate of Exchange) of 
USD value of the spare, due to which the actual 
INR figure could not be portrayed in the LAMINAAR 
system. Adjustments have been made in SAP to 
reflect accurate INR figures, impacting financial 
statements by Rs 10.00 million in 2023-24.

Suitable disclosure has been made 
in Note No. 30 (b)

	 iii.	 AAAL conducted physical verification of inventory as 
on March 31 2024, using Laminaar system records. 
Discrepancies in physical stock led to a provision 
of Rs 170.07 million in the financial statements for 
FY 2023-24. A shortage of Rs 170.07 million was 
identified, prompting the formation of a committee 
to investigate causes. Company has planned 
to appoint an independent auditor to review the 
committee’s findings, and necessary accounting 
actions will be taken in FY 2024-25 based on the 
report after arriving at final conclusion. There was an 
existing provision for shortage in inventory created 
during the year 2021-22 which was made subject to 
assessment of actual loss by the company. 

		  There is no progress in assessment of actual loss 
by the Company incurred on account of shortages 
observed during the year 2021-22. Hence the 
provision for expected losses on account of 
shortages reported in physical verification is still 
existing in the Financial Statements in absence of 
approval of actual loss from the competent authority.

Suitable disclosure has been made 
in Note No. 30 (b)
A Committee has been formed and 
the inventory verification report will 
be submitted to Auditors in FY 2024-
25.

	 iv.	 AAAL has plotted all the inventory purchased 
since inception in Laminaar and after considering 
the actual ROE, the month wise purchase and 
consumption has been arrived at, the net effect 
of which is Rs. 10.00 million pertaining to FY 22-
23 which has been accounted as purchase in the 
FY 23-24. Since the amount is within the threshold 
limits of materiality as per the accounting policy of 
the company, hence the previous year accounts 
have not been restated. During the FY 23-24 there 
was No interface between SAP and LAMINAAR 
which is still pending to be implemented. 

This is a statement of fact.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on 
Auditing (“SAs”) specified under section 143(10) of the Act. 
Our responsibilities under those SAs are further described in 
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the audit of the standalone 
financial statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued 
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
standalone financial statements under the provisions of the 
Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements 
and the Code of Ethics. However, as per the audit evidence 
obtained and by us and based on the test checks performed, 
the possible effects on the financial statements of undetected 
misstatements, if any could be material but not pervasive.
Emphasis of Matter:

1.	 We invite attention to Note No. 41 to the financial 
statements, wherein the Company addresses its use of 
the going concern basis for the preparation of its financial 
statements. The Company has incurred net loss of Rs. 
5,665.73 million in the previous financial year and has 
continued incurring losses amounting to Rs. 6,210.20 
million in the current financial year ended March 31, 
2024, and that the net worth of the company being fully 
eroded as of the year-end date, thereby giving rise to 
significant uncertainty regarding the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.

	 However, the Company has received financial support 
from its holding company, AI Assets Holding Limited, in 
the form of an equity infusion of Rs. 6000 million during 
the current financial year. This assistance, combined with 
other factors detailed in the note, mitigates the uncertainty 
regarding the going concern assumption. Therefore, the 
financial statements have been prepared on the going 
concern basis as determined by management.

Suitable disclosure has been made 
in Note No. 41

2.	 We invite attention to note 33(a) wherein the company 
has stated that “A fire took place in CAMO office of 
AAAL on date 23rd April 2024 due to short circuit. The 
premises were on lease and temporary structure in form 
of work station had been inherited from Air India. The 
assets consisting of Computer System were destroyed 
in fire with book value of approx. Rs. 0.07 million. The 
necessary accounting for the same will be affected in FY 
2024-25.”

Suitable disclosure has been made 
in Note No. 33 (a)
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Our Opinion on the financial statements is not modified with 
respect of the above matters.
Information other than the Ind AS Financial Statements 
and Auditors’ Report thereon:
The Company’s management and Board of Directors are 
responsible for the other information. The other information 
comprises the information included in the Annual Report, 
but does not include the Ind AS financial statements and 
our auditors’ report thereon. The company’s annual report 
is expected to be made available to us after the date of this 
auditor’s report. 
Our opinion on the Ind AS financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 
In connection with our audit of the Ind AS financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the Ind AS financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to 
communicate the matter to those charged with governance 
and take appropriate action as applicable under the relevant 
laws and regulations. We have not been provided annual 
report as on the date of signing the audit report.
When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement therein, we will communicate the matter 
to those charged with governance.
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Management and Board of Director’s Responsibilities for 
the Ind AS Financial Statements:
The Company’s Board of Directors are responsible for the 
matters stated in section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 
2013 (“the Act”) with respect to the preparation of these Ind 
AS financial statements that give a true and fair view of the 
financial position, financial performance, statement of changes 
in equity and cash flows of the Company in accordance with 
the accounting principles generally accepted in India, including 
the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) specified under 
Section 133 of the Act.
This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for 
preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; 
selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; 
making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent; and design, implementation and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls, that were operating 
effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness 
of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and 
presentation of the financial statement that give a true and fair 
view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
In preparing the Ind AS financial statements, the Management 
is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless Management either intends to liquidate the 
Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 
Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing 
the Company’s financial reporting process.
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Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Ind AS 
Financial Statements:
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the Ind AS financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

1.	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

2.	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances. Under section 143(3)
(i) of the Companies Act, 2013, we are also responsible 
for expressing our opinion on whether the company has 
adequate internal financial controls system in place and 
the operating effectiveness of such controls.

3.	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by Management.
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4.	 Conclude on the appropriateness of Management’s use of 
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ 
report to the related disclosures in the Ind AS financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

5.	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the Ind AS financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

	 Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the 
standalone financial statements that, individually or in 
aggregate, make it probable that the economic decisions 
of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the standalone 
financial statements may be influenced. We consider 
quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in:

	 (i)	 planning the scope of our audit work and in 
evaluating the results of our work; and

	 (ii)	 to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements 
in the standalone financial statements.

	 We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

	 We also provide those charged with governance with 
a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
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Other Matters:
The financial statements of the Company for the previous 
period from 1st April, 2022 to 31st March, 2023 were audited 
by the erstwhile statutory auditors and they have issued their 
audit report with unmodified opinion dated 14th June 2023. 
Accordingly, the figures and disclosures pertaining to the 
period from 1st April, 2022 to 31st March, 2023 included in these 
financial statements are based on the audited financial results 
and disclosures as certified by the erstwhile statutory auditors 
in their audit report dated14th June 2023.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements:
1.	 As required by the Companies (Auditors’ Report) Order, 

2020 (“the Order”), issued by the Central Government of 
India in terms of sub-section (11) of section 143 of the 
Companies Act, 2013, we give in the “Annexure A” a 
statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 
4 of the Order, to the extent applicable. 

2.	 We are enclosing our report in terms of Section 143(5) 
of the Act, on the basis of such checks of the books and 
records of the Company as we considered appropriate 
and according to the information and explanations given 
to us, in the “Annexure B”, on the directions and sub 
directions issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General 
of India.

3.	 A.	 As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report 
that: 

		  1.	 We have sought and obtained all the 
information and explanations which to the best 
of our knowledge and belief were necessary 
for the purposes of our audit. 

		  2.	 In our opinion, proper books of account 
as required by law have been kept by the 
Company so far as it appears from our 
examination of those books and the company 
has maintained daily backup of such books in 
electronic mode, in a server physically located 
in India except for the matters stated in the 
paragraph 3B(f) below on reporting under Rule 
11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) 
Rules, 2014.

		  3.	 The Balance Sheet, the Statement of Profit 
and Loss (Including Other Comprehensive 
Income), Statement of changes in equity and 
the Cash Flow Statement dealt with by this 
Report are in agreement with the books of 
accounts.
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		  4.	 In our opinion, the aforesaid Ind AS financial 
statements comply with the Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) specified under Section 
133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the 
Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014. 

		  5.	 On the basis of the written representations 
received from the directors as on March 
31, 2024 taken on record by the Board of 
Directors, none of the directors is disqualified 
as on March 31, 2024 from being appointed 
as a director in terms of Section 164 (2) of the 
Act. 

		  6.	 The modifications relating to the maintenance 
of accounts and other matters connected 
therewith are as stated in the paragraph 3A(2) 
above on reporting under Section 143(3)
(b) of the Act and paragraph 2B(f) below on 
reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014.

		  7.	 The provisions of Section 197 read with 
Schedule V of Companies Act 2013 relating to 
Managerial Remuneration are not applicable to 
the Company, being a Government Company 
in terms of MCA Notification no. G.S.R. 463(E) 
dated 5th June, 2015.

		  8.	 With respect to the adequacy of the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting of 
the Company and the operating effectiveness 
of such controls, refer to our separate Report 
in “Annexure C”.

B.	 With respect to the other matters to be included in the 
Auditors’ Report in accordance with Rule 11 of the 
Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our 
opinion and to the best of our information and according 
to the explanations given to us: 

	 a.	 The Company has disclosed the impact of pending 
litigations on its financial position in its Ind AS 
financial statements – Refer Note 29 on contingent 
liabilities to the financial statements.

	 b.	 The Company did not have any long-term contracts 
including derivative contracts for which there were 
any material foreseeable losses.

	 c.	 There were no amounts which were required to be 
transferred to the Investor Education and Protection 
Fund by the Company.
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	 d.	 (i)	 The Management has represented that, to the 
best of its knowledge and belief, as disclosed 
in the notes to the accounts, no funds have 
been advanced or loaned or invested (either 
from borrowed funds or share premium or any 
other sources or kind of funds) by the Company 
to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), 
including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), 
with the understanding, whether recorded 
in writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary 
shall,

			   •	 Directly or indirectly lend or invest in 
other persons or entities identified in any 
manner whatsoever by or on behalf of 
the Company (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) 
or 

			   •	 Provide any guarantee, security or the like 
on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

		  (ii)	 The Management has represented, that, to the 
best of it’s knowledge and belief, as disclosed 
in the notes to accounts, no funds have been 
received by the Company from any person(s) 
or entity(ies), including foreign entities 
(“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, 
whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that 
the Company shall, directly or indirectly, lend 
or invest in other persons or entities identified 
in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of 
the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or 
provide any guarantee, security or the like on 
behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

		  (iii)	 Based on the audit procedures that has been 
considered reasonable and appropriate in 
the circumstances, nothing has come to our 
notice that has caused us to believe that the 
representations under sub clause (i) and (ii) 
of Rule 11(e), as provided under d (i) and (ii) 
above, contain any material misstatement.

	 e.	 The Company has not declared any dividend during 
the current financial year ended March 31, 2024.
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	 f.	 Proviso to Rule 3(1) of the Companies (Accounts) 
Rules, 2014 for maintaining books of account 
using accounting software which has a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility is applicable 
to the Company with effect from April 1, 2023. 
Based on our examination which included test 
checks and in accordance with requirements 
of the Implementation Guide on Reporting on 
Audit Trail under Rule 11(g) of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, except for the 
instances mentioned below, the Company has used 
accounting softwares for maintaining its books of 
account, which have a feature of recording audit 
trail (edit log) facility and the same has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions 
recorded in the respective softwares:

		  (i)	 The feature of recording audit trail (edit log) 
facility was not enabled at the database 
layer to log any direct data changes for the 
accounting software used by the company.

		  (ii)	 We are unable to comment if the audit trail 
(edit log) facility was enabled at the database 
layer to log any direct data changes for those 
softwares operated by a third party service 
provider and used for maintaining purchase 
orders in absence of independent auditor’s 
report in relation to controls at the third party 
service provider.

		  (iii)	 Further, where audit trail (edit log) facility was 
enabled and operated throughout the year, we 
did not come across any instance of audit trail 
feature being tampered with during the course 
of our audit.

		  (iv)	 The company uses software called Laminaar 
(MMD Software) in which data is extracted 
and uploaded in the SAP Accounting software 
for recording the consumption in books of 
accounts. The same is being done manually 
and that there is no direct interface between 
these two softwares. Hence the audit trail is 
limited to the extent the data is uploaded in 
SAP Software
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The Annexure A referred to in Independent Auditors’ Report to 
the members of the Company on the Ind AS financial statements 
for the year ended March 31, 2024, we report that:

Replies to Annexure-A of 
Auditor’s Report

Referred to in paragraph 1 under ‘Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements’ section of our report of even date to the members of 
ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION LIMITED.
To the best of our information and according to the explanations 
provided to us by the Company and the books of accounts and the 
records examined by us in the normal course of audit, we state that: 

(i)	 a)	 A)	 The Company has maintained proper records 
showing full particulars, including quantitative details 
and situation of Property, Plant and Equipment and 
relevant details of right-of use assets. 

		  B)	 The Company has maintained proper records 
showing full particulars of intangible assets.

This is statement of fact.

This is statement of fact.

	 b)	 The Company conducts physical verification of the 
Property, Plant and Equipment on biennial basis. The 
physical verification of the property, plant and equipment 
was conducted in FY 2021-22. The company has 
conducted physical verification of the property, plant and 
equipment for the FY 2023-24 subsequent to the Financial 
Year but before the audit report is finalised.

Suitable disclosure has been 
made in Note no. 30 (a).

	 c)	 According to the information and explanation given to 
us and on the basis of our examination of the records of 
the company, the company does not hold any immovable 
property. Hence the provisions of clause 3 (i) (c) of the 
order is not applicable to the company.

This is statement of fact.

	 d)	 No proceedings have been initiated or are pending 
against the Company as at March 31, 2024 for holding 
any benami property under the Benami Transactions 
(Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of1988) (as amended in 2016) 
and rules made thereunder.

This is statement of fact.

(ii)	 a)	 The physical verification of inventories is done on biennial 
basis. During the FY 2023-24, inventories at Delhi, Kolkata 
and Hyderabad were verified by the management along 
with the Internal auditors of the company.

This is statement of fact.
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	 b)	 The total discrepancies observed were more than 10 
percent in value, however the same have been properly 
dealt with in books of accounts. The shortages in inventory 
have been booked under consumption and Provision to 
that extent is created in the books of account. The same 
has been created based on the initial findings and pending 
investigation to be conducted by the management. 
Pending approval from the Competent Authority, a net 
provision amounting to Rs. 170.07 million, over and above 
the existing provision of Rs. 46.99 million (For FY 21-22) 
has been created in the current financial year for the 
shortages and that the same have been dealt properly. 
There is no progress in assessment of actual loss by the 
Company incurred on account of shortages observed 
during FY 2021-22. Hence the provision for expected 
losses on account of shortages reported in physical 
verification is still existing in the Financial Statements in 
absence of approval of actual loss from the competent 
authority. We state that we have not received any report 
for assessment of actual loss from the company for the 
shortages identified in the previous verifications. (Refer 
note no. 30 (b) forming part of Financial Statements).

Suitable disclosure has been 
made in Note No. 30 (b)

A Committee has been formed 
and the inventory verification 
report will be submitted to 
Auditors in FY 2024-25.

	 c)	 The Company has not been sanctioned any working 
capital limits, from any banks or financial institutions on 
the basis of security of current assets. Accordingly, the 
provisions of clause 3(ii)(b) of the order is not applicable 
to the Company.

This is statement of fact.

(iii)	 The Company has not made any investments, provided 
guarantee or security or granted any advances in the nature 
of loans, secured or unsecured, to companies, firms, limited 
liability partnerships or any other parties during the year. 
Accordingly, the provisions of clause 3 (iii) (a) to (f) of the order 
are not applicable to the Company. 

This is statement of fact.

(iv)	 There are no loans, investments and guarantees and 
security in respect of which provisions of sec 185 and 186 
of the Companies Act,2013 are applicable and accordingly, 
the requirement to report on clause 3 (iv) of the order is not 
applicable to the company. 

This is statement of fact.

(v)	 The Company has neither accepted any deposits from the public 
nor accepted any amounts which are deemed to be deposits 
within the meaning of sections 73 to 76 of the Companies 
Act and the rules made thereunder, to the extent applicable. 
Accordingly, the requirement to report on clause 3(v) of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company.

This is statement of fact.

(vi)	 The Central Government has not prescribed the maintenance 
of cost records under section 148(1) of the Companies Act, 
2013, for the services rendered by the Company.

This is statement of fact.
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(vii)	 a)	 The Company is generally regular in depositing the 
undisputed statutory dues, including Goods and Service 
Tax, Employees’ State Insurance, Income Tax, Duty of 
Customs, Cess and other statutory dues with appropriate 
authorities except TDS under Income Tax Act and TDS 
under GST Act.

		  Tax deducted at source (Under Income Tax Act and Goods 
and Service Tax Act) has not been deposited regularly. 
Under the Income Tax Act, An amount of Rs. 225.56 million 
for the months of July to November 2022 and Rs.168.82 
for the month of April -23 to July 23 is outstanding for 
more than 6 months as on March 31, 2024, Whereas in 
case of Goods and Service Tax Act, Rs 2.39 million is 
outstanding for more than 6 months.

This is statement of fact.

	 b)	 The details of statutory dues referred to in sub clause (a) 
above which have not been deposited as at March 31, 
2024 on account of any dispute, are as follows: 

Name 
of the 

Statute

Nature 
of the 
dues

Amount 
(Rs. In 
Million)

Period Forum where 
dispute is 
pending

Income 
Tax Act, 

1961

Income 
Tax 

22.57 AY 
2000-01

ITAT, New Delhi

Income 
Tax Act, 

1961

Income 
Tax

28.04 AY 
2004-05

ITAT, New Delhi

Income 
Tax Act, 

1961

Income 
Tax

766.86 AY 
2022-23

CIT-Appeal 
(National 
Face less 

Assessment)
	

This is statement of fact.

(viii)	 The Company has not surrendered or disclosed any 
transactions, previously unrecorded as income in the books 
of account, in the tax assessments under the Income Tax Act, 
1961 as income during the year.

This is statement of fact.

(ix)	 a)	 The company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or 
other borrowings or in the payment of interest thereon to 
any lender. However, with respect to total loans amounting 
to Rs. 26,753.98 million availed from holding company 
AI Assets Holding Ltd., the terms and conditions and 
schedule of repayment thereon have not been stipulated 
and accordingly we are unable to comment on the default 
in repayment of such loans. Pending terms and conditions 
of repayment, this advance has been accounted as short-
term borrowing.

This is statement of fact.
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	 b)	 The Company has not been declared wilful defaulter by 
any bank or financial institution or other lender.

This is statement of fact.

	 c)	 No term loans have been taken by the Company. 
Therefore, the provisions of clause 3(ix)(c) of the order is 
not applicable to the Company.

This is statement of fact.

	 d)	 The company have not utilized funds raised on short term 
basis for long term purpose. Therefore, provisions of the 
clause 3 (ix) (d) are not applicable to the company.

This is statement of fact.

	 e)	 The Company has not taken any funds from any entity 
or person on account of or to meet the obligations of its 
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures. Therefore, the 
provisions of clause 3 (ix) (e) are not applicable to the 
company.

This is statement of fact.

	 f)	 The Company has not raised loans during the year on the 
pledge of securities held in its subsidiaries, joint ventures 
or associate companies. 

This is statement of fact.

(x)	 a)	 No moneys have been raised by way of initial public offer 
during the year by the Company. During the Year company 
has made right Issue of Equity Shares of 6,00,00,000 
number of equity shares @100 having face value of Rs. 
100/- each under the right issue scheme. Consequently, 
the issued & paid-up share capital of the Company stands 
increased to Rs. 10,022.50 million and the proceeds of 
Right issue has been used for the purpose for which they 
have been raised.

This is statement of fact.

	 b)	 The Company has not made any preferential allotment 
or private placement of shares or convertible debentures 
(fully, partially or optionally convertible) during the year. 

This is statement of fact.

(xi)	 a)	 During the course of our examination of the books and 
records of the Company, carried out in accordance with 
the generally accepted auditing practices in India and 
according to the information and explanation given to us 
and based on the complaint made by the whistleblower 
we would like to state that there might be instances of 
material fraud on the Company by its officers or employees 
noticed or reported during the year. Since the matters 
highlighted by the whistleblower are subjudice and under 
investigation, hence the actual fraud and its impact on the 
financial statements would be known upon conclusion of 
the investigation by the vigilance department.

This is a statement of Fact.
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	 b)	 During the course of our examination of the books and 
records of the Company, carried out in accordance with 
the generally accepted auditing practices in India and 
according to the information and explanation given to us, 
a report under section 143(12) of the Act, in Form ADT-4 
as prescribed under rule 13 of the Companies (Audit and 
Auditors) Rules, 2014 was not required to be filed with the 
Central Government.

	 c)	 No whistleblower complaints were received by the 
Company during the year, but there was a complaint 
received post balance sheet date which highlighted 
several material instances of breaches of internal controls 
and override of the internal controls by officers of the 
Company, which are under investigation by the vigilance 
department. 

This is statement of fact.

Suitable disclosure has been 
made in Note No. 33 (b)

(xii)	 The Company is not a Nidhi company. Accordingly, paragraph 
3(xii) of the Order is not applicable to the company.

This is statement of fact.

(xiii)	 All the transactions with the related parties are in compliance 
with sections 177 and 188 of the Act, where applicable and 
details of such transactions have been disclosed in the 
financial statements as required under accounting standards 
as prescribed under section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013.

This is statement of fact.

Suitable disclosure has been 
made in Note No. 36.

(xiv)	 (a)	 The Company has an internal audit system commensurate 
with the size and nature of its business, but the same 
needs to be strengthened due to the various lapses 
highlighted by the whistleblower

This is statement of fact.

	 (b)	 We have considered the internal audit reports of the 
Company issued till date for the period under audit.

(xv)	 The Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions 
with directors or persons connected with director. Accordingly, 
paragraph 3(xv) of the Order is not applicable to the Company. 

This is statement of fact.

(xvi)	 a)	 The Company is not required to be registered under 
Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934. 
Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(a) and (b) of the Order is not 
applicable.

This is statement of fact.

	 b)	 The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) 
as defined in the regulations made by the Reserve Bank 
of India. Accordingly, clause 3(xvi)(c) of the Order is not 
applicable.

This is statement of fact.

	 c)	 The Group does not have any CIC. Accordingly, the 
requirements of clause 3(xvi)(d) are not applicable.

This is statement of fact.
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(xvii)	The Company has incurred cash losses in the current Financial 
Year as well as in the immediately preceding Financial Year 
which are specified as below:	

Particulars (In millions) Current 
Year

Previous 
Year

Net Profit after Tax and before Other 
Comprehensive Income

(6210.20) (5665.73)

Add: Non-cash expenses:
a)	 Depreciation and amortization 2729.07 2617.77
b)	 Unrealized gain/ loss on foreign 

exchange
(138.42) (285.88)

Cash Loss during the year (3619.55) (3333.84)

This is statement of fact.

(xviii)	There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during 
the year and accordingly clause 3(xviii) of the order is not 
applicable. 

This is statement of fact.

(xix)	 On the basis of financial ratios, ageing and expected dates of 
realisation of financial assets and payment of financial liabilities, 
other information accompanying the financial statements, and 
our knowledge of the Board of Directors and management 
plans supported by the Government of India, nothing has 
come to our attention which causes us to believe that material 
uncertainty exists as on the date of the audit report indicating 
that the company is not capable of meeting its liabilities existing 
at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a 
period of one year from the balance sheet date. We, however, 
state that this is not an assurance as to the future viability of 
the Company. We further state that our reporting is based on 
the facts up to the date of the audit report and we neither give 
any guarantee nor any assurance that all liabilities falling due 
within a period of one year from the balance sheet date, will get 
discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.

This is statement of fact.

The Company being a wholly 
owned subsidiary of AI Assets 
Holding Ltd. (AIAHL) has full 
support from Government of 
India to make the Company 
fully operational, for which 
Ministry of Finance has already 
given financial support of Rs. 
600 crores to Alliance Air in FY 
2023-24.

(xx)	 a)	 In view of continuous losses incurred by the Company, 
the provisions of Section 135 are not applicable to the 
Company, accordingly the provisions of clause 3 (xx)
(a) and (b) of the order are also not applicable to the 
Company. 

This is statement of fact.

(xxi) The company is not required to prepare consolidated financial 
statements. Accordingly, the provisions of clause 3 (xxi) of the 
order are not applicable to the company. 

This is statement of fact.
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Referred to in paragraph 2 under “Report on other legal and Regulatory requirement section of 
our report of even date to the members of Alliance Air Aviation Ltd on the Financial Statements 
for the year ended March 31 2024:

Sr. 
No.

Direction u/s 143(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013

Auditor’s Reply on Action taken 
on the directions

Impact on 
Financials

AAAL 
comments 

1 Whether the company 
has system in place to 
process all the accounting 
transactions through 
IT system? If yes, the 
implications of processing 
of accounting transactions 
outside IT system on the 
integrity of the accounts 
along with the financial 
implications, if any, may be 
stated.

The Company has system in 
place to process all accounting 
transactions through IT System i.e., 
SAP (Systems Applications and 
Products in data processing). 

1.	 As per note no.30(b) read with 
32 of the notes to accounts, the 
system is having a technical 
glitch which has eventually 
resulted into shortage in 
inventory being booked. 
The matter is subject to 
investigation. However, till then 
the provision to that extent is 
being created in the books for 
the current year since actual 
reason for shortage is pending 
to be investigated. Upon the 
conclusion of the investigation, 
there might be additional 
provision or write back of 
provision in the consumption.

2.	 We invite attention to note no.33 
(b) of the financial statements 
where the Company has 
stated that there has been 
payment made to SAP vendor 
and excess remuneration 
paid to CFO respectively 
pursuant to complaint raised 
by the whistleblower. Both the 
matters are under investigation 
by the vigilance department. 
The excess remuneration paid 
to the CFO has been shown as 
recoverable from him.

NIL This is a 
statement of 

fact.
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Sr. 
No.

Direction u/s 143(5) of the 
Companies Act, 2013

Auditor’s Reply on Action taken 
on the directions

Impact on 
Financials

AAAL 
comments 

2 Whether there is any 
restructuring of an existing 
loan or cases of waiver/
write off of debts/loans/
interest etc. made by a 
lender to the company due 
to the company’s inability 
to repay the loan? If yes, 
the financial impact may be 
stated. Whether such cases 
are properly accounted 
for? (In case, lender is a 
Government company, 
then this direction is also 
applicable for statutory 
auditor of lender company).

The Company is not availing any 
loan from any bank, financial 
institutions or any other lender 
except the financial support from 
the Parent Company. As far as loan 
taken from the parent company is 
concerned, there is no restructuring 
of an existing loan or there is no 
waiver/write off of debts/loans/
interest caused due to company’s 
inability to continue as a going 
concern.

NIL This is a 
statement of 

fact.

3 Whether funds (grants/
subsidy etc.) received /
receivable for specific 
schemes from Central/
State Government or its 
agencies were properly 
accounted for/utilized as 
per its term and conditions? 
List the cases of deviation.

No fund received / receivable for 
specific schemes from central / 
state agency during the year except 
amount received / receivable under 
Regional Connectivity Schemes 
(RCS) and Viability Gap Funding 
(VGF) which has been properly 
accounted/ utilized for in the books 
of accounts.

NIL This is a 
statement of 

fact.
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Annexure - C to the Independent Auditors’ 
Report

Replies to Annexure - C to the Auditors’ 
Report

Report on the Internal Financial Controls under 
Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 143 of 
the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) 
We have audited the Internal Financial Controls 
over financial reporting of ALLIANCE AIR 
AVIATION LIMITED (“the Company”) as of March 
31 2024, in conjunction with our audit of the Ind AS 
financial statements of the Company for the year 
ended on that date. 

Managements and Board of Directors 
Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls
The Company’s Management is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining internal financial 
controls based on the internal financial controls with 
reference to Ind AS financial statements criteria 
established by the Company considering the 
essential components of internal control stated in 
the Guidance Note. These responsibilities include 
the design, implementation and maintenance 
of adequate internal financial controls that were 
operating effectively for ensuring the orderly 
and efficient conduct of its business, including 
adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding 
of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds 
and errors, the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, and the timely preparation of 
reliable financial information, as required under 
the Act 

This is a statement of fact.
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Auditors’ Responsibility:
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s internal financial controls over financial 
reporting based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with the Guidance Note 
on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over 
Financial Reporting (the “Guidance Note”) and 
the Standards on Auditing, issued by ICAI and 
deemed to be prescribed under section 143(10) of 
the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable 
to an audit of internal financial controls, both 
applicable to an audit of Internal Financial Controls 
and, both issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India. Those Standards and the 
Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
adequate internal financial controls over financial 
reporting was established and maintained and if 
such controls operated effectively in all material 
respects. 
Our audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the 
internal financial controls system over financial 
reporting and their operating effectiveness. Our 
audit of internal financial controls over financial 
reporting included obtaining an understanding of 
internal financial controls over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of internal control based 
on the assessed risk. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error.
We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s 
internal financial controls system over financial 
reporting with reference to financial statements.



ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION LIMITED

94

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls Over 
Financial Reporting:
A company’s internal financial control over 
financial reporting is a process designed to provide 
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 
of financial reporting and the preparation of Ind 
AS financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles. A company’s internal financial control 
over financial reporting includes those policies and 
procedures that: 

(1)	 Pertain to the maintenance of records that, 
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of 
the assets of the company; 

This is a statement of fact.

(2)	 Provide reasonable assurance that 
transactions are recorded as necessary 
to permit preparation of Ind AS financial 
statements in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the company 
are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of Management and directors 
of the company; and 

This is a statement of fact.

(3)	 Provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized 
acquisition, use, or disposition of the 
company’s assets that could have a material 
effect on the financial statements.

This is a statement of fact.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial 
Controls Over Financial Reporting:
Because of the inherent limitations of internal 
financial controls over financial reporting, including 
the possibility of collusion or improper Management 
override of controls, material misstatements due 
to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal 
financial controls over financial reporting to 
future periods are subject to the risk that the 
internal financial control over financial reporting 
may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with 
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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Basis for Qualified Opinion:
According to the information and explanations 
given to us and based on our audit carried out on 
test check basis, we are of the opinion that the 
Company has failed to establish proper internal 
controls over financial reporting on criteria based 
on the internal control over financial reporting 
criteria established by the Company considering 
the essential components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal 
Financial Controls over Financial Reporting 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
of India. Consequently, a material weakness has 
been identified which indicates a deficiency in 
the overall effectiveness of the internal financial 
controls implemented by the Company during the 
year: 

a)	 The audit of internal financial controls 
over financial reporting and review of the 
whistleblowers complaint have identified 
material weaknesses in the Company’s 
procure-to-pay and HR processes. A 
whistleblower complaint revealed that a 
fraudulent payment was made to an SAP 
vendor based on forged documents, as 
confirmed by the internal auditor’s verification 
report dated 11.07.2024. The internal 
committee formed by Company to investigate 
the matter has submitted its report to CEO 
and the vigilance department. Also, higher 
remuneration amounting to ₹ 0.21 Million was 
paid to the CFO for three months (January 
to March 2024) without Board approval, with 
the excess amount recorded as recoverable, 
pending investigation by the vigilance 
department. Furthermore, the compliant also 
revealed that contracts were awarded by the 
CFO to certain parties on a nomination basis, 
deviating from Central Vigilance Commission 
guidelines. These issues highlight significant 
control deficiencies in the Company’s 
procurement and remuneration processes

Suitable disclosure has been made in Note No. 
33 (b).
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b)	 The audit of the Company’s internal 
financial controls over financial reporting 
identified material weaknesses in inventory 
management processes, including the lack of 
integration between the LAMINAAR inventory 
system and the SAP accounting system, 
which necessitates manual data uploads, 
increasing the risk of errors. A technical glitch 
in LAMINAAR caused incomplete recording 
of inventory transactions in the prior year, 
with corrections made in the current year 
without comprehensive reconciliation. 
Additionally, the transition from the previous 
RAMCO system to LAMINAAR in FY 2022-
23 was inadequately monitored, with delays 
in physical verification and reconciliation 
of inventory. Further, significant inventory 
shortages amounting to ₹46.99 million from 
prior periods and an additional ₹170.07 
million recorded in FY 2023-24 remain 
unexplained, with the investigation into their 
root causes still pending. These weaknesses 
reflect deficiencies in the Company’s controls 
over inventory accuracy and reconciliation 
processes.

The Company’s internal financial control with regard 
to the whistleblower complaint and inventories as 
fully explained in the ‘Basis for qualified opinion’ 
of our main report, were not operating effectively, 
which could result in the Company not providing 
for adjustments, if any, that may be required to be 
made and its consequential impact on the financial 
statements.
A ‘material weakness’ is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal financial 
control over financial reporting, such that there is a 
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement 
of the company’s annual or interim financial 
statements will not be prevented or detected on a 
timely basis.

Suitable disclosure has been made in Note No. 
30 (b)
A Committee has been formed and the inventory 
verification report will be submitted to Auditors in 
FY 2024-25.
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Qualified Opinion:
In our opinion, and to the best of our information and 
according to the explanations given to us, except 
for the matters stated in the basis for qualified 
opinion, the Company , in all material respects, 
needs to strengthen it’s internal financial controls 
with reference to Ind AS financial statements 
and pending the investigation by the vigilance 
department we are not able to state that whether 
such internal financial controls were operating 
effectively as at 31 March 2024, , based on the 
internal financial controls with reference to Ind AS 
financial statements criteria established by the 
Company considering the essential components 
of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on 
Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial 
Reporting issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India (the “Guidance Note”).
We have considered the material weakness 
identified and reported above in determining the 
nature, timing, and extent of audit tests applied 
in our audit of the financial statements of the 
Company as at and for the year ended 31 March 
2024, and the material weakness has affected 
our opinion on the financial statements of the 
Company and we have issued a Qualified opinion 
on the financial statements.
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 Particulars Note 
No.

 As at 
31st March, 2024 

 As at 
31st March, 2023 

 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 
ASSETS :
1	 Non-current Assets
	 (a)	 Property, Plant & Equipment 2(a)  326.53  365.86 
	 (b)	 Right-of-Use Assets 2(b)  17,788.78  20,171.06 
	 (c)	 Other Intangible Assets 2(c)  65.34  82.00 
	 (d)	 Financial Assets:
		  i)	 Trade Receivables  -  - 
		  ii)	 Other Financial Assets 3  1,077.75  1,038.80 
	 (e)	 Income Tax Assets (Net) 4  482.44  612.79 
	 (f)	 Deferred Tax Assets (Net)  -  - 
	 (g)	 Other Non-Current Assets 5  7,148.59  6,105.19 
2	 Current Assets
(a)	 Inventories 6  181.36  341.43 
(b)	 Financial Assets:  -  - 
	 i)	 Trade Receivables 7  516.34  1,007.45 
	 ii)	 Cash and Cash equivalents 8  227.86  149.54 
	 iii)	 Bank balances other than (ii) above 9  987.24  801.31 
	 iv)	 Others Financial assets 10  71.52  76.32 
(c)	 Other Current Assets 11  471.88  506.28 
TOTAL ASSETS  29,345.63  31,258.02 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES:
1	 Equity
	 (a)	 Equity Share Capital 12  10,022.50  4,022.50 
	 (b)	 Other Equity 13  (46,861.31)  (40,665.74)
2	 Liabilities 
	 (i)	 Non-current Liabilities
		  (a)	 Financial Liabilities
			   i)	 Borrowings  -  - 
				    ia)	 Lease Liabilities 14  18,210.44  21,383.58 
			   ii)	 Trade Payable
				    (A)	 total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises; and  -  - 
				    (B)	 total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 

small enterprises. 
 -  - 

			   (iii)	 Other financial liabilities 
		  (b)	 Provisions 15  775.80  793.90 
		  (c)	 Deferred tax liabilities (Net)  -  - 
		  (d)	 Other non-current liabilities  -  - 
	 (ii)	 Current Liabilities
		  (a)	 Financial Liabilities
			   i)	 Borrowings 16  26,753.98  24,558.28 
				    ia)	 Lease Liabilities 17  3,494.71  3,252.68 
			   ii)	 Trade Payables 18  -  - 
				    (A)	 total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises; and  -  - 
				    (B)	 total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 

small enterprises
 15,923.18  16,445.69 

			   (iii)	 Other Financial Liabilities 19  150.42  415.11 
		  (b)	 Provisions 20  20.59  5.21 
		  (c)	 Other Current Liabilities 21  855.32  1,046.81 
TOTAL EQUITY & LIABILITIES  29,345.63  31,258.02 

As per our Separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Alliance Air Aviation Limited

For Batliboi and Purohit
Chartered Accountants Sd/- Sd/-
Firm Registration Number:101048W Asangba Chuba Ao Brajesh Kumar Srivastava 

Chairman(Nominee Director) (Director) 
DIN: 08086220 DIN: 09835338 

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
Raman Hangekar Rambabu Ch. Shilpa Bhatia
(Partner) Chief Executive Officer Company Secretary
ICAI Membership Number.: 030615
UDIN: 25030615BMOCNZ3297 

PAN - AGVPC9371P Membership No. ACS 49386

Place: New Delhi
Date: 16-01-2025

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31ST MARCH’2024
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Particulars Note No.  Amount for the period
Apr'23 to March'24 

 Amount for the period
Apr'22 to March'23 

 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 
I Revenue
1 From Operations 22

i)	 Scheduled Traffic Services  6,037.72  6,541.43 
ii)	 Non Schedule Traffic Services  3,331.57  3,759.07 
iii)	 Other Operating Revenue  178.37  683.68 

2 Other Income 23  77.87  65.41 
II Total Revenue (1+2)  9,625.53  11,049.59 
III Expenses

Aircraft Fuel & Oil  2,811.30  3,681.34 
Other Operating Expense 24  4,649.72  3,742.54 
Purchase of Stock-in-Trade  -  - 
Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and 
Stock-in-Trade

 -  - 

Employee benefit expenses 25  1,525.12  1,525.39 
Finance Costs 26  3,809.10  4,988.07 
Depreciation and Amortization expenses 2 (a to c)  2,729.07  2,617.77 
Other expenses 27  311.42  160.21 

IV Total Expenses  15,835.73  16,715.32 
V Profit/(Loss) before exceptional items and tax (II - IV)  (6,210.20)  (5,665.73)
VI Exceptional Items  -  - 
VII Profit/(Loss) before tax (V - VI)  (6,210.20)  (5,665.73)
VIII Tax expense:
1 Current Tax  -  - 
2 IncomeTax for Earlier Years  -  - 
3 Deferred Tax  -  - 
IX Profit/(Loss) for the year after tax (VII-VIII)  (6,210.20)  (5,665.73)
X Other Comprehensive Income

A Items that will not be reclassified to Statement of profit and loss
-	 Remeasurements of defined Benefit Plans  14.63  8.01 
-	 Income tax relating to items that will not be reclassified to profit 

or loss 
 -  - 

XI Total Comprehensive Income for the period (IX+X) (Comprising 
Profit/(Loss) and Other Comprehensive Income for the period)

 (6,195.58)  (5,657.72)

XII Earnings per equity share (In Rupees) 28
(1)	 Basic  (93.14)  (140.85)
(2)	 Diluted  (93.14)  (140.85)

As per our Separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Alliance Air Aviation Limited

For Batliboi and Purohit
Chartered Accountants Sd/- Sd/-
Firm Registration Number:101048W Asangba Chuba Ao Brajesh Kumar Srivastava 

Chairman(Nominee Director) (Director) 
DIN: 08086220 DIN: 09835338 

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
Raman Hangekar Rambabu Ch. Shilpa Bhatia
(Partner) Chief Executive Officer Company Secretary
ICAI Membership Number.: 030615
UDIN: 25030615BMOCNZ3297

PAN - AGVPC9371P Membership No. ACS 49386

Place: New Delhi
Date: 16-01-2025

STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH’2024
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A.	 Equity Share Capital 	 (Amount in Rs. Million)
Balance as an 

01.04.2024
Changes in Equity Share 

Capital due to prior period
errors Share

Restated 
balance as on 

01.04.2024

Changes in equity 
share capital during 

the current year

Balance as on 
31.03.2024

10,022.50  -  10,022.50  -  10,022.50 

Balance as an 
01.04.2023

Changes in Equity Share 
Capital due to prior period

errors Share

Restated 
balance as on 

01.04.2023

Changes in equity 
share capital during 

the current year

Balance as on 
31.03.2023

4,022.50  -  4,022.50  -  4,022.50 

B.(1)	Other Equity (Current Year) 	 (Amount in Rs. Million)
PARTICULARS Retained Earnings Other Comprehensive 

Income 
Total 

Balances as at 01.04.2023  (40,682.63)  16.89  (40,665.74)
Profit/(Loss) for the year  (6,210.20)  -  (6,210.20)
Other Comprehensive Income for the year  -  14.63  14.63 
Total Comprehensive Income  (46,892.83)  31.52  (46,861.31)
Balance as at 31.03.2024  (46,892.83)  31.52  (46,861.31)

B.(2)	Other Equity (Previous Year) 	 (Amount in Rs. Million)
PARTICULARS Retained Earnings Other Comprehensive 

Income 
 Total 

Balance as at 01.04.2022  (35,016.89)  8.88  (35,008.02)
Profit/(Loss) for the year  (5,665.73)  -  (5,665.73)
Other Comprehensive Income for the year  -  8.01  8.01 
Total Comprehensive Income  (40,682.62)  16.89  (40,665.74)
Balance as at 31.03.2023  (40,682.62)  16.89  (40,665.74)

As per our Separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Alliance Air Aviation Limited

For Batliboi and Purohit
Chartered Accountants Sd/- Sd/-
Firm Registration Number:101048W Asangba Chuba Ao Brajesh Kumar Srivastava 

Chairman(Nominee Director) (Director) 
DIN: 08086220 DIN 09835338 

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
Raman Hangekar Rambabu Ch. Shilpa Bhatia
(Partner) Chief Executive Officer Company Secretary
ICAI Membership Number.: 030615
UDIN: 25030615BMOCNZ3297 

PAN - AGVPC9371P Membership No. ACS 49386

Place: New Delhi
Date: 16-01-2025

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH 2024
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Particulars Amount in Rs. Million Amount in Rs. Million 
2023-2024  2022-2023

(A)	 CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
	 Net Profit or Loss before Tax as per Statement of Profit & Loss 

A/c
 (6,210.20)  (5,665.73)

	 Add/(Less)-Adjustments for Non-Operating Expenses/Income 
and Non-Cash Items

	 Depreciation and amortisation expenses  2,729.07  2,617.77 
	 Provisions / Un-claimed Liabilities Written Back  -  (20.19)
	 Interest, Finance Cost and Exchange difference on Leases as per 

Ind-AS 116
 551.01  2,173.46 

	 Interest and Finance Costs  73.75  12.92 
	 Interest Income on Deposits  (57.67)  (45.22)
	 Prov. For Income Tax  -  - 
	 Unrealised Foreign Exchange Gain and Loss  (138.42)  (285.88)
	 Bad debt recovered  -  - 
	 Loss/ Gain on Disposal of Assets  0.73  - 
	 Interest on Income Tax Refund  (20.20)  - 
	 Provision for obsolescence of spares  (66.63)  66.47 

 3,071.64  4,519.33 
	 Operating Profit/(Loss) before working capital changes  (3,138.56)  (1,146.40)
	 Adjustments for (increase) / decrease in operating assets:
	 Other Bank Balances  (185.93)  66.59 
	 Other non-current assets  (1,043.39)  (1,670.25)
	 Inventories  226.70  (123.22)
	 Trade receivables  491.11  (202.32)
	 Others Financial Asset  4.80  32.58 
	 Other Financial Assets-non current  (38.95)  (191.15)

	 Other current assets  34.39  (245.34)
 (511.27)  (2,333.11)

	 Adjustments for increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities:
	 Trade payables  (384.08)  5,648.79 
	 Other current liabilities  (191.50)  714.44 
	 Short-term borrowing  2,195.70  650.50 
	 Short-term provisions  15.38  0.87 
	 Other Financial Liabilities  (264.69)  (130.72)
	 Long-term provisions  (20.17)  14.90 

 1,350.64  6,898.78 
	 Cash generated from operations  (2,299.20)  3,419.26 
	 Less : Income Taxes Paid / (Refunded) Including TDS  130.35  (225.07)
	 Net Cash from Operating Activities (A)  (2,168.85)  3,194.20 

(B)	 CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITES
	 a)	 Purchase of Fixed Assets  (1.52)  (260.64)
	 b)	 Add. In ROU Assets  (290.00)
	 c)	 Interest Income on Deposits  57.67  45.22 
	 d)	 Sale of fixed Asset  -  - 
	 Net Cash from/(used) in investing activities (B)  (233.85)  (215.42)

(C)	 CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITES
	 a)	 Proceeds from Right issue of shares  6,000.00 
	 b)	 Lease payment  (3,465.43)  (2,961.35)
	 c)	 Interest Paid  (73.75)  (12.92)  (2,974.27)
	 d)	 Interest Paid  20.20 
	 Net Cash from/(used) in financing activities (C)  2,481.02  - 
(D)	 NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS 

(A+B+C)
 78.33  4.51 

(E)	 CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR  149.54  145.04 
CASH & CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR (D+E)  227.86  149.55 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31.03.2024
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Note :- The above Statement of Cash Flow has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in the IND AS 7 on “Statement 
of Cash Flows” issued by ICAI.

Previous year Amount have been regrouped /rearranged where ever necessary
Particulars Amount (Rs.) Million Amount (Rs.) Million

2023-24 2022-23
Cash and Cash Equivalent comprises:
 Balance with Banks 
 In Current Accounts  227.82  149.53 
 Cash on hand  0.04  0.02 
 Closing Balance  227.86  149.55 

Note :- The above Statement of Cash Flow has been prepared under the ‘Indirect Method’ as set out in the IND AS 7 on “Statement 
of Cash Flows” issued by ICAI.

As per our Separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Alliance Air Aviation Limited

For Batliboi and Purohit
Chartered Accountants Sd/- Sd/-
Firm Registration Number:101048W Asangba Chuba Ao Brajesh Kumar Srivastava 

Chairman(Nominee Director) (Director) 
DIN: 08086220 DIN: 09835338 

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
Raman Hangekar Rambabu Ch. Shilpa Bhatia
(Partner) Chief Executive Officer Company Secretary
ICAI Membership Number.: 030615
UDIN: 25030615BMOCNZ3297

PAN - AGVPC9371P Membership No. ACS 49386

Place: New Delhi
Date: 16-01-2025
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Notes forming part of the IND AS Financial Statements of Alliance Air Aviation Limited for the 
year ended 31st March, 2024

Note No.1: Summary of Significant including Material Accounting Policies 

This note provides a list of significant including material accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of these financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, 
unless, otherwise stated. All figures of financials are in Rs. (Million), unless otherwise stated.

1.	 Company Information / Overview:

	 Background:

	 Alliance Air Aviation Limited (formerly known as Airline Allied Services Limited), a wholly owned 
subsidiary of AI Assets Holding Limited, a Government of India Company, incorporated in India, 
registered under the Companies Act, 2013 (erstwhile Companies Act 1956 ).The company is in 
the business of air transportation which includes mainly passenger and cargo services and other 
related services in India. The Company mainly operates between Tier-2 and Tier-3 cities in India. 
As at year end, the Company has a fleet of Twenty One aircraft – comprising of Eighteen ATR – 
72-600 aircraft, Two ATR-42 aircraft and One Dornier aircraft.

	 The registered office of the company is situated at Alliance Bhawan, Domestic Terminal-1, I.G.I. 
Airport, New Delhi – 110037.

	 The Board of Directors approved the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2024 and 
authorized for issue on 16-01-2025.

2.	 Basis of preparation of Financial Statements:

	 (i)	 Statement of Compliance:

		  The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) as notified under the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2015 read with section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 and presentation requirements 
of Division II of schedule III to the Companies Act, 2013 (as amended from time to time), 
relevant provisions of the Act and other accounting principles generally accepted in India. 
The Financial statements are prepared on going concern basis following accrual system of 
accounting.

		  The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company 
on 16-01-2025.

	 (ii)	 Basis of measurement:

		  The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except 
for the following assets and liabilities which have been measured at fair value:

		  •	 certain financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (Refer accounting policy 
regarding financial instruments);

		  •	 employee benefit obligations (Refer Note 36 for accounting policy)	

		  Historical cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the 
consideration given to acquire assets at the time of their acquisition or the amount 
of proceeds received in exchange for the obligation, or at the amounts of cash or cash 
equivalents expected to be paid to satisfy the liability in the normal course of business. Fair 
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value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

	 (iii)	 Recent Pronouncements:

		  Ministry of Corporate Affairs (“MCA”) notifies new standard or amendments to the existing 
standards the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules as issued from time to 
time. For the year ended 31st March 2024, MCA has not notified any new standards or 
amendments to existing standards applicable to company

3.	 SIGNIFICANT INCLUDING MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

	 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these financial statements 

	 I.	 Operating cycle & Classification of Current &Non-Current:

		  Current - Non-Current classification

		  Presentation of assets and liabilities in the financial statement has been made based on 
current /non-current classification provided under the Company Act 2013.

		  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 

		  Operating cycle

		  The Company being in service sector, there is no specific operating cycle; however, 12 
months period has been adopted as “the Operating Cycle” in-terms of the provisions of 
Schedule III to the Companies Act 2013.

	 II.	 Property, Plant and Equipment 

		  A.	 Initial Recognition and measurement

			   a)	 The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized as an asset if,

				    (i)	 it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the entity; and 

				    (ii)	 the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

			   b)	 An item of Property Plant and Equipment that qualifies for recognition as an 
asset shall be measured at its cost.

				    The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises: 

				    (i)	 Its purchase price, including import duties and non-refundable purchase 
taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates; 

				    (ii)	 Incidental costs incurred pertaining to the acquisition and bringing the asset 
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in 
a manner intended by management and interest on loans borrowed where 
ever applicable, up to the date of putting the concerned asset to its working 
condition for its intended use.

			   c)	 If significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different 
useful lives, then they are accounted for as separate component of property, 
plant and equipment. 
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		  B.	 Subsequent Recognition and Measurement 

			   Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as 
separate assets, as appropriate, only when it is probable that the future economic 
benefits associated with expenditure will flow to the Company and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to Statement 
of Profit and Loss at the time of incurrence.

			   The Company has adopted Cost Model as per Ind-AS 16 “Property Plant and 
Equipment” and Property, Plant and Equipment are measured at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

		  C.	 Depreciation /Amortization

			   a)	 Depreciation is provided on straight-line method over the useful life of the Property, 
Plant and Equipment as prescribed in the Schedule II of the Companies Act 2013 
(except as otherwise stated), keeping a residual value of 5% of the original cost. 
Useful lives of Property, Plant & Equipment are reviewed by the management at 
each year end.

			   b)	 In the case where life of the Plant, Property and Equipment has not been prescribed 
under Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013 the same have been determined 
by technically qualified persons and approved by the Board of Directors, keeping 
a residual value of 5% of the original cost as stated hereunder:

				    1.	 Rotables:

					     Aircraft Rotables are depreciated over the residual average useful life of the 
related ‘aircraft fleet’ from the relevant year of purchase.

				    2.	 Ground Support Equipment (GSE):

					     Depreciation on Ground Support Equipment specific to leased ATR aircraft 
is provided based on the completed aircraft lease months over the total 
aircraft lease months from the date of use.

			   c)	 Major scheduled overhaul costs relating to engine and airframe are identified as 
separate components are depreciated over the expected lives between major 
overhauls.

			   d)	 Cost incurred on major modifications/refurbishment on modernization/conversion 
carried to be depreciated over the useful life.

			   e)	 Depreciation is calculated on a pro-rata basis for assets purchased/sold during 
the period.

				    Depreciation has been charged based on the following useful lives:

Particulars of Assets Useful Lives
Plant & Equipment  5 Years
Furniture & Fixtures 10 years
Vehicle  8 Years
Data Processing Equipment’s  3 Years
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Ground Support Equipment’s (ATR) (As per above mentioned policy at II C b 
(2.))

Medical Equipment’s  15 Years
Airframe Rotables  Based on Lease Period
Aero Engine Rotables  Based on Lease Period

		  D.	 Derecognition:

			   An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognized is 
derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of property, plant and 
equipment (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds/ fair value 
and the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment) is included in the Statement 
of Profit and Loss when property, plant and equipment is derecognized. The carrying 
amount of any component accounted as a separate component is derecognized, when 
replaced or when the property, plant and equipment to which the component relates 
gets derecognized.

		  E.	 Physical Verification of Assets:

			   Physical Verification of Assets is done on a rotational basis so that every asset is 
verified in every two years. Based on the Physical Verification Report, the discrepancies 
observed, if any, are reconciled with records and accordingly, accounting action, if any, 
is taken in the books of accounts.

	 III.	 Non- Current Assets held for Sale

		  Assets are classified as held for sale if it is highly probable that they will be recovered 
primarily through sale in its present condition rather than through continuing use. The net 
book value of such assets, are transferred from the block of fixed assets to “Assets held 
for Sale” at lower of the “carrying value” or “Fair Value less cost to sell”. No depreciation is 
provided, once the asset is transferred to Assets Held for Sale.

		  An Impairment Loss is recognized for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset to 
fair value less cost to sell. A gain is recognized for any subsequent increases in fair value 
less cost to sell of an asset, but not in excess of any cumulative impairment loss previously 
recognized.

	 IV.	 Intangible Assets 

		  A.	 Initial Recognition and measurement:

			   Intangible assets are acquired and recognized only if it is probable that the expected 
future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Company and 
the cost of assets can be measured reliably.

			   Intangible assets are recorded at cost of acquisition including incidental costs related 
to acquisition and installation. 

			   Cost of an intangible asset includes its purchase price, including import duties and 
non-refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade discounts and rebates; and any 
directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use.

			   Intangible assets acquired by the company, which have finite useful lives, are recognized 
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at cost. Subsequent measurement is done at cost less accumulated amortization and 
accumulated impairment losses.

		  B.	 Subsequent recognition and measurement 

			   Subsequent costs are capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure on intangible 
assets is recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss, as incurred.

		  C.	 Amortization

			   Intangible assets which have finite useful lives are amortized on straight- line method 
over a period of legal right to use as per the contract period.

			   The amortization period and the amortization method of intangible assets with a finite 
useful life is reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, wherever 
required. 

			   An intangible asset having an infinite useful life is not amortized as per paragraph 
107 of Ind-AS 38, however, these assets are reviewed for impairment periodically by 
management and the impairment is carried out, if necessary.

			   The Residual Value of Intangible Asset with Finite Useful Life is considered as zero.

			   Intangible assets with finite useful life are evaluated for recoverability annually and 
whenever there is any indication that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. 
The excess of carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognized as an 
impairment loss.

		  D.	 Derecognition 

			   An Intangible Asset shall be derecognized:

			   a)	 On disposal; or

			   b)	 When no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.

			   Gain or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as 
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
intangible asset and are recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss when the 
asset is derecognized.

	 V.	 Leases 

		  The Company has applied following practical expedient for calculation of Lease Liability - 
Use of single average discount rate to portfolio of leases of similar assets in similar economic 
environment with similar conditions for end date.

		  A.	 As lessee:

			   The Company assesses whether a contract contains a lease, at inception of a contract. 
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess 
whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the 
Company assesses whether: 

			   •	 The contract involves the use of an identified asset, and;
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			   •	 The Company has substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the 
asset through the period of the lease, and;

			   •	 The Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. 

			   1)	 Right of Use Assets:

				    a)	 Initial Recognition and Measurement:

					     At the commencement date, the rights of use assets (ROU Assets) are 
measured at cost. The cost includes-

					     i)	 An amount equal to the lease liabilities

					     ii)	 Any lease payments made before commencement date

					     iii)	 Any Indirect cost

					     iv)	 An Estimate of cost to be incurred in respect of Re-delivery obligations

					     v)	 Less, any incentives received from the Equipment manufacturer in the 
terms of lease.

				    b)	 Subsequent Measurement of initial recognized ROU Assets:

					     After the commencement date, the ROU Assets are measured in accordance 
with the accounting policy for Property, Plant and Equipment, i.e., ROU 
are measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

					     ROU Assets are also correspondingly adjusted to reflect any re-measurement 
impact in the lease liabilities on account of lease modifications. 

					     ROU Assets will be subject to impairment as per Policy stated in clause no. 
VII . 

				    c)	 Subsequent Recognition and its Measurement of Subsequent costs:

					     Subsequent costs are included in the ROU Assets carrying amount or 
recognized as separate assets, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that the future economic benefits associated with expenditure will flow to 
the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other 
repairs and maintenance are charged to Statement of Profit and Loss at the 
time of incurrence.

			   2)	 Lease Liabilities:

				    a)	 Initial Recognition and Measurement:

					     At the commencement date the company measures lease liabilities at the 
present value of lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease 
liabilities include – 

					     a)	 Lease Rentals

					     b)	 Payment of Penalties for termination of lease if lease term reflects the 
company exercising the option to terminate
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					     c)	 Less, any incentives receivable

						      The lease payments are discounted using interest rate implicit in the 
lease, if that are readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the company uses incremental borrowing rate.

						      Incremental Borrowing Rate is the rate of interest that the company 
would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar 
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to 
the ROU Assets in a similar economic environment. 

					     d)	 Subsequent Measurement:

						      After the commencement date the amount of lease liabilities is 
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced by the lease 
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is 
re-measured if there is lease modification, including lease modification 
in the lease term, lease payment or assessment of an option to 
purchase the underlying asset. The lease liabilities are re-measured 
by discounting the revised lease payments using revised discount rate 
at the effective date of modification.

				    3)	 Lease Term:

					     At the commencement date, the company determines the lease term 
which represents non-cancellable period of initial lease for which the asset 
is expected to be used, together with the periods covered by an option 
to extend and terminate the lease, if company is reasonably certain at 
commencement date to exercise the extension or termination option.

				    4)	 Depreciation:

					     Depreciation on assets held as ROU is charged to Statement of Profit and 
loss on straight line basis from the commencement date to the earliest of 
the end of useful life of the ROU Asset or end of lease term.

				    5)	 Other Leases:

					     Lease payments associated with any other leases which fall outside the 
purview of Ind AS 116, short-term leases (leases with a term of twelve 
months or less) and low value leases. For these short-term and low value 
leases, the Company recognizes the lease payments as an operating 
expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

				    6)	 Provision for Re-delivery

					     The Company has in its fleet, aircrafts on lease. As contractually agreed 
under the lease contracts, the aircrafts have to be redelivered to the lessors 
at the end of the lease term under stipulated contractual return conditions. 
At inception of the lease, the redelivery obligations are determined by 
management based on historical trends and data, and are capitalized to the 
Right of Use Asset at the present value of expected outflow, where effect of 
the time value of money is material and credited to Provision for Re-delivery 
under liabilities.
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				    7)	 Manufacturer’s Credit (Cash & Non-Cash Incentives):

					     Manufacturer Credit means cash incentives & non-cash-based incentives 
in the form of any rebates, discounts, incentive payments, and other 
credits which are provided by OEM (Original Equipment Manufacturer) and 
subsequently passed on to the customer by the Lessor at the time of Lease 
Agreement.

					     Cash incentives:

					     The company receives incentives from OEM (Original Equipment 
Manufacturer) or the Lessor in connection with acquisition of aircraft under 
lease. These incentives are recorded as reduction to the carrying amount 
of Right to Use Assets at the commencement of lease of the respective 
aircraft or aircraft components.

					     Non-Cash Incentives:

					     Non-cash incentives are recorded as and when due to the company by 
setting up a deferred asset and a corresponding deferred incentive. These 
incentives are recorded as a reduction to the cost of related aircraft and 
aircraft components in case of owned aircrafts. In case of aircrafts held under 
leases, the incentives are recorded as reduction to the carrying amount of 
right to use assets at the commencement of lease of the respective aircraft 
or aircraft components taken on lease.

	 VI.	 Inventories:

		  A.	 Inventory

			   1)	 Inventories primarily consist of stores and spares and loose tools (other than 
those which meet the criteria of property, plant and equipment).

			   2)	 Expendable / consumables are charged off in case of initial issue, except issued 
for capital works which are expensed off when the work order is closed on the 
completion of repair work.

		  B.	 Valuation of Inventories

			   1)	 Inventories primarily include stores, spares and loose tools. The same are valued 
at cost.

				    As per industry practice followed in respect of aircraft inventory, the valuation is 
industry specific and the inventory is properietory in nature and the same is not 
available in the open market.

				    The non-availability of inventory in open market, the cost itself becomes the 
value of the inventory at the year end and to adhere to the prudence concept 
and to ensure the fair value of the inventory, the company provides for provision 
for obsolescence.

			   2)	 Cost of inventories comprise all costs of purchase after deducting non-refundable 
rebates and discounts and all other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition and is determined on FIFO basis.
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			   3)	 At the year end, Freight Duty & Insurance is expensed off on the basis of the ratio 
of closing inventory to Consumption of Inventory during the year. Unallocated 
custom duty paid on aircraft spares is shown added with the cost of inventory.

		  C.	 Diminution in value of inventories

			   1)	 Obsolescence provision for aircraft stores and spare parts:

				    i.	 Provision is made for the non-moving inventory exceeding a period of five 
years (net realizable value of 5%) except for (ii) & (iii) below and netted off 
from the value of inventory. 

				    ii.	 Inventory of Aircraft Fleet which is phased out, is shown at estimated 
realizable value unless the same can be used in other Aircraft.

				    iii.	 Provision in respect of inventories exclusively relating to aircraft on dry / wet 
lease, is made on the basis of the completed lease period compared to the 
total lease period as at the year-end.

			   2)	 Full Obsolescence Provision for non-aircraft stores and spares is made for non-
moving inventory exceeding a period of five years.

			   3)	 Spares retrieved from the cannibalization of the scrapped aircraft are accounted 
for at Rupee One.

	 VII.	 Impairment of Non-Financial Assets:

		  The Company assesses at each Balance Sheet date whether there is any indication 
that carrying amount of its non- financial asset has been impaired. If any such indication 
exists, the provision for impairment is made in accordance with Ind AS-36by estimating the 
“recoverable Amount” of the asset. 

		  Impairment Testing: 

		  For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
of other assets or cash generating units (CGUs).

		  The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is higher of its value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to 
their present value using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 

		  Recognition of Impairment Loss: 

		  An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss. 

		  Reversal of Impairment Loss: 

		  An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. Such a reversal is made only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.
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		  A reversal of an impairment loss for an asset shall be recognized immediately to statement 
of profit and loss.

	 VIII.	 Government Grants

		  Government grants are recognized where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and all attached conditions will be complied with. 

		  Government grants shall be recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the 
periods in which the Company recognizes as expenses, the related costs for which the 
grants are intended to compensate.

		  Government grants that become receivable as compensation for expenses or losses 
incurred in a previous period are recognized in profit or loss of the period in which it becomes 
receivable. 

		  Government grants related to assets are presented in the balance sheet as deferred income 
and are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the 
related assets.

	 IX.	 Revenue Recognition

		  A.	 Revenue from Operation:

			   Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will 
flow to the Company and the revenue can be reliably measured.

			   Under Ind AS 115, Revenue is recognized upon transfer of control of promised goods 
or services to customers. Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable, excluding discounts, incentives, amounts collected on behalf 
of third parties, or other similar items if any as specified in the contracts with the 
customers.

		  B.	 Revenue from different sources is recognized as under:

			   a)	 Passenger, Cargo and Mail Revenue

				    Passenger, Cargo and Mail Revenue are recognized at initial stage when 
transportation service is provided on flown basis net of discounts given to the 
passengers, amount collected on behalf of third parties, applicable taxes and 
airport levies such as passenger service fee, user development fee, etc., if any.

			   b)	 Blocked Space arrangements/Code share

				    Blocked Space arrangements/Code share revenue/expenditure is recognized 
on an actual basis, based on uplift data received from the code share partners. 
Wherever details from code share partners are not available, revenue/expenditure 
is booked to the extent of documents/information received, and adjustments, if 
any, required are carried out at the time of availability of such information.

			   c)	 Viability Gap Funding (VGF) and Regional Connectivity Scheme (RCS)

				    Viability Gap Funding (VGF) and Regional Connectivity Scheme (RCS) are 
accounted for on the basis of difference between revenue and cost of operations 
on accrual basis and the same is treated as Operating Income. 
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			   d)	 Other Operating Revenue

				    Other Operating Revenue is recognized when goods are delivered or services 
are rendered.

			   e)	 Other Revenue:

				    i)	 Income from Interest is recognized using the effective interest method 
on a time proportion basis. Income from Rentals is recognized on a time 
proportion basis.

				    ii)	 The claims receivable from Insurance Company are accounted for on the 
acceptance by the Insurance Company of such claims.

				    iii)	 Warranty claims/credit notes received from vendors are recognized on 
acceptance of claim/receipt of credit note. 

				    iv)	 Other Items:

					     Scrap sales, reimbursement from employees availing medical, educational 
and other leave without pay, claims of interest from suppliers, other staff 
claims and lost baggage claims, are recognized on cash basis. 

	 X.	 Borrowing Cost:

		  -	 Borrowing cost that are directly attributable to acquisition, construction of qualifying 
assets including capital work–in-progress are capitalized, as part of the cost of assets, 
up to the date for its intended use or sale.

		  -	 A qualifying asset is one that necessarily takes substantial period of time to get ready 
for intended use.

		  -	 Interest incurred on borrowed funds or other temporary borrowings in anticipation of 
the receipt of long-term borrowings that are used for acquisition of qualifying assets 
exceeding the value of Rs.10.0 million is capitalized at the weighted average borrowing 
rate on loans outstanding at the time of acquisition.

		  -	 Other borrowing costs are recognized as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred. Borrowing cost includes exchange differences to the extent regarded as an 
adjustment to the borrowing costs. 

	 XI.	 Functional Currency and Presentation Currency:

		  Items included in the financial statements of the company are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“The Functional 
Currency”). The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee (INR), which is the 
company’s functional and presentation currency.

	 XII.	 Foreign Currency Transactions and Translations:

		  a)	 Foreign Currency Monetary Items

			   i)	 Foreign currency Revenue and Expenditure transactions relating to Foreign 
Stations are recorded at established monthly rates (based on published IATA 
rates). Interline settlement with Airlines for transportation is carried out at the 
exchange rate published by IATA for respective month.
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			   ii)	 Foreign currency monetary items are translated using the exchange rate circulated 
by Foreign Exchange Dealers Association of India (FEDAI). Gains/ (losses) 
arising on account of realization/settlement of foreign exchange transactions and 
on translation of monetary foreign currency assets and liabilities are recognized 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

		  b)	 Exchange variation is not considered at the year-end in respect of Debts and Loans 
& Advances for which doubtful provision exists since they are not expected to be 
realized. 

	 XIII.	 Employee Benefits:

		  A.	 Short-term employee benefits 

			   Employee benefit liabilities such as salaries, wages and bonus, etc. that are expected 
to be settled wholly within twelve months after the end of the reporting period in which 
the employees render the related service are recognized in respect of employees’ 
services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at an undiscounted 
amount expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

		  B.	 Post-employment benefit plans

			   The Retirement Benefits to the employees comprise of Defined Contribution Plans 
and Defined Benefit Plans. 

			   a)	 Defined Contribution Plan is a post employee benefit plan under which an 
entity pays fixed contribution into separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal 
or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the 
current and prior periods. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
plans are recognized as an Employee Benefit Expense in statement of profit and 
loss in the period during which services are rendered by employees. Prepaid 
contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a 
reduction in future payments is available.

			   b)	 Defined Benefit Plan is a post employee benefit plan other than defined 
contribution plan.

				    The company’s liability towards Gratuity and provident fund scheme to the extent 
of interest liability on provident fund contribution are in the nature of defined 
benefit plan. 

				    The company pays fixed contribution to the provident fund at predetermined 
rate to a separate trust, which invests the fund in permitted securities. The 
contributions to the fund for the year are recognized as expense and are charged 
to statement of profit and loss. The obligation of the company is to make such 
fixed contribution and to ensure a minimum rate of return to the members as 
specified by Government of India.

				    The company has an obligation towards Gratuity. The plan provides for a 
lump sum payment to vested employee at the time of retirement, death while 
in employment or on termination of employment, of an amount based on the 
respective employee’s salary and the tenure of employment. The Gratuity plan 
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of the company is unfunded. 

			   c)	 Other Long-Term Employee Benefits: Benefits in the form of Leave Encashment 
are accounted as other long-term employee benefits. The Company’s net 
obligation in respect of Leave Encashment is the amount of benefit to be settled 
in future, that employees have earned in return for their service in the current 
and previous years. The benefit is discounted to determine its present value. The 
obligation is measured on the basis of an actuarial valuation using the projected 
unit credit method. Re-measurement are recognized in Statement of Profit and 
Loss in the period in which they arise.

	 XIV.	 Income tax

		  Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax expense is recognized 
in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in other 
comprehensive income or equity, in which case it is recognized in OCI or equity.

		  Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted and as applicable at the reporting date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

		  Deferred tax is recognized using the balance sheet method, providing for temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on 
the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

		  Deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in OCI or equity, in which case it is recognized in OCI or equity.

		  A deferred tax asset is recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilized. Deferred tax assets 
are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realized.

	 XV.	 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities & Contingent Assets:

		  a)	 Provisions involving a substantial degree of estimation in measurement are recognized 
when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive)as a result of past events 
and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability. These estimates are reviewed at each reporting date 
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimates. The expense relating to a provision 
is presented in the statement of profit and loss.

		  b)	 Contingent liabilities are disclosed by way of a note in respect of possible obligations 
that may arise from past events but their existence is confirmed by the occurrence or 
non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the control of 
the Company.
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		  c)	 Contingent assets are possible assets that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the Company.

			   Contingent Assets are disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

		  Changes in Provision:

		  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and are adjusted to reflect the 
current best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. 

		  When discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision increases in each period to 
reflect the passage of time. This increase is recognized as Finance Cost. 

	 XVI.	 Cash and Cash Equivalents:

		  Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

	 XVII.	Earnings per Share:

		  The Company presents basic and diluted earnings/ (loss) per share (EPS) data for its equity 
shares. Basic earnings per equity share are computed by dividing the net profit after tax 
attributable to the equity shareholders by the weighted average number of equity shares 
outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per equity share is computed by dividing 
adjusted net profit after tax by the aggregate of weighted average number of equity shares 
and dilutive potential equity shares during the year.

	 XVIII. Fair Value Measurement:

		  The Company measures financial instruments at fair value at each balance sheet date.

		  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of 
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. 

		  In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into 
Level 1, 2, or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are 
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurements in its entirety, 
which are described as follows:

		  •	 Level1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) inactive markets for identical assets or 
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

		  •	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, that are 
observable for the asset or liability ,either directly or in directly; and

		  •	 Level3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset 

		  •	 or liability.

			   For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the balance sheet on a recurring 
basis, the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in 
the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that 
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is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting 
period.

				    For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Company has determined classes 
of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset 
or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

			   Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. 

			   The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell 
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

			   -	 In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

			   -	 In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the 
asset or liability.

			   The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to/ by the Company.

	 XIX.	 Financial Instruments:

		  A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity.

		  A.	 Financial assets

			   (i)	 Classification

				    The Company classifies financial assets as subsequently measured at amortized 
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income or fair value through 
Statement of Profit and Loss on the basis of its business model for managing 
the financial assets and the contractual cash flows characteristics of the financial 
asset.

			   (ii)	 Initial recognition and measurement

				    All financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus, in the case of 
financial assets not recorded at fair value through Statement of Profit and Loss, 
transaction costs that are an attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

			   (iii)	 Subsequent measurement

				    For purposes of subsequent measurement financial assets are classified in 
below categories:

				    a.	 Financial assets carried at amortized cost

					     A financial asset other than derivatives and specific investments, is 
subsequently measured at amortized cost if it is held within a business 
model whose objective is to hold the asset in order to collect contractual 
cash flows and the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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				    b.	 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

					     A financial asset comprising specific investment is subsequently measured 
at fair value through other comprehensive income if it is held within a 
business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets and the contractual terms of the 
financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. The 
Company has made an irrevocable election for its investments which are 
classified as equity instruments to present the subsequent changes in fair 
value in other comprehensive income based on its business model.

				    c.	 Financial assets at fair value through Statement of Profit and Loss

					     A financial asset comprising derivatives which is not classified in any of the 
above categories is subsequently fair valued through profit or loss.

			   (iv)	 De-recognition

				    A financial asset is primarily derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows 
from the asset have expired or the Company has transferred its rights to receive 
cash flows from the asset or in which the Company neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain 
control of the financial asset.

				    Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognized in the Statement of Profit and 
Loss

			   (v)	 Impairment of other financial assets

				    The Company assesses impairment based on expected credit losses (ECL) 
model for measurement and recognition of impairment loss on the financial 
assets that are trade receivables or contract revenue receivables and all lease 
receivables etc.

				    For all other financial assets, expected credit losses are measured at an amount 
equal to the 12-month ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk from initial recognition, in which case those financial assets are measured at 
lifetime ECL. The changes (incremental or reversal) in loss allowance computed 
using ECL model, are recognized as an impairment gain or loss in the Statement 
of Profit and Loss.

			   (vi)	 Write-off

				    The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in 
full) to the extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally 
the case when the Company determines that the counter party does not have 
assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay 
the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets that are written 
off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the 
Company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.
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		  B.	 Financial Liabilities

			   (i)	 Initial recognition and measurement	

				    All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of 
loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 
The Company’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and 
borrowings including bank overdrafts, and derivative financial instruments.

			   (ii)	 Classification

				    The Company classifies all financial liabilities as subsequently measured at 
amortized cost, except for financial liabilities at fair value through Statement 
of Profit and Loss. Such liabilities, including derivatives shall be subsequently 
measured at fair value and net gains and losses, including any interest expense, 
are recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 

				    A financial liability is classified as FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, or it 
is a derivative or it is designated as such on initial recognition.

			   (iii)	 Subsequent measurement

				    The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as 
described below.

				    a)	 Financial liabilities at amortized cost

					     After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the Effective Interest Rate 
(EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognized in Statement of Profit 
and Loss when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through the EIR 
amortization process.

					     Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 
on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The 
EIR amortization is included as finance costs in The Statement of Profit and 
Loss.

				    b)	 Financial liabilities at fair value through Statement of Profit and Loss

					     Financial liabilities at fair value through Statement of Profit and Loss include 
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon 
initial recognition as at fair value through Statement of Profit and Loss. 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for 
the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category comprises 
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Company that are not 
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by 
Ind AS 109. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for 
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments.

					     Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the Statement 
of Profit and Loss. 
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			   (iv)	 Derecognition

				    A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is 
discharged or cancelled or expired. The Company also derecognizes a financial 
liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows under the modified terms 
are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on modified 
terms is recognized at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount 
of the financial liability extinguished and the new financial liability with modified 
terms is recognized in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

			   (v)	 Offsetting of financial instruments

				    Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported 
in the balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the 
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise 
the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

	 XX.	 Materiality Threshold Limits:

		  The Company has adopted following materiality threshold limits in the recognition of 
expenses/incomes and disclosure:

Threshold Items Unit Threshold Value
Prior Period Expenditure/Revenue
- Identification based on Individual limits Million 15
- Restatement based on overall limit	 Million 1% of Turnover of 

Previous Year
Prepaid Expense Million 0.010
Foreign Stations Million 0.050
Domestic Stations Million 0.010
Contingent Liability & Capital Commitments Million 0.10
Fair Valuation of Financial Instruments Million 5.0

As per our Separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Alliance Air Aviation Limited

For Batliboi and Purohit
Chartered Accountants Sd/- Sd/-
Firm Registration Number:101048W Asangba Chuba Ao Brajesh Kumar Srivastava 

Chairman(Nominee Director) (Director) 
DIN: 08086220 DIN: 09835338 

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
Raman Hangekar Rambabu Ch. Shilpa Bhatia
(Partner) Chief Executive Officer Company Secretary
ICAI Membership Number.: 030615
UDIN: 25030615BMOCNZ3297 

PAN - AGVPC9371P Membership No. ACS 49386

Place: New Delhi
Date: 16-01-2025
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NOTE 2(a) : PLANT, PROPERTY & EQUIPMENT FY 2023-24
(Amount in Rs. Million)

PARTICULARS OF 
ASSETS

Useful 
Life as per 
Schedule II

GROSS 
BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2023

ADDITIONS
DURING
2023-24

SOLD/
DISCARDED

DURING
2023-24

GROSS 
BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2024

Accumulated 
Dep.

UP TO 
01.04.2023

DEPRECIATION
FOR THE 

YEAR 2023-24

ADJUSTMENT
MADE 

DURING
THE YEAR

CUMULATIVE
DEPRECIATION

AS ON 
31.03.2024

NET BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2024

NET BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2023

A B C D E F G H I J
PLANT & EQUIPMENT 5 Years 12.90 0.21 0.41 12.70 9.77 0.99 0.39 10.37 2.33 3.13
FURNITURE & 
FIXTURES

10 years 10.80 0.95 1.36 10.39 4.57 0.95 1.21 4.31 6.08 6.23

VEHICLE 8 Years 3.71 0.00 0.80 2.91 2.18 0.38 0.25 2.31 0.60 1.53
DATA PROCESSING 
EQUIPMENT

3 Years 33.24 0.36 0.06 33.54 23.40 3.75 0.06 27.09 6.45 9.84

GROUND SUPPORT 
EQUIPMENT(ATR)

(as per 
policy)

5.37 0.00 0.40 4.97 5.36 0.01 0.40 4.97 0.00 0.01

AIRFRAME 
ROTABLES

Based 
on Lease 

Period

278.28 0.00 0.00 278.28 137.42 22.08 0.00 159.50 118.78 140.86

AERO ENGINE 
ROTABLES

Based 
on Lease 

Period

235.78 0.00 0.00 235.78 31.52 11.97 0.00 43.49 192.29 204.27

Total as on 31.03.2024 580.08 1.52 3.03 578.57 214.22 40.13 2.31 252.04 326.53 365.85

(Amount in Rs. Million)
GROSS 
BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2022

ADDITIONS
DURING
2022-23

SOLD/
DISCARDED

DURING
2022-23

GROSS 
BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2023

Accumulated 
Dep.

UP TO
01.04.2022

DEPRECIATION
FOR THE

YEAR 2022-23

ADJUSTMENT
MADE 

DURING
THE YEAR

CUMULATIVE
DEPRECIATION

AS ON 
31.03.2023

NET BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2023

NET BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2022

A B C D E F G H I J
Total as on 31.03.2023 383.52 196.56 0.00 580.08 175.72 38.50 0.00 214.22 365.86 207.80

NOTE NO : 2(b) RIGHT OF USE ASSET 	 (Amount in Rs. Million)
PARTICULARS 

OF ASSETS
Useful 

Life as per 
Schedule 

II

As at 
01.04.2023

ADDITIONS
DURING
2023-24

SOLD/
DISCARDED

DURING
2023-24

Adjustments 
during

2023-24

GROSS 
BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2024

Accumulated 
Dep. As at 

01.04.2023 on 
account of 
adoption of 
Ind AS 116

DEPRECIATION
FOR THE

YEAR 2023-24

CUMULATIVE
DEPRECIATION

AS ON 
31.03.2024

NET 
CARRYING 

VALUE
AS ON 

31.03.2024

A B C D E F G H I
ROU ASSET Based 

on Lease 
Period

29772.80 290.00 0.00 0.00 30062.80 9601.74 2672.28 12274.02 17788.78

Total as on 31.03.2024 29772.80 290.00 0.00 0.00 30062.80 9601.74 2672.28 12274.02 17788.78

(Amount in Rs. Million)
As at 

01.04.2022
ADDITIONS

DURING
2022-23

SOLD/
DISCARDED

DURING
2022-23

GROSS 
BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2023

Accumulated 
Dep.
As at 

01.04.2022

DEPRECIATION
FOR THE

YEAR 2022-23

ADJUSTMENT
MADE DURING

THE YEAR

CUMULATIVE
DEPRECIATION

AS ON 
31.03.2023

NET 
CARRYING 

VALUE
AS ON 

31.03.2023
A B C D E F G H I

Total as on 31.03.2023 26704.20 3068.60 0.00 0.00 29772.80 7030.35 2571.39 9601.74 20171.06

NOTE NO: 2(c) INTANGIBLE ASSETS 	 (Amount in Rs. Million)
PARTICULARS OF 

ASSETS
Useful 

Life as per 
Schedule 

II

GROSS 
BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2023

ADDITIONS
DURING
2023-24

SOLD/
DISCARDED

DURING
2023-24

GROSS 
BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2024

Accumulated 
Dep. UP TO
01.04.2024

DEPRECIATION
FOR THE

YEAR 2023-24

ADJUSTMENT
MADE 

DURING
THE YEAR

CUMULATIVE
DEPRECIATION

AS ON 
31.03.2024

NET BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2024

NET BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2023

A B C D E F G H I J
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
- TRADEMARK

Infinite 2.54 0.00 0.00 2.54 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.54 2.54

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
- COMPUTER 
SOFTWARE

As per 
Contract

87.63 0.00 0.00 87.63 8.17 16.66 0.00 24.83 62.80 79.46

Total as on 31.03.2024 90.17 0.00 0.00 90.17 8.17 16.66 0.00 24.83 65.34 82.00

(Amount in Rs. Million)
GROSS 
BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2022

ADDITIONS
DURING
2022-23

SOLD/
DISCARDED

DURING
2022-23

GROSS 
BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2023

Accumulated 
Dep.

UP TO
01.04.2022

DEPRECIATION
FOR THE

YEAR 2022-23

ADJUSTMENT
MADE 

DURING
THE YEAR

CUMULATIVE
DEPRECIATION

AS ON 
31.03.2023

NET BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2023

NET BLOCK
AS ON 

31.03.2022

A B C D E F G H I J
Total as on 31.03.2023 26.09 64.08 0.00 90.17 0.29 7.88 0.00 8.17 82.00 25.80
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NOTE NO.- 3
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Unsecured Considered Good 
	 Security Deposits (Maturity more than 12 months)  1,077.75  1,038.80 
Unsecured Considered Doubtful 
	 Advance to Suppliers  9.06  9.06 
	 Less: Impairment Allowances to Doubtful Debts  (9.06)  (9.06)
Total  1,077.75  1,038.80 

NOTE NO.- 4
INCOME TAX ASSETS (NET)  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Advance Payment of Income Tax including TDS  482.44  612.79 
Less: Provision for taxation  -  - 
Total  482.44  612.79 

NOTE NO.- 5
OTHER NON CURRENT ASSETS  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Advances other than Capital Advances 
Security Deposits (Maintenance Reserve Pot)  5,691.85  4,883.25 
GST Input Tax Recoverable & TCS  1,456.74  1,221.94 
Total  7,148.59  6,105.19 

NOTE NO.- 6
INVENTORIES  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Stores and Spare Parts *  551.90  608.52 
Loose Tools *  14.07  14.07 
Goods in Transit  -  - 
Less: Provision for Obsolescence & Shortages  (384.61)  (281.17)
Total  181.36  341.43 

* For valuation refer Significant Accounting Policy clause 3(VI)(B)
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NOTE NO.- 7
TRADE RECEIVABLES  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Secured Trade Receivables  -  - 
Unsecured Trade Receivables 
	 Trade Receivables Considered good  516.34  1,007.45 
	 Trade Receivable which have significant increase in 

Credit Risk 
 -  - 

	 Trade Receivable- Credit Impaired  25.27  25.27 
	 Less: Impairment Allowance for doubtful receivables  (25.27)  (25.27)
Total  516.34  1,007.45 

Trade Receivables ageing schedule
Particulars Current year 

 Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment
Less than 
6 months 

 6 months 
-1 year 

 1-2 
years 

 2-3 
years 

More than 
3 years 

TOTAL 

(i)	 Undisputed Trade receivables – 
considered good 

 198.16  142.71  175.45  0.02 -  516.34 

(ii)	 Undisputed Trade Receivables – which 
have significant increase in credit risk 

(iii)	 Undisputed Trade Receivables – credit 
impaired 

 25.27  25.27 

(iv)	Disputed Trade Receivables–
considered good 

(v)	 Disputed Trade Receivables – which 
have significant increase in credit risk 

(vi)	Disputed Trade Receivables – credit 
impaired 

Trade Receivables ageing schedule
Particulars Previous year

 Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment
 Less than 
6 months 

 6 months 
-1 year 

 1-2 
years 

 2-3 
years 

More than 
3 years 

TOTAL 

(i)	 Undisputed Trade receivables – 
considered good 

 557.89  65.14  59.95 27.43  297.04 1,007.45 

(ii)	 Undisputed Trade Receivables – which 
have significant increase in credit risk 

(iii)	 Undisputed Trade Receivables – credit 
impaired 

 25.27  25.27 

(iv)	Disputed Trade Receivables–
considered good 

(v)	 Disputed Trade Receivables – which 
have significant increase in credit risk 

(vi)	Disputed Trade Receivables – credit 
impaired 
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NOTE NO.- 8
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Balance with Banks 
	 In Current Accounts  227.82  149.53 
	 In Bank Deposits (Maturity less than 3 Months)  -  - 
Cash in hand  0.04  0.02 
Total  227.86  149.55 

NOTE NO.- 9
BANK BALANCES OTHER THAN CASH & CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 

 As at 
31st March, 2024

 As at 
31st March, 2023

 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 
Balance with Banks 
Bank balance in Current Account*  12.00  12.00 
In Margin Money Deposits (3 < Maturity < 12) **  975.24  789.31 
Total  987.24  801.31 

*The Bank Balance in IOB amounting Rs. 12 million has been marked Lien/Hold U/S 226(3) of Income 
Tax Act. 1961	

 **These deposits are under lien to banks as security for availing various non-fund based Liens of 
credit and it includes 10% margin money and accured interest thereon.	

NOTE NO.- 10
Other Financial Assets  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Unsecured Considered Good 
	 Advances to Suppliers  71.19  76.09 
	 Advances to Staff  0.33  0.23 
Unsecured Considered Doubtful 
	 Advances to Staff  5.45  5.45 
	 Less: Allowance for Doubtful Staff Advances  (5.45)  (5.45)
Total  71.52  76.32 
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NOTE NO.- 11
Other Current Assets  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Advance other than Capital advances 
(a)	Security Deposits 
	 Deposit with Authorities  0.11  0.11 
	 Deposits with High Court  2.38  222.38 
	 Less: Provision for Doubtful Deposit  (2.38)  (222.38)
(b)	Advances to Related Parties 
	 Receivable from Related Parties  100.60  4.21 
(c)	Other Advances 
	 Prepaid Expenses  159.58  160.53 
	 Receivable from Others  211.60  341.42 
Total  471.89  506.27 

NOTE NO.- 12
EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Authorised Share Capital
200,000,000 Equity Shares of Rs.100/- each  20,000  20,000 
(Previous Year 200,000,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 100/- each) 

 20,000  20,000 
Issued, Subscribed & fully Paid up Share Capital
1002,25,000 Equity Shares of Rs.100/- each, fully paid-up  10,022.50  4,022.50 
(Previous Year 402,25,000 Equity Shares of Rs. 100/- each)  -  - 

 10,022.50  4,022.50 

12 (a) Reconciliation of no. of shares  As at 
31st March, 2024

 As at 
31st March, 2023

 No. of Shares  No. of Shares 
No. of equity shares at the beginning of year  4,02,25,000  4,02,25,000 
Add: No. of equity shares issued  6,00,00,000 -
Less: No. of equity shares redeemed  -  - 
No. of equity shares at the closing of the year  10,02,25,000  4,02,25,000 

12 (b) Equity Shares: Terms and Conditions/Rights attached for Equity Shares	

The company has only one class of equity shares having a par value of Rs. 100 per share. Each 
shareholder is eligible for one vote per share held. There is no restriction of payment of dividend. In the 
liquidation, the equity shareholders are eligible to receive the remaining assets of the company after 
distribution of all preferential amounts proportionate of their shareholding.	
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12 (c) Equity Shares held by its Holding Company

1002,25,000 Equity Shares (Previous Year 4,02,25,000 equity shares) are held by AI Assets Holding 
Limited, the holding company. 

During 2023-24, right issue was made in two tranches - for 1st issue of 30,000,000 shares, issue date 
was 20.06.2023 & allotment date was 27.06.2023 and for 2nd issue of 30,000,000 shares, issue date 
was 12.02.2024 & allotment date was 17.02.2024.	

12 (d) Details of shareholder holding more than 5% of Equity Shares:	
Name of Shareholder  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 No. Of Shares  No. Of Shares 

AI Assets Holding Limited (Holding Company) 
	 Equity Shares  10,02,25,000  4,02,25,000 
	 Total No. of shares  10,02,25,000  4,02,25,000 
	 Percentage of Holding 100% 100%

12 (e) Shares Held by promoters 

Nil share are being held by promoters

NOTE NO.-13
OTHER EQUITY  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

1.	 Surplus /(Deficit) in statement of profit & loss 
	 Opening balance  (40,682.63)  (35,016.89)
	 Add:Profit / (Loss) for the year  (6,210.20)  (5,665.73)
		  Other Comperhensive Income  -  - 
	 Less: Prov. For Income Tax for the Asssessment Year 

2017-18 
 -  - 

	 Add: Prior Period Adjustments  -  - 
	 Less: Adjustment of the opening balance of OCI for 

Leave Encashment 
 -  - 

	 Transfer from Reserve  -  - 
	 Closing balance  (46,892.83)  (40,682.63)
2.	 Other Comprehensive Income 
	 Opening balance  16.89  8.88 
	 Add: Adjustment of the opening balance of OCI for Leave 

Encashment 
 -  - 

	 Add: For the Year  14.63  8.01 
	 Closing balance  31.52  16.89 
	 Total  (46,861.31)  (40,665.74)
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NOTE NO.- 14
LEASE LIABILITIES  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Lease Liabilities  21,705.15  24,636.26 
Less: Current Portion of lease liability  (3,494.71)  (3,252.68)
(Disclosed as Current Liability in Note 17 )
Non current lease liabilities  18,210.44  21,383.58 
TOTAL  18,210.44  21,383.58 

NOTE NO.- 15
PROVISIONS  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Provisions for Employee Benefits
Provision for Gratuity  71.17  80.62 
Less : Current Portion of Gratuity (Disclosed under Note No. 
20)

 (14.76)  (3.44)

Provision for Leave Enchashment  27.19  37.16 
Less: Current Portion of Leave Encashment (Disclosed 
under Note No. 20)

 (5.83)  (1.77)

Other Provisions
Provision for Re-delivery of Aircraft  698.03  681.33 
TOTAL  775.80  793.90 

NOTE NO.-16
CURRENT BORROWINGS  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Loans From Related Parties (Unsecured)
Due to AI Assets Holding Limited ( Holding Company 
from 21.01.2022) 

 26,191.48  23,995.78 

(Interest @ 9 % has been charged on the Avg. Balance 
outstanding by AIAHL.)
Due to AI Assets Holding Limited  562.50  562.50 
(The amount of Rs. 562.50 million has been received for 
renewal of SBLCs in the year 2021-22, on which interest is 
being provided @1% p.a as per the Board approval of AIAHL. 
Pending terms and condition of repayment, this advance has 
been accounted as short term borrowing)
TOTAL  26,753.98  24,558.28 
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NOTE NO.-17
LEASE LIABILITIES  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Current Portion of lease liability  3,494.71  3,252.68 
(Refer Note No. 14 )
TOTAL  3,494.71  3,252.68 

NOTE NO.-18
TRADE PAYABLES  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

a)	 Total outstanding dues of 
	 Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises  -  - 
b)	 Total outstanding dues of Creditor other
	 than Micro Enterprises and Small Enterprises
	 -	 Provision for Expenses  3,349.75  3,131.58 
	 -	 Vendors in India  7,987.05  9,010.03 
	 -	 Vendors Outside India  788.08  942.68 
	 -	 Payable to Related Parties  3,577.79  3,169.96 
	 -	 Supplier-RAMCO *  111.77  111.77 
	 -	 Airport Taxes  108.74  79.67 
TOTAL  15,923.18  16,445.69 

*The reconciliation and matching of Supplier- Ramco Ledgers by relating GRN and PO is under 
process.

(Amount in Rs. Millions)
Particulars Current Year  

Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment
Less than 

1 year
1-2 years 2-3 years More than 

3 years
TOTAL

(i)	 MSME
(ii)	 Others 8953.07 3569.11 2309.06 1091.94 15923.18
(iii)	Disputed dues — MSME
(iv)	Disputed dues - Others
TOTAL 8953.07 3569.11 2309.06 1091.94 15923.18
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Particulars Previous Year 
Outstanding for following periods from due date of payment
Less than 

1 year
1-2 years 2-3 years More than 

3 years
TOTAL

(i)	 MSME
(ii)	 Others 2227.39 6784.07 2715.73 4718.50 16445.69
(iii)	Disputed dues — MSME
(iv)	Disputed dues - Others
TOTAL 2227.39 6784.07 2715.73 4718.50 16445.69

NOTE NO.- 19
OTHER CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Earnest Money Deposit  37.52  2.01 
Security Deposits  11.61  311.44 
Others  101.29  101.66 
TOTAL  150.42  415.11 

NOTE NO.- 20
CURRENT PROVISIONS  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Provision for Gratuity Liability  14.76  3.44 
Current Portion of Gratuity (Disclosed under Note No. 15 
above)
Provision for Leave Enchashment  5.83  1.77 
TOTAL  20.59  5.21 

NOTE NO.- 21
OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES  As at 

31st March, 2024
 As at 

31st March, 2023
 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 

Advance from Agents & Customer  170.48  204.04 
Forward Sales  546.71  253.38 
Statutory dues Payable
-	 TDS on GST payable  21.66  0.95 
-	 TDS payable as per Income Tax  113.33  533.85 
-	 GST Payable  3.13  19.27 
-	 Provident Fund Payable  -  4.11 
-	 Service Tax Payable  -  31.13 
-	 Others-Pro. Tax  0.01  0.08 
TOTAL  855.32  1,046.81 



ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION LIMITED

130

NOTE NO.- 22
Revenue From Operations  2023-2024  2022-2023 

 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 
1.	 Operational Revenue
	 From Sale of Services
	 i)	 Scheduled Traffic Services
		  a)	 Passenger  5,932.58  6,517.90 
		  b)	 Excess Baggage  95.93  9.99 
		  c)	 Mail  1.63  0.99 
		  d)	 Cargo  7.58  12.55 

 6,037.72  6,541.43 
	 ii)	 Non-Schedule Traffic Services
		  a)	 Charter  94.21  99.14 
		  b)	 Subsidy for Operation from Government  3,237.36  3,659.93 

 3,331.57  3,759.07 
	 iii)	 Other Operating Revenue
		  Handling Servicing and Incidental Revenue  178.37  683.68 
  178.37  683.68 
TOTAL  9,547.66  10,984.18 

NOTE NO.- 23
Other Income  2023-2024  2022-2023 

 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 
1.	 Interest on Fixed Deposit  57.67  45.22 
2.	 Interest on Income Tax Refund  20.20  - 
3.	 Others
	 -	 Provisions No Longer Required Written Back  -  20.19 
TOTAL  77.87  65.41 
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NOTE NO- 24
Other Operating Expenses  2023-2024  2022-2023 

 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 
i) Aircraft Lease, Handling & Maintenance charges

Lease of Aircraft Engine  -  - 
Handling  610.58  519.70 
Maintenance  2,673.34  1,961.17 

 3,283.92  2,480.87 
ii) Navigation, Landing, Housing & Parking

Landing Fees - Scheduled & Other Ops  28.63  28.11 
Housing & Parking Fees  20.14  17.22 
Flight Comm & Navigation Charges  290.39  291.27 

 339.16  336.59 
iii) Other Communication Charges

Expenses on Reservation System  65.68  80.47 
Postage Telegram & Courier Charges  0.10  0.06 
Telephone & Trunk Call Charges  2.81  1.93 

 68.59  82.46 
iv) Passenger Amenities

Pax Amenities - Catering On Ground  0.10  1.34 
Pax Amenities - Catering On Board  108.91  97.11 
Pax Amenities - Hotel Expenses  0.20  0.41 
Pax. Call center Charges  8.90  6.88 

 118.11  105.74 
v) Insurance

Insurance - Aircraft  150.77  146.71 
Insurance General  0.01  0.09 

 150.78  146.80 
vi) Inventory Consumption

Material Consumed-Aircraft *  522.09  273.08 
Provision for Obsolescence (Net) **  (66.63)  66.47 

 455.46  339.55 
vii) Booking Agency Commission (Net)

Commisson on Ticket sale  233.70  250.52 
 233.70  250.52 

 TOTAL  4,649.72  3,742.54 

* refer note no. 30 

** refer note no. 32
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NOTE NO.- 25
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES  2023-2024  2022-2023 

 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 
1.	 Salary, Wages and Bonus
	 Salaries - Staff In India  1,368.38  1,352.55 
	 Bonus Expense  7.61  7.38 

 1,375.99  1,359.93 
2.	 Crew Allowances 
	 Foreign Contract Pilots Fees & Claims  17.93  21.05 

 17.93  21.05 
3.	 Contribution to Provident and Other Funds
	 CC Provident Fund-Staff in India  20.58  20.73 

 20.58  20.73 
4.	 Staff Welfare Expenses
	 Other Staff Welfare Expenses  30.68  23.69 
	 Staff Training Expenses  70.70  82.29 

 101.38  105.98 
5.	 Gratuity  13.73  15.89 
6.	 Leave Encashment  (4.49)  1.80 
 TOTAL  1,525.12  1,525.39 

NOTE NO.-26
FINANCE COST  2023-2024  2022-2023 

 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 
(i)	 Interest on Loans:
	 -	 Interest Charged by Holding Company*  2,412.06  2,154.49 
(ii)	 Interest expense on lease liabilities  199.58  221.48 
(iii)	Impact of Forex on Lease Liability  351.43  1,951.97 
(iv)	Bank Charges  73.75  12.92 
(v)	Delayed Payment Charges to Fuel Companies  445.02  378.74 
(vi)	Interest charged by related parties  327.26  268.47 
TOTAL  3,809.10  4,988.07 

*Interest @ 9 % has been charged on the Avg. outstanding balance by AIAHL. Interest @ 1% 
has been charged on Rs. 562.50 Millions credited by AIAHL in 2021-22.	
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NOTE NO.- 27
OTHER EXPENSES  2023-2024  2022-2023 

 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 
Travelling Expenses  59.43  63.17 
Rent  90.08  89.14 
Repair Charges  0.31  0.41 
Hire of Transport  57.25  57.12 
Electricity / Heating & Fuel Charges  12.92  8.81 
Water Charges  0.25  0.01 
Printing and Stationary  8.57  10.48 
Publicity and Sales Promotion  5.14  3.19 
Covid Exp.  -  0.67 
Legal Charges  0.02  2.51 
Stamp Duty  0.53 -
Payment to Auditors  1.15  1.21 
Professional / Consultation Fees & Expenses  26.27  45.24 
Provision for Bad & Doubtful Advances  -  - 
Input Reversal  63.80  29.84 
Exchange Variation (Net)  (124.97)  (253.53)
Fees to DGCA  2.75  5.20 
Office Cleaning Expenses  0.23  0.15 
Entertainment Expenses - General  0.49  0.29 
Books & Periodicals - Jeppesen / Technical  38.02  31.04 
Surplus/Loss on Assets sold or scrapped  0.73  - 
Other Misc. Expenses  5.90  19.27 
Interest on delayed payment of TDS  62.54  46.00 
Interest on delayed payment of Service Tax/GST  0.01  0.02 
TOTAL  311.42  160.21 

NOTE NO.- 28
DISCLOSURE OF EARNING PER SHARE AS PER IND-AS 
33

 As at 
31st March, 2024

 As at 
31st March, 2023

 In Rs. Million  In Rs. Million 
a)	 Weighted average number of equity shares
	 Opening  4,02,25,000  4,02,25,000 
	 Issued  6,00,00,000  - 
	 Weighted Average Number of Equity Share 

(Used as Denominator)
 6,66,75,000  4,02,25,000 

b)	 Net profit after tax available for equity 
shareholders (Used as Numerator)

Rs. Million  (6,210.20)  (5,665.73)

c)	 Basic and Diluted Earning Per Share In Rupees  (93.14)  (140.85)
d)	 Par Value of Share (In Rupees)  100.00  100.00 

Note: Right issue of shares has been at par. Hence, no reinstatement of EPS for previous year has 
been done.
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29.	 Disclosure as per Ind AS 37 –Provisions, Contingent Liabilities & Contingent Assets:

A.	 Disclosure of Contingent Liabilities

	 Claims against AAAL not acknowledged as debts (excluding interest for which no claim is received 
and penalty wherever likely to be applicable) and are being contested to the extent ascertainable 
and quantifiable.

(Amount in Rs. Million)
Description Opening 

Balance 
As on 

01.04.2023

Additions Amount 
charged 
against 

the 
provision

Unused 
Amount 
reversed 
during 

the year

Effect of 
Change in 

Discounting 
rate

Balance 
As on 31st 

March 
2024

Income Tax 
Demand Notices 
Received by 
Company which 
are under appeal

8.38 791.81 0.00 11.97 N/A 788.22

Other Claims 
on account of 
Other contingent 
Liabilities

25.24 4.09 0.00  0.37 N/A 28.96

Grand Total 33.62 795.90 0.00 12.34 0 817.18

B.	 Explanatory Statement in respect of Other Contingent Liabilities

	 Miscellaneous claim Rs. 817.18 million (Previous Year - Rs. 33.62 million) includes:

	 •	 The above figure of Rs. 788.22 millions represents the excess of Interest on TDS as 
calculated by Traces compared to our calculations. 

	 •	 Unsettled legal claims of Rs. 28.96 million (Previous Year- Rs. 25.24 million) in respect of 
ongoing legal cases.

C.	 Capital & Other Commitments:

	 Estimated amount of contracts remaining to be executed on the Capital Account is given 
hereunder:

(Amount in Rs. Million)
Particulars As at 

31st March, 2024
As at 

31st March, 2023
- NIL NIL
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D.	 Provision for Redelivery

	 Movements in the provisions for redelivery are disclosed hereunder:
	 (Amount in Rs. Million)

PARTICULARS For the year ended 
31st March, 2024

For the year ended 
31st March, 2023

Balance as at beginning of the year 681.33 571.65
Provisions created during the year - 53.30
Interest accretion on provisions during the year 6.46 6.09
Amounts utilized/adjusted during the year - -
Impact of exchange loss on restatement of 
opening provision

- -

Impact of exchange Gain/Loss on restatement of 
closing provision

10.24 50.29

Balance as at end of the year 698.03 681.33
Balance as at end of the year - non-current 698.03 681.33
Balance as at end of the year - current - -

30.	 Physical Verification & Reconciliation

a)	 Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)

	 (i)	 As per the policy of the company, Physical Verification and reconciliation of Property, Plant 
and Equipment consisting of office Equipment, Furniture & fixtures, Engine & airframe 
Rotables, etc. is carried out on a biennial basis.

		  The majority of assets constituting around 98% of the total value of assets are located at 
Delhi, Kolkata & Hyderabad stations.

	 (ii)	 The last physical verification and reconciliation of Property, Plant and Equipment has 
been done for the FY 2023-24 for locations at Delhi, Kolkata & Hyderabad. The necessary 
accounting action for the discrepancy related to assets with book value of Rs. 0.004 million 
has been taken in the books of accounts during FY 2023-24.

b)	 Physical Verification of Aircraft Inventory

	 (i)	 The Physical Verification of Aircraft Inventory is done on a Biennial basis and the 
discrepancies observed in the course of the verification are adjusted in the year in which 
the report is finalized. 

	 (ii)	 The Physical Verification of Inventory has been carried out in FY 2023-24. The physical 
verification of the Aircraft Inventory was conducted by Internal Auditors and Statutory 
Auditors at Kolkata, Delhi, & Hyderabad.

	 (iii)	 Till disinvestment of Air India (AI), AAAL was using MMD module of AI i.e. RAMCO for 
booking the purchase and consumption of the Inventory through which all the transactions 
related to inventory were interfaced to SAP module of Alliance Air. The Inventory was kept in 
AI store prior to disinvestment of Air India Ltd and was controlled by Air India. Based on the 
requirement of AAAL, AI used to place the order to the respective vendors and clearance 
from customs authority was also carried out by AI since the items were imported to India 
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on Import-Export Code (IEC) of Air India. The Ramco inventory module was interfaced with 
SAP and both the purchase and consumption entry made in Ramco were posted in SAP 
through interface in the company code of AAAL (1200). 

		  After Disinvestment of AI (25th January 2022), AAAL has migrated to Laminar MMD system 
and the same was in operational since 18th May 2022. The closing balance in Ramco as on 
31st March 2022 was transferred from RAMCO to Laminaar. The purchase and consumption 
entry for the year 22-23 (upto September 2022) also interfaced to AAAL through interfaced 
entry from Ramco to SAP.

		  Alliance Air has set up its new Inventory storage space at the base stations and became 
operational since 2022. 

		  Handing over of the physical stock by AI to AAAL as per books was pending to be reconciled 
in full. 

		  Considering that the Aircraft spares are purchased mainly from OEM and considering the 
validity of the spares, the issuance was made on FIFO basis. The accounting policy of 
AAAL is also based on AI and as AI is having different types of Aircraft and the consumables 
purchased are being used for different types of aircraft, the consumption was booked on 
weighted average basis. But based on actual scenario and the same type of aircraft is 
maintained in AAAL, the consumption has been booked based on FIFO basis from 2023-24 
onward for which post fact approval of the change in accounting policy from the competent 
authority is placed based on approval of Financials.

		  Since the laminaar system is in operation, all the purchase and consumption of the inventory 
is booked in the module but due to technical glitch in the MMD system (Laminaar), the 
system could not correlate ROE (Rate of Exchange) of USD value of the spare, the actual 
INR figure is not portrayed in the laminaar system. Hence to arrive at the actual figure in INR, 
AAAL plotted all the inventory purchased since inception of laminaar and after considering 
the ROE the month wise purchase and consumption has been arrived at, to portray the 
true and fair view of the financial statements. The net effect is Rs 10 million pertaining to 
2022-23 which has been additionally booked as purchase in SAP in the year 2023-24 and 
the same is currently identical with laminaar module and financial figures in SAP as well. 
Considering the materiality of the amount and based on AAAL accounting policy (point 
no XX), the effect has been given in 2023-24. The amount is within threshold limits and 
accordingly, the previous year accounts have not been reinstated.

		  As per company policy, the physical verification of the inventory was carried out and items 
found out in stock as on 31st March 2024 as compared list generated in Laminar system 
which was also valued at relevant Rate of Exchange.

		  The items physically not found in the stock have also been taken into consideration and a 
full provision amounting to Rs 170.07 million has been created in the financials for the year 
2023-24. 
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		  The details of the provision made and shown as consumption during 2023-24 is as follows:

		  Inventory Balances as per SAP for Last 2 years 	 (Amount in Rs. Million)
Particulars 2022-23 2023-24
Opening Balance    
Legacy Al System (Ramco) 437.58 254.09
AAAL MMD SYSTEM (Laminaar)   186.15
Total 437.58 440.24
Purchases    
Legacy Al System (Ramco) 59.30  
AAAL MMD SYSTEM (Laminaar) 292.90 270.85
Total 352.20 270.85
Consumption    
Legacy Al System (Ramco) -192.94 -90.56
AAAL MMD SYSTEM (Laminaar) -18.50 -192.47
Total -211.44 -283.03
Closing Stock    
Legacy Al System (Ramco) 303.94 163.53
AAAL MMD SYSTEM (Laminaar) 274.40 264.53
Total 578.34 428.06
Less: T/f to Rotables    
Legacy Al System (Ramco) -2.86 0.00
AAAL MMD SYSTEM (Laminaar) -88.25 0.00
Total -91.11 0.00
Closing Stock after T/f to Rotables 487.23 428.06
Less: Shortage Provision    
Legacy Al System (Ramco) 46.99  
AAAL MMD SYSTEM (Laminaar)    
Closing Balance After Shortage Provision    
Legacy Al System (Ramco) 254.09 163.53
AAAL MMD SYSTEM (Laminaar) 186.15 264.53
Total 440.24 428.06
Value of Inventory available after Physical 
Verification in SAP

   

Legacy Al System (Pamco)   146.64
AAAL MMD SYSTEM (Laminaar)   111.35
Total   257.99
Net Shortage as per Laminaar & Ramco 
(Further Provision Booked in SAP in FY 2023-
24)

  170.07

		  Regarding the shortage amounting to Rs. 170.07 million ascertained on physical verification 
of the inventory in the FY 2023-24 and in addition earlier provision of Rs. 47.00 million 
created during FY 2021-22, the management has formed a committee to investigate the 
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reason for the same. An independent Auditor will be appointed to review the findings of the 
committee.

		  Based on the Independent Auditor’s report on the same, further accountability with regard 
to shortage will be ascertained and accordingly further accounting action, if any, will be 
taken in FY 2024-25 

c)	 Confirmations/Reconciliations

	 1)	 The company has sought confirmation of balances for major receivables and payables. 
Wherever the balances confirmed by the parties are not in agreement with the books, 
reconciliation of the differences is under process.

		  Details of unconfirmed balances are tabulated as under:
(Amount in Rs. Million)

Head of Account Balance as per 
Books

Balance which is 
unconfirmed 

% of amount 
unconfirmed

TRADE PAYABLE 15,923.18 1,123.08 7.05%

TRADE RECEIVABLE 516.34 3.89 0.75%

	 2)	 Balance confirmation certificates as on 31st March 2024 have been sent to all vendors and 
customers. Confirmations have been obtained from 92.95% (previous year: 97.43%) of the 
total amount in case of vendors and in case of the customers all the parties are Govt Dept/
Ministry and 99.25% (previous year: 96.83%) of the total dues as on 31st March 2024 is 
confirmed.

	 3)	 An amount of Rs. 110.31 million is outstanding in books of accounts on account Suppliers 
Suspense Ledgers. The reconciliation and matching of Supplier – Ramco, Suspense 
Ledgers by relating GRN and PO is under process and necessary accounting action will be 
taken during 2024-25.

	 4)	 Management is of opinion that the adjustments after reconciliation will have no material 
impact in statement of Profit & Loss A/C.

31.	 Internal Control

	 To ensure regulatory and statutory compliance as well as to provide the highest level of corporate 
governance, the company has an adequate internal control system and process in place for the 
smooth and efficient conduct of business. A comprehensive delegation of power exists for smooth 
decision making which is periodically reviewed to align with changing business environment 
and for speedier decision making. Elaborate guideline forth preparation of accounts is followed 
consistently for uniform compliances. In order to ensure that all checksand balances are in place 
and all internal control systems are in order, a regular and exhaustive internal audit is being 
conducted by an independent firm of Chartered Accountants. The scope of the internal auditor is 
reviewed by management from time to time to ensure to implement the effective internal controls 
at stations, regional offices and user departments and a system for uniform and timely accounting 
entries of transactions in SAP. Besides, the company has Audit Committee, to keep a close 
watch on compliance with the internal control system. The external modules used for MMD & 
Revenue accounting are periodically reviewed and any deficiencies noticed have been dealt with 
by ensuring the correct financial reporting by the management.
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	 Alliance Air has already implemented new SAP effective from 1st April 2023. All the transaction 
during 2023-24 has been accounted in the New SAP. The closing balance of all General ledger 
as on 31st March 2023 have been freeze and the same have been migrated as opening balance 
in New SAP for FY 2023-24.

	 The backup of all transaction since 01.04.2013 till 31.03.2023 have been maintained in the cloud 
server for reference purpose. 

32.	 Inventories

	 1.	 The inventory consists mainly of aircraft spares & consumables and tools of ATR & Do 228 
aircraft.  The spares for exclusive use in ATR & Do 228 aircraft are being procured through 
the Engineering department and recorded with the help of Inventory Management module 
called  Laminaar system. Inventory management of the entire AAAL network has been 
controlled by the various transactions such as Purchase order, GRN, issuance, stock check 
in the LIMS (Logistics and inventory management system) module of Laminaar system.

	 2.	 The Interface between LAMINAR and SAP is yet to be implemented. After the implementation 
this interface, all the transactions which will take place in LAMINAR will be directly posted 
in SAP through the interface.

	 3.	 As at year end Physical Verification of Inventory has been carried out. 

	 4.	 The Aircraft spares are purchased mainly from OEM and considering the validity of the 
spares, the issuance is being made on FIFO basis for maximum utilization of the spares within 
expired time limit in the current MMD Module. Till disinvestment of Air India, the accounting 
policy of AAAL related to consumption of inventory was in line with Holding company’s 
Accounting Policy as many of the items in the inventory pool commonly maintained for both 
Alliance Air and AI were used simultaneously on different aircraft. Due to the same, the 
consumption of inventory was booked on weighted average basis. After disinvestment of Air 
India, AAAL has only one type of aircraft (ATR) in its fleet and the inventory is also aircraft 
specific. The inventories are also having a certain shelf life and to utilize the inventory to a 
maximum extent within the validity period, the issuance of inventory is considered on FIFO 
basis and Laminaar MMD module is also configured to ensure that the consumption of the 
inventory will be FIFO basis only.

		  However, prior to 2023-24, since RAMCO & Laminaar Systems were in force simultaneously, 
it is impracticable to adjust comparative information for the prior period to achieve 
comparability with the current period because the data during the prior period was being 
collected in such a way that the retrospective application of the new accounting policy is 
impracticable to recreate the information. Additionally, developing estimate is potentially 
more difficult when retrospectively applying an accounting policy or making a retrospective 
restatement, because of the longer period of time that might have been passed since the 
affected transaction, other events or conditions occurred.

		  Further, the majority of the inventory was purchased and consumed through Laminaar 
system in Alliance Air in the previous year and Laminaar system is configured to record 
consumption on FIFO method, the restatement as a result of the change in accounting policy 
will not have material impact on the financials. Provision for obsolescence has been made 
based on physical verification findings and closing stock of inventory as on 31.03.2024.
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33.	 Event Occuring after Balance sheet Date: 

	 a.	 A fire took place in CAMO office of AAAL on date 23rd April 2024 due to short circuit. The 
premises was on lease and temporary structure in form of work station had been inherited 
from Air India. The assets consisting of Computer System were destroyed in fire with book 
value of approx.. Rs. 0.07 million. The necessary accounting for the same will be affected 
in FY 2024-25. 

	 b.	 Whistleblower Complaint and Pending Investigation

		  In June 2024, a whistleblower complaint was filed with the Chairman regarding certain 
allegations against the erstwhile Chief Financial Officer (CFO). Based on the same 
allegations, an internal committee was constituted vide Office Order No. dated 10.06.2024 to 
investigate the matter. The committee submitted its report to the CEO and subsequently to 
the Chairman on 15th July 2024. The matter is currently under investigation by the Vigilance 
Department, and the final report is awaited. No conclusions can be drawn until the Vigilance 
Department submits its findings.

		  Accounting Treatment and Compliance

		  A provision has been created for the potential recovery of the salary paid to the erstwhile 
CFO without Board approval, amounting to Rs. 0.21 million. 

		  A provision for potential recovery, amounting to Rs. 4.85 million has been created under the 
category “Outstanding recoveries” in relation to the alleged payment to M/s Allywired Soft 
Solutions Private Limited based on forged invoices.

		  Both provisions have been classified as  other current assets. The event qualifies as 
an adjusting event under IND AS 10 (Events After the Reporting Period). The provisions 
will be adjusted, and appropriate actions will be taken based on the final findings of the 
Vigilance Department’s investigation report.

	 c.	 Approval and Signing of Financial Statements:

		  As per Section 134 of the Companies Act, 2013, the financial statements, including 
consolidated financial statements, must be approved by the Board of Directors and signed 
by:

		  i.	 The Chairperson of the company, if authorized by the Board;

		  ii.	 Two Directors (one being the Managing Director, if applicable);

		  iii.	 The Chief Executive Officer (CEO);

		  iv.	 The Chief Financial Officer (CFO); and

		  v.	 The Company Secretary, where appointed.

		  In this regard:

		  •	 CFO Position: Shri Ambar Mondal, the then CFO, ceased to hold office on 31.07.2024. 
The Company is in the process of recruiting a new CFO.

		  •	 CEO Position: Shri Vineet Sood, the then CEO, resigned on 21.09.2024. Subsequently, 
Shri Rambabu Ch., CEO of AI Airport Services Limited (AIASL), has been given 
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additional charge as CEO of Alliance Air by the Ministry of Civil Aviation w.e.f. 
21.09.2024. 

		  Accordingly, the financial statements for the year ended 31st March 2024 have been 
approved by the Board of Directors and signed by:

	 	 •	 The Chairperson (as authorized by the Board); 

	 	 •	 Director;

	 	 •	 The Chief Executive Officer (CEO); and

	 	 •	 The Company Secretary.

34.	 Status of Reconciliation with Airport Operators

	 1.	 Reconciliation with the Airport Authority of India has been carried out and has been reconciled 
till 31.03.2024.

	 2.	 The accounts with BIAL, DIAL, HIAL and MIAL have been reconciled up to 31.03.2024.

35.	 Disclosure as per Ind-AS 108 “Operating Segments”

	 A.	 In terms of IND AS – 108, the Company is engaged in airline-related business, which is its 
primary business segment and hence segment results are not disclosed separately. The 
details of geographical area-wise gross passenger revenue earned (derived by allocating 
revenue to the area from where the passenger has originated) are given here:

	 (Amount in Rs. Million)
Particulars FY-2023-24 FY-2022-23
India 9,522.79 10,959.06
Outside India 24.87 25.12
TOTAL 9,547.66 10,984.18

		  The major revenue earning asset of the Company is its aircraft fleet which is flexibly and 
optimally deployed across its route network. There is no suitable basis for allocation of 
assets and liabilities to geographical segment, consequently, area-wise assets and liabilities 
are not disclosed.

36.	 Disclosure as per Ind-AS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”

	 Disclosure of the names and designations of the Related Parties as required by Indian Accounting 
Standard (Ind AS 24) during the year 2023-24.

1.	 Key Management Personnel & Relatives:

	 Transactions with Key Managerial Personnel

	 i)	 There are no transactions with key managerial personnel other than Remuneration to Key 
Managerial persons.
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	 ii)	 Key Management Personnel & Relatives:

	 A.	 The Board of Directors of Alliance Air Aviation Ltd. (AAAL) (Formerly known as Airline Allied 
Services Ltd.) (During FY 2023-24 and till date)

S.
No.

Name Designation Date of 
Appointment

Date of 
Cessation

1. Shri Satyendra Kumar Mishra
Chairman & Managing Director, 
AI Assets Holding Limited(AIAHL)

Chairman 01/03/2023 31/12/2023

 2. Shri Asangba Chuba Ao
Chairman & Managing Director, 
AI Assets Holding Limited(AIAHL)

Chairman 29/02/2024 Till date

 3. Shri Asangba Chuba Ao
Joint Secretary, DT Division, 
Ministry of Civil Aviation

Director 18/01/2023 Till date

4. Shri Pranjol Chandra 
Director, Ministry of Civil Aviation 

Director 11/02/2022 13/12/2024

5. Shri Brajesh Kumar Srivastava
Deputy Secretary, Ministry of Civil 
Aviation

Director 18/01/2023 Till date

6. Smt Nayonika Dutta
Joint Director, Ministry of Civil 
Aviation

Director 12/02/2024 Till date

7. Shri Rohit Raj
Director, Ministry of Civil Aviation

Director* 13/12/2024 Till date

		  *The appointment shall be effective from the date of obtaining his Director Identification 
Number

	 B.	 Key Managerial Personnel & Relatives (During FY 2023-24 and till date)
S.

No.
Name Designation Date of 

Appointment
Date of 

Cessation
1. Mr. Vineet Sood Chief Executive Officer 31/07/2021 21/09/2024
2. Mr. Rambabu Ch. Chief Executive Officer 

(Addl. Charge)
21/09/2024 Till Date

3. Mr. Ambar Kumar Mondal Chief Financial Officer 26/07/2019 31/07/2024
4. Ms. Shilpa Bhatia Company Secretary 14/01/2022 Till Date

	 C.	 Related parties:

	 i)	 In terms of Ind AS 24, the following are related parties which are parties (Government) i.e., 
significantly controlled and influenced entities (Government of India):
Name Nature of Relationship Control/Influence
AI Assets Holding Ltd. 
(AIAHL)

Holding Company Entity having control over the 
company
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Name Nature of Relationship Control/Influence
AI Engineering Services 
Ltd. 

Sister Concern
(Subsidiary co. of AIAHL)

Entity having no significant 
influence/control on the company 

AI Airport Services Ltd Sister Concern
(Subsidiary co. of AIAHL)

Entity having no significant 
influence/control on the company 

Hotel Corporation of 
India Ltd.

Sister Concern
(Subsidiary co. of AIAHL)

Entity having no significant 
influence/control on the company 

	 D.	 Related Party Transactions

		  i.	 There are no transactions with Key Managerial Personnel except remuneration and 
perquisites paid to the Chief Executive Officer amounting to Rs.4.06 million (previous 
year: 4.01 million) ,to the Chief Financial Officer amounting to Rs. 1.90 million 
(previous year: 1.79 million) and to the Company Secretary amounting to Rs. 1.00 
million (previous year: 0.80 million) for the year 2023-24.

		  ii.	 Transactions such as providing airline-related services in the normal course of airline 
business are not included above.

		  iii.	 No Loans or Credit Transactions were outstanding with Directors or Officers of the 
Company or their relatives at the end of the year.

		  iv.	 In terms of Ind AS 24, the following are the disclosure requirements related to 
transactions with certain Government Related entities i.e., significantly controlled and 
influenced entities (Government of India) and non-Govt. related parties.

	 E.	 Transaction details - Related Parties

		  1.	 Parent Company AI Assets Holding Ltd. (AIAHL) and other subsidiaries of 
AIAHL.
Name of the Entities and Nature of 
transactions

2023-24
(Amount in  
Rs. Million)

2022-23 
(Amount in  
Rs. Million)a) AI Assets Holding Co. (AIAHL)

Expenditure
Space charges
Interest

2.84
2,412.06

2.03
2,154.49

Closing Balance (Cr.) * 29,169.58 26,711.28

Name of the Entities and Nature of 
transactions

2023-24
(Amount in  
Rs. Million)

2022-23
(Amount in  
Rs. Million)b) Hotel Corporation of India Ltd.

Expenditure
Hotel Accommodation
Income

3.50
0.07

1.67
(1.42)

Closing Balance (Cr.) * 0.49 (1.03)
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Name of the Entities and Nature of 
transactions

2023-24
(Amount in  
Rs. Million)

2022-23
(Amount in 
Rs. Million)c) AI Engineering Services Ltd. (AIESL)

earlier known as Air India Engineering 
Services Ltd.
Expenditure
Repair Other
Manpower
Training

566.45
10.85

-

559.58
26.84

0.28
SOD Billing by AAAL - -
Interest 210.77 172.81
Closing Balance (Cr.) * 2,584.75 2,302.60

Name of the Entities and Nature of 
transactions

2023-24
(Amount in  
Rs. Million)

2022-23
(Amount in 
Rs. Million)d) AI Airport Services Ltd. (AIASL) earlier 

known as Air India Air Transport Services 
Ltd.
Expenditure
Handling Charges 312.68 282.06
Credit Received 
Income

(4.43) (4.27)

Interest 114.95 94.53
Closing Balance (Cr.) * 1,378.91 1,284.03

			   *The closing balance includes provisions made during the year. 

		  2.	 Transactions with Provident Fund Trusts 	 (Amount in Rs. Million)
Particulars 2023-24 2022-23

PF Contribution 
during the Year

Payable 
as on 

31.03.2024

PF Contribution 
during the Year

Payable 
as on 

31.03.2023
AASL PF Trust 20.58 - 20.73 4.11

			   Major Transactions with Government-Related Entities

			   The details of the major transactions of revenue and expenditure of the Company with 
Govt Related Entities are given hereunder:

(Amount in Rs. Million)
Sr. 
No.

Name of Entity 2023-24 2022-23

Expenditure
i) Airport Authority of India (including 

space)
284.92 297.54

ii) Oil Companies
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Sr. 
No.

Name of Entity 2023-24 2022-23

Indian Oil Co Ltd 2,018.66 2390.74
Hindustan Petroleum Co Ltd 504.06 666.19
Bharat Petroleum Co Ltd 480.54 594.29
Revenue

i) Subsidy for Operation from Govt.
Govt of India 3,237.36 3,659.93

ii) Charter Revenue - Others
Govt of India 14.49 4.16

			   Note: The above transactions with the Govt/Govt Related entities cover transactions 
that are significant individually and collectively. The company also entered into other 
transactions with various other Govt. related entities; however, these transactions are 
insignificant either individually or collectively and hence not disclosed.

37.	 Employee Benefits

	 The Company provides retirement benefits in the form of Gratuity and Leave Encashment on the 
basis of valuation, as at the Balance Sheet Date, carried out by independent Actuaries, as per 
Ind AS19 issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India. 

	 a.	 Privilege Leave Encashment is payable to all eligible employees at the time of retirement 
up to a maximum of 300 days. Leave Encashment liability for the current financial year is 
Rs. (4.49) million (Previous Year Rs.1.80 million) considering the high attrition rate of the 
employees.

	 b.	 Defined Benefit Plan –

	 1)	 Provident Fund (Funded)

		  The company pays a fixed contribution to the provident fund at predetermined rates to 
a separate trust, which invests the funds in permitted securities. The company has an 
obligation to ensure a minimum rate of return to the members as specified by GOI.

		  As per the provisions of the Employees’ Provident Funds and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 
1952, the Company has no right to the benefits either in the form of a refund from the plan 
or lower future contribution to the plan towards the net surplus of Rs. 21 million determined 
through actuarial valuation. Accordingly, Company has not recognized the surplus as an 
asset, and the actuarial gains in ‘Other Comprehensive Income’, as these pertain to the 
Provident Fund Trust and not to the Company. 

		  During the year, PF deductions for 32 employees was not been deducted and in the month 
of June 2024, an amount of Rs 31,908 has been deducted and transferred to PF Trust.

		  Based on the actuarial valuation obtained in this respect, the following table sets out the 
status of the provident fund plan as at the balance sheet date
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Assets / Liability 31/03/2024 31/03/2023
a Present value of obligation 511,902,718 471,608,047
b Fair value of plan assets 533,370,147 502,326,287
c Net assets / (liability) recognized in 

balance sheet as provision
21,467,429 30,718,240

		  Change in Present Benefit Obligation	
31/03/2024 31/03/2023

a) Present value of obligation as at the 
beginning of the period

471,608,047 420,471,990 

b) Interest Cost 34,657,498 29,102,281 
c) Current Service Cost 20,595,124 20,726,677 
d) Contributions by plan participants / 

employees
25,952,677 26,650,434 

e) Benefits Paid (29,370,517) (23,421,138)
f) Total Actuarial (Gain)/Loss on Obligation (11,540,111) (1,922,197)
g) Settlements/Transfer In -- 0 
h) Present value of obligation as at the 

End of the period
511,902,718 471,608,047 

		  Change in plan assets:	
31/03/2024 31/03/2023

a) Fair value of plan assets at the beginning of 
the period 

502,326,287 420,698,749 

b) Actual return on plan assets 35,288,658 57,671,565 
c) Employer contribution 20,595,124 20,726,677 
d) Plan Participants / Employee Contribution 25,952,677 26,650,434 
e) Benefits paid (29,370,517) (23,421,138)
f) Settlements / Transfer In -- --
g) Fair value of plan assets at the end of the 

period
533,370,147 502,326,287 

	 2)	 Gratuity (Unfunded)

		  The Company has a defined benefit gratuity plan which is unfunded and is treated as Other 
Long-Term Employee Benefits. The present value of the obligation is determined based on 
actuarial valuation using the Projected Unit Credit Method, which recognizes each period 
of service as giving rise to an additional unit of employee benefit entitlement and measures 
each unit separately to build up the final obligation. Gratuity is paid by the company as and 
when it becomes due and is paid as per the Gratuity Scheme of the company. During the 
year, there were no plan amendments, curtailments or settlements.
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		  Movement in net Defined Benefit (Asset) / Liability

		  a)	 Reconciliation of balances of Defined Benefit Obligation

		  2.1 (a): Table Showing Changes in Present Value of Obligations:
Period From: 01-04-2023 

To: 31-03-2024
From: 01-04-2022 

To: 31-03-2023
Present value of the obligation at the 
beginning of the period

8,06,17,906 7,46,69,924

Interest cost 60,46,343 54,13,570
Current service cost 76,87,146 1,04,76,509
Past Service Cost 0 0
Benefits paid (if any) (85,54,465) (19,28,078)
Actuarial (gain)/loss (1,46,26,194) (80,14,019)
Present value of the obligation at the end of 
the period

7,11,70,736 8,06,17,906

		  2.1 (b): Bifurcation of total Actuarial (gain) / loss on liabilities
Period From: 01-04-2023 

To: 31-03-2024
From: 01-04-2022 

To: 31-03-2023
Actuarial gain/losses from changes in 
Demographics assumptions (mortality)

Not Applicable Not Applicable

Actuarial (gain)/ losses from changes in 
financial assumptions

(79,74,039) (20,13,526)

Experience Adjustment (gain)/ loss for Plan 
liabilities

(66,52,155) (60,00,493)

Total amount recognized in other 
comprehensive Income

(1,46,26,194) (80,14,019)

		  2.2: Key results (The amount to be recognized in the Balance Sheet):
Period As on 31-03-2024 As on 31-03-2023
Present value of the obligation at the end of 
the period

7,11,70,736 8,06,17,906

Fair value of plan assets at end of the period 0 0
Net liability/(asset) recognized in Balance 
Sheet and related analysis

7,11,70,736 8,06,17,906

Funded Status - Surplus/ (Deficit) (7,11,70,736) (8,06,17,906)

		  2.3 (a): Expense recognized in the statement of Profit and Loss:
Period From: 01-04-2023 

To: 31-03-2024
From: 01-04-2022 

To: 31-03-2023
Interest cost 60,46,343 54,13,570
Current service cost 76,87,146 1,04,76,509
Past Service Cost 0 0
Expected return on plan asset (0) (0)
Expenses to be recognized in P&L 1,37,33,488 1,58,90,079
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		  2.3 (b): Other comprehensive (income) / expenses (Remeasurement)
Period From: 01-04-2023 

To: 31-03-2024
From: 01-04-2022 

To: 31-03-2023
Cumulative unrecognized actuarial (gain)/
loss opening. B/F

(2,66,63,257) (1,86,49,238)

Actuarial (gain)/loss - obligation (1,46,26,194) (80,14,019)
Actuarial (gain)/loss - plan assets 0 0
Total Actuarial (gain)/loss (1,46,26,194) (80,14,019)
Cumulative total actuarial (gain)/loss. C/F (4,12,89,451) (2,66,63,257)

		  2.3 (c): Net Interest Cost
Period From: 01-04-2023 

To: 31-03-2024
From: 01-04-2022 

To: 31-03-2023
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 60,46,343 54,13,570
Interest income on plan assets 0 0
Net interest cost (Income) 60,46,343 54,13,570

		  2.4: Experience adjustment:
Period From: 01-04-2023 

To: 31-03-2024
From: 01-04-2022 

To: 31-03-2023
Experience Adjustment (Gain) / loss for 
Plan liabilities 

(66,52,155) (60,00,493)

Experience Adjustment Gain / (loss) for 
Plan assets

0 0

		  3.1: Summary of membership data at the date of valuation and statistics based 
thereon:
Period As on: 31-03-2024 As on: 31-03-2023
Number of employees 865 909
Total monthly salary 1,78,82,219 1,89,90,869
Average Past Service (Years) 6.7 6.6
Average Future Service (yrs.) 22.3 22.2
Average Age (Years) 37.7 37.8
Weighted average duration (based on 
discounted cash flows) in years

14 15

Average monthly salary 20,673 20,892
Expected Future Service taking into account 
Decrements (Years)

865 16



ALLIANCE AIR AVIATION LIMITED

149

		  3.2: Actuarial assumptions provided by the company and employed for the calculations 
are tabulated:
Discount rate 7.10 % per annum 7.50 % per annum
Salary Growth Rate 6.00 % per annum 8.00 % per annum
Mortality IALM 2012-14 IALM 2012-14
Attrition / Withdrawal Rate (per Annum) 18.00% p.a. 5.00% p.a.(18 to 30 Years)
Withdrawal rate (Per Annum) 3.00% p.a. (30 to 44 Years)
Withdrawal rate (Per Annum) 2.00% p.a. (44 to 60 Years)

		  3.3: Benefits valued:
Normal Retirement Age 60 Years 60 Years
Salary Last drawn qualifying salary Last drawn qualifying salary
Vesting Period 5 Years of service 5 Years of service
Benefits on Normal 
Retirement

15/26 * Salary * Past Service 
(yr).

15/26 * Salary * Past Service 
(yr).

Benefit on early exit due to 
death and disability

As above except that no 
vesting conditions apply

As above except that no 
vesting conditions apply

Limit 2000000.00 2000000.00

		  3.4: Current Liability (*Expected payout in next year as per schedule III of the 
Companies Act, 2013):
Period As on: 

31-03-2024
As on: 

31-03-2023
Current Liability (Short Term)* 1,47,64,984 34,39,871
Non-Current Liability (Long Term) 5,64,05,752 7,71,78,035
Total Liability 7,11,70,736 8,06,17,906

		  3.5: Effect of plan on entity’s future cash flows

		  3.5 (a): Funding arrangements and funding policy

		  Not Applicable

		  3.5 (b): Expected contribution during the next annual reporting period
The Company’s best estimate of Contribution 
during the next year 

96,68,854 1,14,16,844

		  3.5 (c): Maturity profile of defined benefit obligation: Weighted Average
Weighted average duration (based on discounted 
cash flows) in years

14 15
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		  3.5 (d): Maturity Profile of Defined Benefit Obligation: Maturity analysis of benefit 
obligations.
01 Apr 2024 to 31 Mar 2025 1,47,64,984
01 Apr 2025 to 31 Mar 2026 61,17,726
01 Apr 2026 to 31 Mar 2027 57,25,444
01 Apr 2027 to 31 Mar 2028 49,15,593
01 Apr 2028 to 31 Mar 2029 68,95,443
01 Apr 2029 Onwards 3,27,51,546

		  3.6: Projection for next period:
Best estimate for contribution during next Period 96,68,854

		  3.7: Sensitivity Analysis: Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of 
the defined benefit obligation are discount rate and expected salary increase rate. 
Effect of change in mortality rate is negligible. Please note that the sensitivity analysis 
presented below may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit 
obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumption would occur in isolation 
from one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated. The results of the 
sensitivity analysis are given below:

Period As on 31-03-2024
Defined Benefit Obligation (Base) 7,11,70,736 @ Salary Increase Rate : 

6%, and discount rate :7.1%
Liability with x% increase in Discount Rate 6,83,05,258; x=1.00% [Change (4)% ]
Liability with x% decrease in Discount Rate 7,42,77,648; x=1.00% [Change 4% ]
Liability with x% increase in Salary Growth Rate 7,42,80,592; x=1.00% [Change 4% ]
Liability with x% decrease in Salary Growth Rate 6,82,51,395; x=1.00% [Change (4)% ]
Liability with x% increase in Withdrawal Rate 7,11,62,062; x=1.00% [Change 0% ]
Liability with x% decrease in Withdrawal Rate 7,11,72,449; x=1.00% [Change 0% ]

		  3.8: Reconciliation of liability in balance sheet
Period From: 01-04-2023 

To: 31-03-2024
From: 01-04-2022 

To: 31-03-2023
Opening gross defined benefit liability/ 
(asset)

8,06,17,906 7,46,69,924

Expenses to be recognized in P&L 1,37,33,488 1,58,90,079
OCI- Actuarial (gain)/ loss-Total current 
period

(1,46,26,194) (80,14,019)

Benefits paid (if any) (85,54,465) (19,28,078)
Closing gross defined benefit liability/ 
(asset)

7,11,70,736 8,06,17,906
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	 3)	 Leave Encashment (Unfunded) – 

		  The Company has defined benefit leave encashment plan in India (Unfunded) which is 
treated as Other Long-Term Employee Benefits. The Company’s net obligation in respect of 
Leave Encashment is the amount of benefit to be settled in the future, that employees have 
earned in return for their service in the current and previous years. The benefit is discounted 
to determine its present value. The obligation is measured on the basis of an actuarial 
valuation using the projected unit credit method.

		  2.1 (a): Table Showing Changes in Present Value of Obligations:
Period From: 01-04-2023 

To: 31-03-2024
From: 01-04-2022 

To: 31-03-2023
Present value of the obligation at the 
beginning of the period

3,71,56,834 3,53,53,415

Interest cost 27,86,763 25,63,123
Current service cost 41,83,502 58,61,124
Benefits paid (if any) (54,77,346) 0
Actuarial (gain)/loss (1,14,56,287) (66,20,828)
Present value of the obligation at the end of 
the period

2,71,93,466 3,71,56,834

		  2.1 (b): Bifurcation of total Actuarial (gain) / loss on liabilities
Period From: 01-04-2023 

To: 31-03-2024
From: 01-04-2022 

To: 31-03-2023
Actuarial gain/losses from changes in 
Demographics assumptions (mortality)

Not Applicable Not Applicable

Actuarial (gain)/ losses from changes in 
financial assumptions

(24,99,929) (9,59,206)

Experience Adjustment (gain)/ loss for Plan 
liabilities

(89,56,358) (56,61,622)

Total amount recognized in other 
comprehensive Income

(1,14,56,287) (66,20,828)

		  2.2: Key results (The amount to be recognized in the Balance Sheet):
Period As on 

31-03-2024
As on 

31-03-2023
Present value of the obligation at the end of the 
period

2,71,93,466 3,71,56,834

Fair value of plan assets at end of the period 0 0
Net liability/(asset) recognized in Balance Sheet 
and related analysis

2,71,93,466 3,71,56,834

Funded Status - Surplus/ (Deficit) (2,71,93,466) (3,71,56,834)
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		  2.3 (a): Expense recognized in the statement of Profit and Loss:
Period From: 01-04-2023 

To: 31-03-2024
From: 01-04-2022 

To: 31-03-2023
Interest cost 27,86,763 25,63,123
Current service cost 41,83,502 58,61,124
Expected return on plan asset (0) (0)
Net actuarial (gain)/loss recognized in the 
period

(1,14,56,287) (66,20,828)

Expenses to be recognized in P&L (44,86,022) 18,03,419

		  2.4: Experience adjustment:
Period From: 01-04-2023 

To: 31-03-2024
From: 01-04-2022 

To: 31-03-2023
Experience Adjustment (Gain) / loss for 
Plan liabilities 

(89,56,358) (56,61,622)

Experience Adjustment Gain / (loss) for 
Plan assets

0 0

		  3.1: Summary of membership data at the date of valuation and statistics based 
thereon:
Period As on 

31-03-2024
As on

31-03-2023
Number of employees 865 909
Total monthly salary 1,78,82,219 1,89,90,869
Average Past Service (Years) 6.7 6.6
Average Future Service (yrs.) 22.3 22.2
Average Age (Years) 37.7 37.8
Total Leave with Cap/Without Cap 37,892/37,892 45,248/45,248
Total CTC / Availment Rate 3,57,64,438 / 3% 3,79,81,738 / 3%
Weighted average duration (based on discounted 
cash flows) in years

15 17

Average monthly salary 20,673 20,892

		  3.2: Actuarial assumptions provided by the company and employed for the calculations 
are tabulated:
Discount rate 7.10 % per annum 7.50 % per annum
Salary Growth Rate 6.00 % per annum 8.00 % per annum
Mortality IALM 2012-14 IALM 2012-14
Attrition / Withdrawal Rate (per Annum) 18.00% p.a. 5.00% p.a.(18 to 30 Years)
Withdrawal rate (Per Annum) 3.00% p.a. (30 to 44 Years)
Withdrawal rate (Per Annum) 2.00% p.a. (44 to 60 Years)
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		  3.3: Benefits valued:
Normal Retirement Age 60 Years 60 Years
Salary As per rules of the company As per rules of the company
Benefits on Normal 
Retirement

1/30 * Salary * Number of 
leaves. 

1/30 * Salary * Number of 
leaves. 

Benefit on early exit As above, subject to rules of 
the company.

As above, subject to rules of 
the company.

Benefit on death As above, subject to rules of 
the company.

As above, subject to rules of 
the company.

		  3.4: Current Liability (*Expected payout in next year as per schedule III of the 
Companies Act, 2013):
Period As on 

31-03-2024
As on 

31-03-2023
Current Liability (Short Term) * 58,26,776 17,70,868
Non-Current Liability (Long Term) 2,13,66,690 3,53,85,966
Total Liability 2,71,93,466 3,71,56,834

		  3.5: Sensitivity Analysis: Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of 
the defined benefit obligation are discount rate and expected salary increase rate. 
Effect of change in mortality rate is negligible. Please note that the sensitivity analysis 
presented below may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit 
obligation as it is unlikely that the change in assumption would occur in isolation 
from one another as some of the assumptions may be correlated. The results of the 
sensitivity analysis are given below:
Period As on 31-03-2024
Defined Benefit Obligation (Base) 2,71,93,466
Liability with x% increase in Discount Rate 2,60,71,558; x=1.00% [Change (4)% ]
Liability with x% decrease in Discount Rate 2,84,11,967; x=1.00% [Change 4% ]
Liability with x% increase in Salary Growth 
Rate 

2,84,13,133; x=1.00% [Change 4% ]

Liability with x% decrease in Salary Growth 
Rate 

2,60,50,432; x=1.00% [Change (4)% ]

Liability with x% increase in Withdrawal Rate 2,72,47,759; x=1.00% [Change 0% ]
Liability with x% decrease in Withdrawal 
Rate 

2,71,34,967; x=1.00% [Change 0% ]

		  3.6: Reconciliation of liability in balance sheet
Period From: 01-04-2023 

To: 31-03-2024
From: 01-04-2022 

To: 31-03-2023
Opening gross defined benefit liability/ 
(asset)

3,71,56,834 3,53,53,415

Expenses to be recognized in P&L (44,86,022) 18,03,419
Benefits paid (if any) (54,77,346) 0
Closing gross defined benefit liability/ (asset) 2,71,93,466 3,71,56,834
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38.	 Deferred Tax Assets/ Liability

	 The company has a history of losses, hence in absence of convincing evidence that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses, deductible timing differences 
or unused tax credit can be utilized by the entity in near future, no accounting for Deferred Tax 
Assets / Liabilities has been made in the Financial Statements.

39.	 Disclosure as per Ind- AS 33 “Earnings Per Share”
Details As at 

31st March, 2024
As at 

31st March, 2023
Profit/ (Loss) after tax as per statement of profit and 
loss (In Rupees)

(6,210,201,359) (5,66,57,34,685)

Weighted Average no. of equity shares (Number)  66,675,000  4,02,25,000
EPS Basic & Diluted (In Rs.)  (93.14) (140.85)

40.	 Disclosure as per Micro and Small Enterprises Development Act, 2006

	 In terms of Section 22 of the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act 2006, 
the outstanding to these enterprises are required to be disclosed. The SAP system has a field, 
minority indicator in Vendor Master, which is updated to identify the vendor as SSI. The system is 
being enhanced to capture more details of SSI Vendors, such as certificate no., issuing agency, 
validity, etc.

	 Payments to the undertakings covered under the Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises 
Development Act (to the extent identified) have been made within the prescribed time limit/date 
agreed upon with the supplier. There is no interest liability for delayed payments to MSME. 
Information in respect of micro and small enterprises as at 31 March 2024 is as required by 
Micro, Small and Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (MSMED Act)
Particulars 31-March-24

(Amt in Rs. Million)
31-March-23

(Amt in Rs. Million)
a)	 Amount remaining unpaid to any supplier:
	 Principal amount NIL NIL
	 Interest due thereon NIL NIL
b)	 Amount of interest paid in terms of Section 16 of 

the MSMED Act along with the amount paid to the 
suppliers beyond the appointed day.

NIL NIL

c)	 Amount of interest due and payable for the period 
of delay in making payment (which have been 
paid but beyond the appointed day during the 
year) but without adding the interest specified 
under the MSMED Act.

NIL NIL

d)	 Amount of interest accrued and remaining unpaid NIL NIL
e)	 Amount of further interest remaining due and 

payable even in the succeeding years, until such 
date when the interest dues as above are actually 
paid to the small enterprises, for the purpose of 
disallowances as a deductible expenditure under 
Section 23 of MSMED Act

NIL NIL
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41.	 Going Concern
	 The company is a whollyowned subsidiary of AI Assets Holding Ltd. (AIAHL) and has full support 

from the Government of India to make the company fully operational.
	 The company has taken various measures to improve its operational efficiencies and cost control 

measures. 
	 The total fleet of Company stands at 21 aircraft as on 31st March’2024. All the aircraft are suitable 

for serving smaller / unserved / underserved airports in the country.
	 Alliance Air is entrusted to operate the routes allotted by Ministry of Civil Aviation under RCS 

& VGF scheme, specially in the remote areas for successfully implementing of UDAN scheme 
and always taking the challenge to fly to critical airfields, fulfilling the aspiration of Government 
of India to achieve the desired goal of UDAN scheme to connect the tier II & tier III cities and to 
discharge the social obligation as directed by Government of India. 

	 Alliance Air has also entered the agreement with different State Governments to operate the 
aircraft to connect the states with major cities under VGF scheme namely Uttrakhand, Odisha, 
Lakshadweep, Daman & Diu, Himachal & Chhattisgarh.

	 The company has emerged as one of the major player in the Government of India’s premier 
scheme UDAN and the performance of the airline under UDAN has been excellent. The total 
UDAN route won by the Company now stands at 165. Out of allotted routes, the company 
operated 115 routes as on 31st March 2024 (previous year 101 routes). 

	 Further, Ministry of Civil Aviation vide their letter DO. No. AV.17046/72/2019-AI dated 6th April’2023, 
categorically stated that Alliance Air is a going concern and has assured that Government will 
make all endeavor to clear the dues towards ATF supply to Alliance Air. 

	 Alliance Air received in principal approval from Ministry of Finance dated 20th April’2023 towards 
financial support of Rs. 600 crore. As per approval, both the tranches of Rs. 600 crore have been 
released to Alliance Air, Rs. 300 crores on 26th June 2023 and Rs. 300 crores on 16th February 
2024 as equity infusion from AIAHL.

	 Alliance Air is on the threshold of turnaround and poised to lead the regional connectivity in India 
in the next decade and be a leading regional carrier in Asia. Alliance Air is heading its way to 
reversing the trend of adverse financial parameters in this financial year 2024-25 and thereafter 
further consolidating the gains.

	 Since the company expects improvement in Operational and Financial Performances and the 
company has support from the government of India to make the company fully operational, hence 
the financial statements of the company have been prepared on the “Going  Concern” basis 
despite having accumulated losses and net-worth being eroded.”

42.	 Revenue
	 Alliance Air has operationalised New PSS/DCS system, namely Paxlink, since 15th April 2022. 

The tickets are being sold through the new PSS system against advance payment receipt from 
the OTAs/ Agents which comprises 86% of the total sale. 

	 The sale being made through WEB and ATO/CTO are also against the payment received from 
the customer. 

	 There is no provision of Credit sale except the tickets issued to the officials of other related party, 
which will be billed and the amount is adjusted against their dues. 
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	 The Revenue is booked in AAAL books based on the flown passenger.
	 The excess amount as accounted on account of sale over and above the Flown figure has been 

shown as forward sale as liability of the company.
	 Source data from Paxlink is being uploaded on a separate FTP server for use by outsourced 

agencies for verification/reconciliation on daily basis. Due diligence is being followed regarding 
non-disclosure & Integrity of the data being exchanged between the parties. The processed 
reports & data are available for verification and accounting purposes on the outsourced agencies 
portal. This processed data and reports generated are the basis for the recognition of AAAL 
revenue.

	 As per Industry practice, AAAL is complying with all necessary norms to ascertain the authenticity 
and accuracy of data processed by an outsourced agency. 

	 The handling & processing of revenue relating to cargo & mail are still being done by AIL.

43.	 Regional Connectivity Scheme
	 Till 31.3.2024, AAAL has been awarded (through the bidding process) 137 routes (previous year: 

127 routes) under RCS till 11 rounds, out of the awarded routes 111 (previous year: 101) are 
operational. The awarded but non-operational routes till 31.03.2024 are proposed to be launched 
in the coming months based on the readiness of the airports. The details are as under:

	 •	 04 routes awarded in the second round of allotment, 
	 •	 06 routes awarded in the third round of allotment, 
	 •	 04 routes awarded in round 3.1, 
	 •	 02 routes awarded in round 4.2 of allotment and 
	 •	 10 routes from various rounds of RCS-UDAN bidding has been cancelled due to non-

readiness of Airports by the governing authority of RCS-UDAN.
	 Management is of the view that delay to make the route operational is not on part of AAAL and 

is based on various factors beyond the control of AAAL; therefore AAAL has no liability for the 
above-stated delay in making the route operational.

44.	 M/S Gati
	 An agreement for freighter charter operations (undertaken by AAAL) between Air India Ltd and 

M/s GATI was terminated by GATI in March 2009, consequent to which AI invoked the Bank 
Guarantee of Rs. 300 million deposited by GATI. The Arbitral Tribunalhas given its award against 
which an appeal has been filed by Air India Limited before the Hon’ble Delhi High Court which 
has also upheld the decision of the Arbitral Tribunal. To file an appeal in the Delhi High court 
(Double Bench) against the subject order, AIL deposited Rs. 220 million with Hon’ble High Court 
as deposit money on 17.11.2015. Against this deposit, Provision for Doubtful Security Deposit 
was made for Rs. 220 million as prudence. Air India & Gati have mutually settled the matter and 
as per the terms both withdrew their appeals. Accordingly, necessary accounting entries towards 
security deposit, deposit with high court and services tax on invoices raised have been taken 
care of, in current year.

45.	 TDS on Provisional Expenses
	 Provision has been created for the bills received from the vendor during 2024-25 but the service 
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availed in 2023-24 (i.e., all the bills dated after 2023-24). As per the system being followed, the 
provisions created for 2023-24 are reversed in 2024-25 and the actual bill received in 2024-
25 is booked in the vendor ledger after deducting applicable TDS in 2024-25. Due to the GST 
scenario, provisions have been created without deduction of TDS for the bills of the year 2023-24 
received in 2024-25 and dated 2024-25. Further based on reconciliations with different Vendors, 
provisions are also made for bills raised in 2023-24 but certified bills are not submitted in 2023-
24.

46.	 Disclosures as per Ind AS 116 “Leases”

	 a)	 The Company has taken 18 ATR 72-600, 02 ATR-42 600 & 01 Dornier DO-228 Aircraft on 
lease. Liabilities on account of future minimum lease rentals in respect of leases are as 
under: -

(Amount in Rs. Million)
Particulars As at 31st March, 2024 As at 31st March, 2023

Non-Current Current Non-Current Current
Lease Liabilities 18,210.44 3,494.71 21,383.58 3,252.68

	 b.)	 Disclosures for Leases where the company is a Lessee under Ind AS 116

		  The Company’s leased assets primarily consist of leases for aircraft and engines. 

		  Other Disclosures

		  1.) Maturity Analysis of lease liabilities 	 (Amount in Rs. Million)
PARTICULARS 2023-24 2022-23
Less than one year 3,548.17 3,443.66
One to five years 14,456.42 12,884.26
More than five years 4,090.50 9,058.97
Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 March 
2023

22,095.09 25,386.88

Lease liabilities included in the statement of 
financial position on 31 March 2024

21,705.15 24,636.26

		  2.) Amount’s recognized in the statement of profit and loss
PARTICULARS 2023-24 2022-23
Depreciation expense on ROU Asset 2,657.00 2,571.39
Interest on lease liabilities 351.43 221.48
Variable lease payments not included in the 
measurement of lease liabilities

0 0

Income from sub-leasing right-of-use assets 0 0
Expenses relating to short-term leases* 0 0
Expenses relating to leases of low-value assets, 
excluding short-term leases of low-value assets

0 0

		  *Engines taken on lease have been classified as short-term leases since the lease term is 
less than 12 months as on the balance sheet date. Due to this reason, management has 
availed the practical expedient.
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		  3.) Amounts recognized in the Statement of Cash Flows
PARTICULARS 2023-24 2022-23
Amount Shown as Cash Flow from Financing 
Activity - 
Total cash outflow for leases

3,465.43 2,961.35

47.	 Remuneration to Auditors

	 The details of the Audit fees and Expenses of the Auditors: -
	 (Amount in Rs. Million)

Particulars 2023-24 2022-23
Payment to Statutory Auditor
Statutory Audit Fees (Inclusive of reimbursement of 
Expenses)

0.88 1.20

Tax Audit Fees 0.16 0.16
Special Purpose Audit Fees 0.01 0.01
Total 1.05 1.37
Payment to other Auditors
Internal Audit Fees 0.22 0.22
Fees For Other Matters 0.49 0.10
Total 0.71 0.32
Grand Total 1.76 1.69

48.	 The company has registered charges of Rs. 3460.45 million (Previous Year Rs. 3,205.03 million) 
with the Registrar of Companies U/s 77 of Companies act 2013. The company is in the process of 
getting the said charges satisfied by following the procedure prescribed U/s 82 of the Companies 
Act 2013.

49.	 Capital Management

	 The objective of the company is to maximize the shareholders’ value by maintaining an optimum 
capital structure. Management monitors the return on capital as well as the debt-equity ratio and 
makes necessary adjustments in the capital structure for the development of the business. 

	 During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, no significant changes were made in the 
objectives, policies or processes relating to the management of the Company’s capital structure.

	 Debt-Equity Ratio:
	 (Amount in Rs. Million)

Particulars As at 
31st March, 2024

As at 
31st March, 2023

Borrowings 26,753.98 24,558.28
Total Debt (A) 26,753.98 24,558.28
Equity Share Capital 10,022.50 4,022.50
Other Equity (46861.31) (40665.74)
Total Equity (B) (36838.81) (36,643.24)
Debt Equity Ratio (A/B) (0.73) (0.67)
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	 Return on Equity and Capital Gearing Ratio: 	 (Amt in Rs. illion)
Particulars For the year ended

31.03.2024
For the year ended 

31.03.2023
Profit /(Loss) for the year (6191.61) (5665.73)
Equity Share Capital 10,022.50 4,022.50
Other Equity (46861.31) (40665.74)
Equity attributable to owners of the company (36838.81) (36643.24)
Return on Equity Ratio (%) (16.81%) (15.46%)

50.	 Fair value measurement and financial instruments 

	 Financial instruments – by category and fair value hierarchy 

	 The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair value of financial assets and financial 
liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy.

	 i)	 As on 31 March 2024 	 (Amount in Rs. in Million)
Particulars Category Fair value measurement using

FVTPL FVTOCI Amortized 
Cost

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial 
Assets 
Non-Current
Others 1077.75 1077.75 0.00 0.00 0.00
Current
Trade 
Receivables*

516.34 516.34 0.00 0.00 0.00

Cash and Cash 
equivalents*

227.86 227.86 0.00 0.00 0.00

Bank balances 
other than (b) 
above*

987.24 987.24 0.00 0.00 0.00

Loans* - - - - -
Other 71.52 71.52 0.00 0.00 0.00
Financial 
liabilities
Non-Current 
Lease Liabilities 18210.44 18210.44 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other
Current 
Borrowings 26753.98 26753.98 0.00 0.00 0.00
Lease Liabilities 3494.71 3494.71 0.00 0.00 0.00
Trade Payables 15923.18 15923.18 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other 150.42 150.42 0.00 0.00 0.00
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	 ii)	 As on 31 March 2023  	 (Amount in Rs. Million)
Particulars Category Fair value measurement using

FVTPL FVTOCI Amortized 
Cost

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial Assets 
Non-Current
Others** 1038.80 1038.80 0.00 0.00 0.00
Current
Trade 
Receivables*

1007.45 1007.45 0.00 0.00 0.00

Cash and Cash 
equivalents*

149.54 149.54 0.00 0.00 0.00

Bank balances 
other than (b) 
above*

801.31 801.31 0.00 0.00 0.00

Loans* - - - - -
Other 76.32 76.32 0.00 0.00 0.00
Financial 
liabilities
Non-Current 
Lease Liabilities 21383.58 21383.58 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other
Current 
Borrowings 24558.28 24558.28 0.00 0.00 0.00
Lease Liabilities 3252.68 3252.68 0.00 0.00 0.00
Trade Payables 16445.69 16445.69 0.00 0.00 0.00
Other 415.11 415.11 0.00 0.00 0.00

	 *The Carrying amounts of trade receivables, trade payables, cash and cash equivalents, 
bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents and other financial assets and liabilities, 
approximate the fair values, due to their short-term nature.

	 ** Other non-current financial assets represent Bank deposits due for maturity after 12 months 
from the reporting date and interest accrued but not due on financial instruments, the carrying 
value of which approximates the fair values as on reporting date.

51.	 Financial Risk Management Objective and Policies:

	 The company has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

	 i.	 Credit risk

	 ii.	 Liquidity risk

	 iii.	 Market risk – 

		  a.	 Interest rate risk

		  b.	 Currency risk
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	 The Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, trade and other 
payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to finance receivables, and cash and 
cash equivalents that derive directly from its operations.

	 The Company is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. The Company’s senior 
management oversees the management of these risks. The Company’s senior management is 
supported by a treasury team. The treasury team provides assurance to the Company’s senior 
management that the company’s financial risk activities are governed by appropriate policies and 
procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with the 
Company’s policies and risk objective. It is the Company’s policy that no trading in derivatives 
for the speculative purpose may be undertaken. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees with 
policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarized below:

	 (i)	 Credit Risk

		  Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a 
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligation.

		  The Company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade 
receivables) and from its investing activities, including deposits with banks and financial 
institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial instruments.

		  The maximum exposure to the credit at the reporting date is primarily from trade receivables. 
Trade receivables are typically unsecured and are derived from revenue earned from 
customers. The Company does monitor the economic environment in which it operates. 
The Company manages its credit risk through credit approvals, establishing credit limits and 
continuously monitoring the credit worthiness of customers to which the Company brands 
credit terms in the normal course of the business.

		  The company sells the majority of its passenger service against deposits made by agents 
(customers) and through online channels. 

		  On adoption of Ind AS 109, the company uses the expected credit loss model to assess the 
impairment loss or gain. The Company uses a provision matrix to compute the expected 
credit loss allowance for trade receivables. The provision matrix takes into account available 
internal credit risk factors such as the Company’s historical experience with customers. 
Based on the business environment in which the company operates, management considers 
that the trade receivables (other than receivables from government departments) are in 
default (credit-impaired) if the payments are more than 36 months past due.

		  Trade receivable as at year-end primarily includes Rs. 1077.75 million (Rs 1007.45 million) 
relating to revenue generated from passenger services.

		  The Companies exposure to credit risk for trade receivables is as follows:

(Amount in Rs. Million)
Particulars As at 31/03/2024 As at 31/03/2023

Gross Carrying 
Amount

Loss 
Allowance 

Gross Carrying 
Amount 

Loss 
Allowance 

Debts not due 
Debts over due 541.61 25.27 1032.72 25.27
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		  Movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables

(Amount in Rs. Million)
Particulars For the year ended 

31st March, 2024
For the year ended 

31st March, 2023
Balance at the beginning of the Year 25.27 25.27
Addition during the year 0.00 0.00
Write off/Adjustments made during the year - -
Balance at the end of the Year 25.27 25.27

	 (ii)	 Liquidity Risk 

		  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligation 
associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial 
asset. 

		  The Company’s approach to managing Liquidity is to have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed circumstances, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.

		  The Company believes that its liquidity position, including cash (including unencumbered 
bank deposit and excluding interest accrued but not due), anticipated future internally 
generated funds from operationswill enable it to meet its future known obligation in the 
ordinary course of business. However, if liquidity needs were to arise, the Company believes 
it has access to a financing arrangement with its parent company, which should enable it to 
meet its ongoing capital, operating, and liquidity requirement. The Company will continue 
to consider various borrowing or leasing options to maximize liquidity and supplement cash 
requirements as necessary.

		  The Company’s liquidity management process as monitored by management includes the 
following:

	 	 •	 Day-to-day funding is managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that 
requirements can be met.

	 	 •	 Maintaining a rolling forecast of the Company’s liquidity position on the basis of 
expected cash flows.

	 	 •	 Maintaining diversified credit lines.

	 	 •	 For settlement of legacy outstanding, Govt of India has already decided to infuse Rs 
600 Cr in form Share capital which will substantially reduce the outstanding and the 
finance cost. 

		  Exposure to Liquidity risk

		  The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities in the reporting 
data. The contractual cash flow amount is gross and undiscounted and includes interest 
accrued but not due.
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(Amount in Rs. Million)
As at 
31st March 2024

Carrying 
Amount

Contractual Cash Flows
Upto  

1 year
1-5 Year More than 

5 years
Total

Payable to Holding 
Company

 26,753.98 2,195.70 24,558.28  26,753.98

Trade payables  15,923.18 8,953.07 6,970.11  15,923.18
Other Current 
Financial Liabilities

 150.42 150.42  150.42 

Aircraft Lease 22,095.09 3,548.17 14,456.42 4,090.50 22,095.09
Totals 64,922.67 14,847.36 45,984.81 4,090.50 64,922.67

(Amount in Rs. Million)
As at 
31st March 2023

Carrying 
Amount

Contractual Cash Flows
Upto  

1 year
1-5

 Year
More than 

5 years
Total

Payable to Holding 
Company

24558.28 24558.28 24558.28

Trade payables 16445.69 16445.69 16445.69
Other Current 
Financial Liabilities

415.11 415.11 415.11

Aircraft Lease 25,386.88 3,443.66 12,884.26 9,058.97 25,386.88
Totals 66,805.96 44,862.74 12,884.26 9,058.97 66,805.96

	 (iii)	 Market risk

		  Market risk is that the fair value and future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises two types of risk namely: 
currency risk and interest rate risk. The objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposure within acceptable parameters while optimizing the return.

	 a.	 Interest rate risk

		  Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes 
in market interest rates relates primarily to the Company’s borrowings with floating interest 
rates.

		  The exposure of the company’s borrowings to interest rate changes as reported to the 
management at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

		  (Amount in Rs.Million)
Variable-rate instruments As at 

31st March, 2024
As at 

31st March, 2023
Payable to Holding Company AIAHL 26,753.98 24,558.28
Total 26,752.49 24,558.28
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		  Interest rate sensitivity analysis

		  A reasonably possible change of 0.50 % in interest rates at the reporting date would have 
affected the profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all 
other variables, in particular foreign currency exchange rates, remain constant.

Particulars Statement of Profit and loss.
Increase/(decrease) in the interest on foreign 
currency term loansfrom others and on finance 
lease obligations.

Increase by 
0.50 %

Decrease by 
0.50 %

For the year ended 31 March 2024 108.53 (108.53)
For the year ended 31 March 2023 123.18 (123.18)

	 b.	 Currency risk

		  Currency risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The company is exposed to the effects of 
fluctuation in the prevailing foreign currency rates on its financial position and cash flows. 
Exposure arises primarily due to exchange rate fluctuation between the functional currency 
and other currencies from the company’s operating, investing and financing activities.

		  The following table sets forth information relating to unhedged foreign currency exposure as 
at March 31, 2024:

USD EURO Others
Net financial assets 80.66 million
Net financial liabilities 9.45 million

		  10% appreciation / depreciation of the functional currency of the Company with respect 
to various foreign currencies would result in increase / decrease in the Company’s profit 
before taxes by approximately Rs. 593.93 million for the year ended March 31, 2024.

		  The following table sets forth information relating to unhedged foreign currency exposure as 
at March 31, 2023:

USD EURO Others
Net financial assets 71.47 million
Net financial liabilities 11.11 million

		  10% appreciation / depreciation of the functional currency of the Company with respect 
to various foreign currencies would result in increase / decrease in the Company’s profit 
before taxes by approximately Rs. 495.98 million for the year ended March 31, 2023.

52.	 Disclosure as per Ind AS 115, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers

	 Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
company and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being 
made.

	 The major revenue of the Company arises from the rendering of services (Passenger and cargo). 
The following is a description of the principal activity.
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	 Nature, the timing of satisfaction of performance obligation and significant payment terms

	 Passenger revenue is recognized on flown basis i.e., after rendering the services, revenue is 
recognized net of discounts given to the passengers, applicable taxes and airport levies such as 
passenger service fee, user development fee, etc.

	 Cargo revenue is recognized when service is rendered i.e., goods are transported, net of airport 
levies and applicable taxes.

	 The amounts are billed as per the terms of the contracts and are payable within the contractually 
agreed credit period as per the Master Service Agreement with Air India.

	 Disaggregation of revenue

	 Revenue is disaggregated by the type and nature of services of revenue recognition.

	 Rendering of services

	 (Amount in Rs. Million)
S. 

No.
Particulars For the year ended 

31st March, 2024
For the year ended 

31st March, 2023
1 Passenger  5,932.57 6,517.90
2 Excess Baggage  95.93 9.99
3 Mail  1.63 0.99
4 Cargo  7.58 12.55
5 Charter  94.21 99.14
6 Subsidy for Operation form Government  3,237.36 3,659.93
7 Handling Servicing and Incidental Revenue 178.37 683.68

Total 9,547.66 10,984.18

	 The following table provides information about the opening and closing balance of trade 
receivables:

(Amount in Rs. Million)
Particulars As at 

31st March, 2024
As at 

31st March, 2023
Trade Receivable 516.34 1007.45

	 As on 31st March 2024,the company is operating under Regional Connectivity Scheme (RCS) 
in 137 routes, which has been awarded to the company on seven rounds having a validity of 3 
years through the bidding process. In terms of the RCS agreement, the company is required to 
sell specified seats at an agreed subsidized fare inclusive of taxes. In compliance with the terms 
of the agreement, the company is eligible for the VGF Claim amount.

	 Since the RCS routes are awarded through the bidding process for a period of 3 years, the route 
is open to all carriers after this period subject to the availability of slots & other requirements.

	 Practical expedients applied as per Ind AS 115:

	 No single customer represents 10% or more of the Company’s total revenue during the year 
ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.
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	 Disclosure requirement as per para 120 of Ind As 115 in respect of remaining performance 
obligation is not being made in view of practical expedient as per para 121 of Ind As 115.

53.	 Previous Year’s figures have been re-casted/re-arranged in line with IND-AS requirements.

54.	 Additional Regulatory Information(in compliance with Schedule 3, Division 2 of the 
Companies Act, 2022)     

	 a.	 The Company does not own any immovable property and investment property.

	 b.	 The Company has not revalued its Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right-of-Use 
Assets) and intangible asset.

	 c.	 The company does not have any Capital WIP and Intangible asset under development.

	 d.	 The company has not granted Loans or Advances in the nature of loans to promoters, 
directors, KMPs and the related parties.

	 e.	 The company does not have any Benami property.

	 f.	 The Company does not have any borrowings from banks or financial institutions on the 
basis of security of current assets.

	 g.	 The company has not been declared wilful defaulter by any bank or financial Institution or 
other lender.

	 h.	 The company does not have any transactions with companies struck off under section 248 
of the Companies Act, 2013 or section 560 of Companies Act, 1956.

	 i.	 No charges or satisfaction thereof are pending to be registered with ROC.

Ratios:
 Sr. 
No.

ANALYTICAL 
RATIOS

Numerator Denominator CURRENT 
YEAR

PREVIOUS 
YEAR

% 
CHANGE

REASONS

1 Current Ratio Current Assets Current 
Liabilities

0.05 0.06 -17.32% Due to discharge of 
creditors

2 Debt-Equity 
Ratio

Total Debt Shareholder’s 
Equity

(0.73) (0.67) 8.42% Issuance of shares 
amounting Rs. 6000 
Millions

3 Debt Service 
Coverage Ratio

Earnings 
Available for 
Debt Service

Debt Service 0.09 0.24 -61.65% ROE on Leased 
Aircrafts

4 Return on Equity 
Ratio

(Net Profits 
After Taxes-
Preference 
Dividend)

Average 
Shareholder’s 
Equity

NA NA NA Due to negative 
S h a r e h o l d e r ’ s 
Equity and Loss 
during the year, 
the Ratio is not 
cumutable

5 Inventory 
Turnover Ratio

COGS Average Stocks NA NA NA AAAL is in service 
industry and not a 
manufacturing unit
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 Sr. 
No.

ANALYTICAL 
RATIOS

Numerator Denominator CURRENT 
YEAR

PREVIOUS 
YEAR

% 
CHANGE

REASONS

6 Trade 
Receivable 
Turnover Ratio

Net Credit 
Sales

Average Trade 
Receivables

4.25 4.04 5.22% The Pax Revenue 
decreased to Rs. 
6038 million in 2023-
24 from Rs. 6541 in 
the year 2022-23. 
However, the trade 
receiveables also 
decreased from 
Rs. 1007.45 million 
in 2022-23 to Rs. 
516.34 million in 
2023-24.

7 Trade Payable 
Turnover Ratio

Net Credit 
Purchases

Average Trade 
Payables

NA NA NA Prime business is 
Passenger Carrier 
and the nature of 
business will not 
reflect facts

8 Net Capital 
Turnover Ratio

Net Sales Average 
Working Capital

(0.21) (0.24) -12.87% The Pax Revenue 
decreased by Rs. 
931 million from 
2022-23 in 2023-24 
and avg. working 
capital increased 
by Rs. 1901 million 
over the year 2022-
23.

9 Net Profit Ratio Net Profit/Loss (Sales) (0.66) (0.55) 20.03% Due to decrease in 
operations

10 Return on 
Capital 
Employed

(Earnings 
Before Interest 
and Taxes)

(Capital 
Employed)

NA NA NA Due to negative 
S h a r e h o l d e r ’ s 
Equity and Loss 
during the year, 
the Ratio is not 
cumutable

11 Return on 
Investment

(Net Return on 
Investment)

(Cost of 
Investment)

NA NA NA

As per our Separate report of even date For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Alliance Air Aviation Limited

For Batliboi and Purohit
Chartered Accountants Sd/- Sd/-
Firm Registration Number:101048W Asangba Chuba Ao Brajesh Kumar Srivastava 

Chairman(Nominee Director) (Director) 
DIN: 08086220 DIN: 09835338 

Sd/- Sd/- Sd/-
Raman Hangekar Rambabu Ch. Shilpa Bhatia
(Partner) Chief Executive Officer Company Secretary
ICAI Membership Number.: 030615
UDIN: 25030615BMOCNZ3297

PAN - AGVPC9371P Membership No. ACS 49386

Place: New Delhi
Date: 16-01-2025
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